SCIENCE DOSSIER



Long-Range Transport of Chemicals in the Environment

Dr. James Franklin

April 2006



April 2006

This publication is the tenth in a series of Science Dossiers providing the scientific community with reliable information on selected issues. If you require more copies, please send an email indicating name and mailing address to eurochlor@cefic.be.

The document is also available as a PDF file on www.eurochlor.org

Science Dossiers published in this series:

- 1. Trichloroacetic acid in the environment (March 2002)
- 2. Chloroform in the environment: Occurrence, sources, sinks and effects (May 2002)
- 3. Dioxins and furans in the environment (January 2003)
- 4. How chlorine in molecules affects biological activity (November 2003)
- 5. Hexachlorobutadiene sources, environmental fate and risk characterisation (October 2004)
- 6. Natural organohalogens (October 2004)
- 7. Euro Chlor workshop on soil chlorine chemistry
- 8. Biodegradability of chlorinated solvents and related chlorinated aliphatic compounds (December 2004)
- 9. Hexachlorobenzene Sources, environmental fate and risk characterisation (January 2005)
- 10. Long-term transport of chemicals in the environment (April 2006)

Copyright & Reproduction

The copyright in this publication belongs to Euro Chlor. No part of this publication may be stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying or recording, or otherwise, without the permission of Euro Chlor. Notwithstanding these limitations, an extract may be freely quoted by authors in other publications subject to the source being acknowledged with inclusion of a suitable credit line or reference to the original publication.

Table of Contents

Foreword1				
Summary3				
1	Introduction: What is meant by Long-Range Transport of chemicals and why is it of interest?	5		
2	Selected examples of observational evidence for atmospheric Long-Range Transport 2.1 Substances of natural origin	7 7 8 8 9 9 .11 .12 .13 .14 .14 .14 .14 .15 8 16		
3	 Long-Range Transport through media other than the atmosphere	. 19 . 19 . 20 . 21		
4	 Mechanisms and modelling of atmospheric Long-Range Transport	.23 .24 .25 .26 .26 .26 .27 .30		
5	Potential impacts of Long-Range Transport. 5.1 Human Health Impacts 5.1.1 Inhaled pollutants 5.1.2 Ingested pollutants 5.1.3 Indirect impacts 5.1 Stratospheric ozone depletion 5.2.1 Stratospheric ozone depletion 5.2.2 Climate forcing 5.2.3 Tropospheric ozone formation – Photochemical smog. 5.2.4 Acidification / Eutrophication 5.2.5 Visibility impairment. 5.2.6 Mercury 5.2.7 Persistent organic pollutants 5.2.8 Interactions. 5.3 Evolution of the perceived "spatial scale" of air pollution	. 33 . 33 . 33 . 34 . 34 . 34 . 34 . 34 . 34		
6	International Regulatory and Monitoring Agreements. 6.1 Agreements that Explicitly Address Transboundary Pollution or Long-Range Transport 6.1.1 UNECE LRTAP Convention	. 37 . 37 . 37 . 37 . 38 . 38		

	 6.1.5 The International Joint Commission (U.S Canada) 6.1.6 North American Agreement on Environmental Cooperation 6.1.7 ASEAN Agreement 6.1.8 East Asia Network 6.1.9 Malé Declaration 	38 38 38 38 38
	6.1.10 Harare Resolution	39
	6.1.11 Arctic Council activities	39
	6.1.12 USPAR Convention	39
	6 1 14 Barcelona Convention	
	6.1.15 UNEP Regional Seas Programme	39
	6.1.16 Basel Convention	39
	6.2 Agreements in which Long-Range Transport is Implicitly Included	40
	6.2.1 Montreal Protocol	40
	6.2.2 Kyoto Protocol	40
7	Regulatory Criteria Expressing the Propensity of a Substance to Undergo Long-Range Transport	41
	7.1 Monitoring evidence	41
	7.2 Modelling evidence	42
	7.3 Vapour pressure	42
	'.4 Atmospheric half-life	42
	7.5 Half-life in water	42
8	Summary and Conclusions	45
9	References	49

Foreword

The Monitoring & Environmental Chemistry Working group (MECW) is a Euro Chlor science group which represents the European chlor-alkali industry. The main objectives of the group are to identify both natural and anthropogenic sources of chlorinated substances, study their fate, gather information on the mechanisms of formation and degradation in the environment and achieve a better knowledge of their environmental persistence. The MECW often uses external specialists to assist in developing reports that review the latest knowledge of the different aspects mentioned. The principal investigator collects information from the scientific literature and available data regarding natural or anthropogenic emissions in the environment to provide a comprehensive overview.

Dr James Franklin, a physical chemist by training, founded his own environmental consulting company in 2004. He has a particular interest in atmospheric chemistry. Prior to setting up his own business, Dr Franklin worked in the central research department of Solvay (Brussels, Belgium) for more than 33 years. During this time he worked mainly on the development of production processes for organic chlorine and fluorine compounds as well as on their applications and how they impact the environment.

Long-range transport (LRT) of chemicals is a key issue that continues to attract the attention of scientists, NGOs, environmental journalists and general public. The reason for such wide-spread interest is that the environmental impact of chemical use not only remains at their place of origin, but can be carried by air currents, surface water or migrating animals to regions around the globe.

This report examines the scientific literature on experimental observations demonstrating how natural and man-made substances are transported to locations remote from their point of release. It also looks at the timescales involved in atmospheric long-range transport including the concepts of "global fractionation" and the "grasshopper effect". Dr Franklin reviews the mathematical models used to simulate atmospheric distribution, degradation and transport of chemicals. He also looks at the models used to compare LRT potential of different substances and determine the sources of pollutants arriving at a given receptor location or how the receptors are affected by a given source. In addition to the above, the report covers the international regulatory agreements set up to reduce the trans-boundary LRT of pollutants and the criteria adopted in different conventions for expressing the propensity of a substance to undergo LRT.

The potential impacts of LRT on human health and ecosystems are mentioned, but not analysed in any depth. No assessment of the risks associated with the LRT of specific substances is provided.

Summary

Long-range transport (LRT) of chemicals is a key issue being addressed by politicians at international level due to the far-reaching consequences of the phenomenon. As a result of the mobile nature of the Earth's atmosphere, every region of the globe is affected by air pollutants. Often, they travel thousands of miles from where they originate. As well as air, water and migratory animals also aid this process.

The time it takes for a substance to move from one area of the world to another depends on the substance and atmospheric conditions. Intercontinental atmospheric transport generally occurs over three to 30 days. Pollutants that occur in the troposphere will typically travel further and faster than those that are advected horizontally in the atmospheric boundary layer. On the other hand, dissolved species transported by ocean currents from northern mid-latitudes to the Arctic can take several years.

Volatile pollutants with atmospheric lifetimes of years or longer experience no impediment to LRT once they are emitted to air. Whatever the location and timing of release, their concentrations become practically uniform throughout the atmosphere, so the emission of a given amount anywhere on Earth makes the same contribution to global pollution. For air pollutants with lifetimes of several months, concentrations become uniform within the hemisphere of emission, but not in the opposite hemisphere. Crossing the equator takes about a year. For shorter-lived pollutants with atmospheric lifetimes of days or weeks, the tendency for the substance to undergo LRT depends on its physico-chemical properties as well as how it entered the environment, the location and time of its emission and prevailing meteorological conditions.

Trans-boundary movement applies to man-made substances such as pesticides and lead, as well as part man-made - part natural substances such as carbon monoxide and nitric oxide. Similarly, purely natural substances, including desert sand and sea salt, are subject to such environmental displacement.

LRT is not in itself a concern, but only a trigger for potential concern. In many cases, however, deposition followed by uptake into living organisms and possible accumulation through the food chain, is a prerequisite for damage to the environment and human health. Each chemical should be evaluated on a case-by-case basis, with the LRT potential assessed in conjunction with properties such as persistence, bioaccumulation, toxicity and the capacity to affect the atmosphere.

1 Introduction: What is meant by Long-Range Transport of chemicals and why is it of interest?

In this chapter, a brief introduction is given to the concept of Long-Range Transport (LRT) of chemicals in the environment and its consequences. All the aspects introduced in this section will be developed in greater depth in the following chapters of this dossier.

The "Transboundary" nature of air pollution

On account of the mobile nature of the Earth's atmosphere, all regions unwillingly – and in some cases unwittingly – receive air pollutants not only from their close neighbours but also from further afield. In turn, the substances these regions themselves release to air can be transported to other territories.

This phenomenon has become particularly acute with the rise of industrialisation, but longrange atmospheric transport of man-made pollutants is now known to have existed, to some extent, for millennia.

Transport through media other than air

Air is the medium most often considered responsible for the LRT of chemicals in the environment on account of its ubiquitous nature and its facility of movement. However, other mobile media may also contribute to such transport, depending on the physico-chemical properties and point of release of the substances concerned.

The most noteworthy of these other media are water (oceans, rivers and drifting ice) and, to a lesser extent, migratory animals. For the sake of completeness, one should also include anthropogenic transport, for commercial or other purposes, which can contribute to disseminating chemicals in the environment far from where they are produced or used.

The global nature of Long-Range Transport

The potential of a chemical for LRT, sometimes referred to as its "characteristic travel distance" or "spatial range", depends not only on its intrinsic physico-chemical properties, but also on its mode and point of release to the environment. The prevailing meteorology or ocean currents are very important.

LRT is generally taken to mean transport over distances of at least a few hundred kilometres, i.e. far enough for the substance to cross the borders of smaller nations. However, intercontinental transport, over thousands or even tens of thousands of kilometres, has also become the focus of particular concern, especially in connection with the pollution of the erstwhile pristine regions within the polar circles.

Well-established examples of LRT will be provided in this dossier, for a wide range of anthropogenic and natural substances. The mechanisms and preferential pathways will be outlined, together with the models used to simulate transport and the methodologies developed for assessing LRT potential and investigating source-receptor relationships.

Consequences of Long-Range Transport

LRT becomes relevant only when the chemical transported has some adverse impact on human health or on ecosystems far from its source.

Certain volatile compounds may undergo LRT without being deposited to the Earth's surface, but may nevertheless exert a deleterious influence on the atmosphere itself (through ozone depletion, contribution to greenhouse warming, photochemical smog formation, etc.) or on human health by inhalation.

Other substances may lead to harmful effects only when they are deposited from the atmosphere to land or water bodies.

It should therefore be emphasised that LRT is not, in itself, a concern, but only a trigger for potential concern. When evaluating a chemical's hazard potential, LRT needs to be assessed in conjunction with adverse properties, such as persistence, bioaccumulation, toxicity and the capacity to affect the atmosphere.

The ethical dimension of Long-Range Transport and the enacting of international regulatory agreements

The perceived injustice of passively undergoing the consequences of some other nation's pollutants, at the whim of air or water currents, has led to the enacting of a number of international agreements aimed at mitigating the release and impact of persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic pollutants. These agreements will be discussed, together with the "criteria" they adopt for characterising the propensity of a substance to undergo LRT.

2 Selected examples of observational evidence for atmospheric Long-Range Transport

All regions of the globe are affected to a greater or lesser extent by the atmospheric LRT of chemicals. The scientific literature on the subject is vast and the present dossier is not intended to give a comprehensive coverage of it. The aim is merely to illustrate the phenomenon with a limited number of well-documented examples for a broad range of substances, not all of which are man-made.

Some of the substances discussed are deposited to ground level following atmospheric LRT and may thus exert harmful effects in the biosphere. Others are too volatile to undergo significant deposition, but may lead to an undesirable impact through their presence in the atmosphere (contribution to ozone depletion, global warming, photochemical smog, etc.). Furthermore, their degradation products may be deposited.

2.1 Substances of natural origin

2.1.1 Sand, dust and ash

For many citizens in their everyday life, the most tangible evidence for atmospheric LRT is provided when wind-borne sand originating from a faraway desert casts a reddish-yellow blanket on their newly washed automobiles, or when it blemishes the surface of freshly fallen snow.

The LRT of desert sand, or of clayey "loess" dust, has been observed to occur episodically or according to a seasonal cycle and to follow a number of trajectories worldwide (Rea, 1994; Simpson *et al*, 2003a; Husar, 2004). Some prime examples of such transport, occurring over time-scales of days or weeks, are the following:

- from the Sahara/Sahel region westwards to the Caribbean and the central part of the American continent or from North Africa to the Mediterranean area and Europe, as far as the United Kingdom and the Baltic Sea, or even eastwards to Asia (Moulin *et al*, 1997; Herman *et al*, 1997; Alpert and Ganor, 2001; Griffin *et al*, 2001a; DeMott *et al*, 2003; Ansmann *et al*, 2003; Grousset *et al*, 2003; Piketh and Walton, 2004; Rogora *et al*, 2004; Collaud Coen *et al*, 2004; Aymoz *et al*, 2004; Sodemann *et al*, 2005; Tanaka *et al*, 2005; Barkan *et al*, 2005; Chiapello *et al*, 2005);
- from the Gobi Desert and other areas in China and Mongolia, eastwards across the Pacific Ocean and North America (Wilkening *et al*, 2000; Husar *et al*, 2001; Sassen, 2002; Takemura *et al*, 2002; Jaffe *et al*, 2003a; Gong *et al*, 2003; DeBell *et al*, 2004; Perry *et al*, 2004), occasionally reaching Greenland and Europe, after covering a distance of more than twenty thousand kilometres (Biscaye *et al*, 2000; Grousset *et al*, 2003);
- from southern Africa to Australia, and from Australia to New Zealand (Sturman *et al*, 1997; Marx *et al*, 2005).

Dust storms occurring in Asia have been shown to be responsible for nucleation of ice clouds over Alaska at temperatures far warmer than those expected for normal cirrus cloud formation (Sassen, 2005).

Surface aerosol concentration enhancements at northern mid-latitudes arising from intercontinental transport of dust have been reviewed by Holloway *et al* (2003). With the spread of desertification, LRT of dust can be expected to become an increasing concern.

Volcanic ash can undergo LRT in a similar manner to sand and dust (Rea, 1994; Simpson *et al*, 2003a).

Satellite imagery provides a vivid confirmation of the intercontinental transport of dust and other particles, as well as of certain gases (e.g. Hsu *et al*, 1999; Engel-Cox *et al*, 2001; Wooster and Strub, 2002; Damoah *et al*, 2004).

2.1.2 Sea salt

Another abundant natural mineral substance undergoing atmospheric LRT is sea salt (Gustafsson and Franzén, 2000; Fischer, 2001; Gong *et al*, 2002). However, LRT is efficient only for a fraction of the aerosol particles, namely the sub-micron sized ones, which remain aloft longer than their larger counterparts, unless the latter are lifted into the upper troposphere by forceful convection such as can occur in the tropics (Ikegami *et al*, 1994).

2.1.3 Natural radionuclides

The naturally-occurring radioisotope ²¹⁰Pb has been widely used for investigations of transport and removal processes in the lower troposphere (Rehfeld and Heimann, 1995; Dueñas *et al*, 2003; Lee *et al*, 2004). It is formed by the decay of ²²²Rn emanating from the Earth's crust. This radon isotope has a relatively short half-life (3.8 d) and is therefore concentrated mainly in the continental planetary boundary layer. On the other hand, the LRT of ²¹⁰Pb, with a decay half-life of 22 y, is limited only by physical removal processes. Transport of this isotope to the polar regions has been demonstrated (Lambert *et al*, 1990).

2.1.4 Volatile organic compounds

For want of a better descriptor, the term "volatile organic compound" (VOC) will be used in this dossier to denote any organic species that partitions preferentially to the atmosphere and that has a lifetime of at least a few days, so that LRT becomes possible. Note that this usage is somewhat different from the terminology adopted in connection with the formation of tropospheric ozone. In that case, "VOC" is reserved for the particularly reactive organic gases (with lifetimes of hours or days) that are essential ingredients in local "photochemical smog" production.

Among the volatile organic compounds of almost exclusively natural origin are certain halogenated aliphatic species: CH₂Br₂ (approximate lifetime 0.3 y), CH₂BrCl (0.4 y), CHBr₃ (4 weeks), CHBr₂Cl (0.2 y), CHBrCl₂ (0.2 y), CH₃I (1 week), C₂H₅I (4 d) and CH₂ICl (a few hours) (Solomon *et al*, 1994; Singh and Fabian, 1999; Baker *et al*, 2001; Ballschmiter, 2003; Keppler *et al*, 2003; Harper and Hamilton, 2003; Quack and Wallace, 2003; Quack *et al*, 2004; Chuck *et al*, 2005; Zhou *et al*, 2005).

On account of their low water solubility and high volatility, none of these organic halogen compounds will be removed significantly from the atmosphere by wet or dry deposition. The ones with lifetimes of months or more are long-lived enough to become fairly well distributed throughout the hemisphere in which they are emitted (WMO, 2002; Thompson *et al*, 2004). Following atmospheric LRT, only their degradation products (i.e. mainly hydrohalic acids) will reach the biosphere.

2.1.5 Biota

Pathogenic microbes can be transported over long distances through the atmosphere and hence potentially impact ecosystems and human health far from their source region. For example, the levels of various cultivable airborne plant and human pathogens were shown to increase sharply in the Caribbean following African dust events (Griffin *et al*, 2001a). Furthermore, it has been observed that viable fungal spores can be transported not only with mineral dust, but also with smoke from biomass fires (Mims and Mims, 2004). Australian pollens and other organisms are regularly transported by wind to New Zealand (Sturman *et al*, 1997). Muñoz *et al* (2004) provide evidence in support of the hypothesis that the close affinities of the floras of the continents and islands in the southern hemisphere are the consequence of LRT of airborne spores and seeds.

Griffin *et al* (2001b) provide a fascinating review of the LRT of airborne pathogens, including those responsible for meningococcal meningitis, potato blight, foot-and-mouth disease and a whole host of other plant and animal afflictions.

Atmospheric monitoring and modelling studies have been used to detect illegal cultivation of marijuana, by combining pollen measurements in the ambient air in Spain with the back-analysis of trajectories originating in North Africa (Cabezudo *et al*, 1997).

Even macro-scale living organisms can be subject to a form of "assisted" atmospheric LRT. Thus, the displacements of swarms of African desert locusts - westwards across the

Atlantic, or northwards to Europe - are made possible not only by the insects' intrinsic flight capabilities, but also by the prevailing winds (Rosenburg and Burt, 2001).

2.2 Substances Having both Natural and Anthropogenic Sources

This section provides examples of the LRT of a range of compounds that have significant natural sources as well as originating from human activities.

2.2.1 Major greenhouse gases: Carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide

Atmospheric emissions of carbon dioxide are mainly of natural origin and sources and sinks of CO_2 were in equilibrium until the beginning of the industrial era. However, since then, combustion of fossil fuels and other human-related activities have led to additional emissions of CO_2 , disturbing the balance. The resulting rise in concentrations of CO_2 and the "greenhouse effect" that they are believed to cause have led to numerous scientific studies and regulatory initiatives that are beyond the scope of this dossier. However, it is appropriate to point out that the atmospheric persistence of CO_2 is long enough (i.e. centuries) for this gas to become well mixed throughout the atmosphere, so emissions anywhere on the planet will contribute to the global background of CO_2 and the climate effects ascribed to it.

The same conclusion is valid for two other important greenhouse gases that are of partly natural and partly anthropogenic origin: methane (lifetime 12 years) and nitrous oxide (lifetime 114 years) (Conway *et al*, 2004).

2.2.2 Carbonaceous particles

Together with mineral dust and water-soluble inorganic salts, carbonaceous particles are a major component of the overall aerosol burden of the lower atmosphere. They are formed and emitted, together with a broad variety of volatile compounds, during the incomplete combustion of biomass, fossil fuels and other organic substances. Since biomass burning includes both forest and grassland wildfires, agricultural burning, and domestic fires for heating and cooking purposes, carbonaceous aerosols clearly arise from both natural and anthropogenic sources (Cooke and Wilson, 1996; Liousse *et al*, 1996; Jacobson *et al*, 2000).

From a historical perspective, it is interesting to note that in 18th century England, shepherds high up on the moors already observed "moorgroime", a black deposit on the wool of sheep that originated from coal burning in the cities. In the following century, there was some evidence for "coal dust" from Britain reaching Norway (Brimblecombe, 2001).

Today, fossil-fuel combustion in the main industrialised regions of North America, Europe and Asia makes a major contribution throughout the year to carbonaceous particle emissions. In addition, huge vegetation fires break out regularly in both the tropics (Africa, South America and South East Asia) and in the boreal and mid-latitude regions (Canada, the United States, Russia, Scandinavia and the Mediterranean area). Furthermore, agricultural biomass burning occurs particularly in the tropics during the dry season (Crutzen and Andreae, 1990).

In addition to the "primary" emissions of solid particles, "secondary" organic aerosols can be formed in the atmosphere by reactions involving gaseous natural or anthropogenic precursor compounds, especially the biogenic terpenes (Jacobson *et al*, 2000; Kanakidou *et al*, 2000).

While the chemical composition and physical properties of the carbonaceous particles formed are highly complex, variable and only partially characterised as yet, it is recognised that such aerosols can affect public health, weather, climate, visibility, etc.. Understanding the atmospheric LRT of these particles is therefore essential for assessing the impact they may exert far from their source regions.

In addition to elemental carbon, such particles contain a range of organic substances, some of which may be harmful (e.g. the carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons). Furthermore, the particles can also act as "sponges", taking up low-volatility compounds from the gaseous phase of the atmosphere and hence determining the LRT patterns of the latter.

Certain specific biomass thermal degradation products present in the particles act as tracers or "biomarkers", enabling the nature of the source to be identified and hence providing evidence for the occurrence of LRT (Simoneit and Elias, 2001; Simoneit, 2002).

The emissions and transport of carbonaceous aerosols from natural and anthropogenic sources have been simulated on a global scale using a number of three-dimensional models (Cooke and Wilson, 1996; Liousse *et al*, 1996; Kanakidou *et al*, 2000; Koch, 2001; Chung and Seinfeld, 2002; Damoah *et al*, 2004). Convective processes due to fires can convey the combustion products and the substances derived from them into the free troposphere – and even the lower stratosphere (Fromm *et al*, 2000) – while large-scale atmospheric circulation distributes them to locations far from their source regions (Crutzen and Andreae, 1990; Spichtinger-Rakowsky and Forster, 2004; Damoah *et al*, 2004).

To some extent, carbonaceous particles may follow the atmospheric transport pathways described above for desert sand and dust. However, since different source regions are involved, other trajectories will also come into play.

The pollution plumes from Canadian forest fires have been shown to affect the eastern and southeastern United States (Wotawa and Trainer, 2000; Sapkota *et al*, 2005), while those from both Canadian and U.S. fires reach continental Europe within about 1 week, after passing over Greenland and the Atlantic (Hsu *et al*, 1999; Forster *et al*, 2001; Fiebig *et al*, 2002).

Smoke from a severe forest fire in Russia in 2003 was shown to circumnavigate the globe in 17 days (Damoah *et al*, 2004). One plume travelled eastwards to Alaska, Canada, and Scandinavia, and then on to Eastern Europe, where it merged with smoke advected westwards from the same fire. A westward path to Sweden and Germany was also taken by a plume from a peat fire near Moscow in 2002 (Spichtinger-Rakowsky and Forster, 2004). Smoke from Russian forest fires has also been shown to affect the Korean Peninsula (Lee *et al*, 2005).

Smoke arriving in Greenland could be attributed not only to North American sources, but also to fires occurring in Russia and China (Hsu *et al*, 1999). Observations on black carbon in the Arctic have been reviewed by Iversen (1996) and Bottenheim *et al* (2004). In winter and spring, industrial regions in Eurasia are the major sources of carbonaceous aerosols reaching Barrow, Alaska, with some contribution from western North America and Western Europe (Polissar *et al*, 2001).

Particles arising from combustion sources in Asia were demonstrated to reach the U.S. west coast (Jaffe *et al*, 2001; Bertschi and Jaffe, 2005). Martin *et al* (2002) showed that not only could polluted air parcels from Asia cross the Pacific to North America, but in certain cases they might pick up further contaminants there before looping back over the Pacific towards Indonesia. Furthermore, anthropogenic emissions from Europe and biomass burning emissions from Africa make major contributions to the Asian outflow over the Pacific (Bey *et al*, 2001).

Depending on their point of origin, emissions from biomass burning in southern Africa can be carried westwards over the Atlantic or eastwards over the Indian Ocean, in some cases reaching Australia (Herman *et al*, 1997; Sturman *et al*, 1997; Piketh and Walton, 2004) or the Pacific islands of Samoa and Fiji (Thompson, 2004).

Pollution from biomass burning in tropical or sub-tropical South America can be exported either eastwards over the Atlantic or westwards over the Pacific (Schultz and Bey, 2004).

Vegetation fires raging on the islands of Sumatra and Borneo in 1997-1998 cast a blanket of smog over the region, including the Malaysian Peninsula, exposing more than 20 million people to potentially dangerous levels of air pollution for many months (Heil and Goldammer, 2001; Wooster and Strub, 2002; Langmann and Heil, 2004). The "brown cloud" arising from biomass and fossil fuel burning is a regular feature over broad areas of Asia (ASEAN, 2001; UNEP-C⁴, 2002).

Fall-out from Kuwaiti oil-field fires in 1991 was traced as far as Hawaii (Lowenthal *et al*, 1993). Similarly, elemental carbon from oil fields burning in Iraq in March 2003 was deposited in Japan a few days later (Tazaki *et al*, 2004).

In the same way as for dust particles, the lifetimes of carbonaceous aerosols, up to a week or so (unless they are lofted into the stratosphere), are far too short for them to cross from one hemisphere to the other through the "intertropical convergence zone". This process involves an exchange time of about one year (Ballschmiter, 1992).

2.2.3 Other combustion by-products and related oxidants: CO, NO, O₃, etc.

The various combustion processes mentioned above in connection with the formation of carbonaceous aerosols lead to a wide range of by-products. This includes carbon monoxide, reactive organic substances (more commonly categorised as VOCs and nitric oxide, all of which are precursors in the formation of tropospheric ozone and the related oxidant peroxyacetyl nitrate (PAN).

Ozone formation is often considered to be a problem associated with large cities or industrial areas in summer. However, since combustion by-products are subject to LRT, they contribute to rising ozone levels in background air far from populated regions, a phenomenon sometimes known as "global smog", for which a major driver is biomass burning (Fishman *et al*, 1996; Lelieveld *et al*, 2004).

Apart from any specific environmental or health impact the combustion by-products may exert by themselves, a related concern is therefore the ozone they are capable of generating far from their point of emission.

Furthermore, ozone present in the free troposphere – that is above the planetary boundary layer which extends to about 1 km altitude – has a lifetime of a few weeks (Thompson, 2004). This is long enough for it to undergo LRT itself, in addition to any transport of its precursors, such as NO_2 whose lifetime is only about two days in the boundary layer, but up to a week in the middle and upper troposphere (Wenig *et al*, 2003; Schaub *et al*, 2005), and CO which has a lifetime of months (Seinfeld and Pandis, 1998, pp. 85-86).

The global atmospheric pathways travelled by combustion by-products are similar to those described above for the carbonaceous aerosols having the same origin. They are however not necessarily identical, mainly on account of the species-dependent chemical and physical removal processes, which determine the lifetimes of the individual substances.

Nevertheless, to avoid excessive repetition, these transport pathways are not described in detail. Further information on LRT of ozone and its precursors can be found in the following recent papers and the references cited therein: Bertschi and Jaffe (2005); Bey *et al* (2001); Bottenheim *et al* (2004); Cooper and Parrish (2004); Cooper *et al* (2004a, 2004b); Creilson *et al* (2003); de Gouw *et al* (2004); Duncan and Bey (2004); Formenti *et al* (2002); Forster *et al* (2001); Goldstein *et al* (2004); Heald *et al* (2003); Holzer *et al*, 2003; Hudman *et al*, 2004; Huntrieser and Schlager (2004); Huntrieser *et al* (2005); Jacob *et al* (1999, 2003); Jaffe *et al* (2001, 2003b, 2004); Kato *et al*, 2002; Langmann and Heil (2004); Langmann *et al* (2003); Lawrence (2004); Li *et al* (2002); Liu *et al* (2002, 2005); Martin *et al* (2002); Naja *et al* (2001, 2004); Price *et al* (2004); Schaub *et al* (2005); Schultz and Bey (2004); Stohl and Trickl (1999); Spichtinger *et al*, 2001; Spichtinger-Rakowsky and Forster (2004); Stohl *et al* (2002a); Thompson (2004); Trickl *et al* (2003); UNECE (2003); Wenig *et al* (2003); Wild and Akimoto (2001); Wilkening (2001); Wilkening *et al* (2000); Wotawa and Trainer (2000); Wotawa *et al* (2001); Yienger *et al* (2000).

It is interesting to note that, according to modelling studies, there is a significant contribution both of North American anthropogenic emissions to surface levels of ozone in Europe and of European emissions to levels of ozone in North America, at least under certain meteorological conditions (Li *et al*, 2002; Guerova *et al*, 2005; Auvray and Bey, 2005). Asia is affected by emissions from both Europe and North America (Liu *et al*, 2002). Roelofs *et al* (2003) demonstrated that ozone levels in the eastern Mediterranean area were significantly influenced by emissions from Southeast Asia, North America and Europe. Wild and Akimoto (2001) suggested that European fossil fuel emissions had a lower potential than Asian or North American emissions to add to ozone levels in the middle and

upper troposphere. Lelieveld *et al* (2002) showed that in summer the middle troposphere of the Mediterranean area receives a westerly inflow of CO and other pollutants from Asia and North America, while the upper troposphere is influenced by Asian pollution coming from the east.

Ozone pollution is clearly shifting from a purely local concern to a global issue, since LRT of O_3 and its precursors is now recognised to contribute significantly to regional budgets (Creilson *et al*, 2003; Holloway *et al*, 2003; Chatfield *et al*, 2004; Schultz and Bey, 2004; Sauvage *et al*, 2005).

2.2.4 Sulphur dioxide and sulphate aerosols

Atmospheric emissions of sulphur dioxide result mainly from the combustion of sulphurcontaining coal and other fossil fuels, but the contributions from volcanoes and the biogenic precursor dimethyl sulphide are non-negligible (Benkovitz *et al*, 2004). Gas-phase and incloud oxidation of SO₂ leads to sulphuric acid. Together with nitric acid arising from combustion-derived NO and other anthropogenic and natural sources of nitrogen oxides, sulphuric acid is one of the main components of "acid rain" (Bouwman *et al*, 2002).

Air pollution by long-range transported SO_2 is not a recent problem. Seinfeld and Pandis (1998, p. 1030) cite an incident occurring three centuries ago, when SO_2 emitted from "industry" in the United Kingdom travelled far downwind and remained at a high enough concentration to cause bleaching of dyed cloth in France.

Despite wet scavenging of SO_2 as sulphate after oxidation in the gaseous and aqueous phases, intercontinental transport of SO_2 /sulphate undoubtedly occurs, as demonstrated by the following examples:

- instances of trans-Pacific transport of SO₂/sulphate from Asia to the Californian coast have been reported (Brock *et al*, 2004);
- sulphate deposition in the Canary Islands has been shown to be due mainly to North American sources under certain meteorological conditions (Benkovitz *et al*, 2003);
- 10 % of wet deposition of sulphur over western Europe was calculated to arise from North American emissions (Tarrasón and Iversen, 1992);
- the boundary layer "haze" that afflicts the Arctic, particularly in winter and spring, is made up mainly of sulphate aerosols arising from SO₂ emissions in Europe and the former Soviet Union, while sources further from the Arctic continent also contribute significantly to pollution by sulphur species in the free troposphere (Barrie *et al*, 1989; Iversen, 1989, 1996; Bottenheim *et al*, 2004; Heidam *et al*, 2004).

Furthermore, transport between neighbouring countries on a regional scale is still a major concern, despite considerable reductions in SO_2 emissions in the developed nations over the last few decades.

For example, rapid economic development in China, coupled with the use of coal as a major source of energy, is considered to make a significant contribution to sulphuric acid deposition in other Asian countries and even the central northern Pacific (Carmichael *et al*, 2002; Tu *et al*, 2004), although quantitative modelling is subject to uncertainties, on account of the sensitivity to wet removal parameterisation.

Many of the smaller sulphur-emitting countries in Asia and the Indian sub-continent receive more sulphur deposition than they emit (Arndt *et al*, 1998).

South-East Asia (Indonesia, Malaysia, The Philippines and Singapore) is estimated to receive a quarter of its sulphur deposition from shipping activities (Guttikunda *et al*, 2001).

Sulphur dioxide emissions from southern Africa are believed to reach Amsterdam Island, thousands of kilometres away, while those from Australia may well affect New Zealand (Sturman *et al*, 1997).

Pollution of the Aegean Sea and eastern Mediterranean area by sulphate aerosols and other substances originating from emissions in continental Europe has been discussed by Wanger *et al* (2000) and Formenti *et al* (2002).

Benkovitz *et al* (2001) have carried out modelling studies to show how the atmospheric transport and loading of SO_2 and sulphate are influenced by weather patterns over North America, the North Atlantic and Europe. For instance, under certain meteorological conditions, it was shown that transport of SO_2 /sulphate from Europe to Iceland was likely.

Volcanoes can inject SO_2 and other substances directly into the stratosphere. Thus the 1991 eruption of Mount Pinatubo in the tropics (15°N) lofted tens of millions of tons of SO_2 and sulphate up to an altitude culminating close to 40 km. The resulting aerosol cloud, travelling westwards, straddled the equator and encircled the Earth in 21 days (Bluth *et al*, 1992; Guo *et al*, 2004). Over a period of months, the sulphate aerosol spread towards the poles and ultimately contributed significantly to ozone depletion (Solomon, 1999) and climate cooling (Robock, 2002) on a global scale.

2.2.5 Mercury

Mercury is a volatile metal. The atmosphere plays a major role in the mobilisation and geographical redistribution of this element, for which both human-related and natural emissions are significant (Fitzgerald *et al*, 1998; Lin and Pekhonen, 1999; Bergan *et al*, 1999; UNEP, 2002b; Ilyin *et al*, 2004).

Anthropogenic releases of mercury to air arise mainly from fossil fuel combustion, especially coal burning in Asia. The production of metals and cement, along with waste incineration, also make non-negligible contributions to emissions (Pacyna and Pacyna, 2002).

Although recent studies suggest that elemental mercury's atmospheric lifetime is only a few months, instead of up to two years as believed previously (Renner, 2004), this persistence is still sufficient for mercury to become broadly distributed at least throughout the hemisphere in which it is emitted.

The main concern with atmospheric mercury is its oxidation to "reactive gaseous species" that are readily scavenged to ground level by settling particles and rain. These compounds can then undergo biologically mediated methylation to the bioavailable and toxic monomethylmercury, which can accumulate in terrestrial and aquatic food chains (Schroeder and Munthe, 1998; Ullrich *et al*, 2001; UNEP, 2002b).

Prime evidence for atmospheric LRT of mercury is provided by long-term Hg concentration profiles in cores taken from lake sediments and peat bogs far from local sources. These studies show rising levels over the last century (Fitzgerald *et al*, 1998; Bottenheim *et al*, 2004; Skov *et al*, 2004a; Perry *et al*, 2005; Steinnes and Sjøbakk, 2005).

Pollution of the Arctic, which itself has no significant mercury emissions, by Hg released to air in populated areas at lower latitudes has been the subject of numerous investigations and reviews. Sources in both Eurasia and North America have been implicated (Macdonald *et al*, 2000a; Cheng and Schroeder, 2000; Lin *et al*, 2001; AMAP, 1998, 2002; Schroeder *et al*, 2002; Bottenheim *et al*, 2004). Modelling studies on transport to the Arctic have been performed recently (Heidam *et al*, 2004; Christensen *et al*, 2004), based on a global inventory of emissions of mercury from anthropogenic sources (Pacyna and Pacyna, 2002). "Mercury depletion events", occurring during the Arctic (and Antarctic) spring after the polar sunrise and mediated by halogen species, lead to rapid oxidation of elemental mercury and the resulting efficient deposition of oxidised forms (Lindberg *et al*, 2004; Ebinghaus *et al*, 2002; Bottenheim *et al*, 2004; Heidam *et al*, 2004; Skov *et al*, 2004a, 2004b; Fitzgerald *et al*, 2005; Douglas *et al*, 2005).

In Antarctica, during the austral summer, reactive gaseous mercury levels have been found to be as high as in some industrial environments (Sprovieri *et al*, 2002).

A global modelling study (Dastoor and Larocque, 2004) indicates frequent episodes of mercury transport from Europe to North America via the Arctic, in winter. On the other hand, in summer, mercury can be transported from North America to the northern Atlantic Ocean and Europe.

Evidence has been provided for the transport of mercury across the northern Pacific from Asia to California (Steding and Flegal, 2002, 2003; Jaffe *et al*, 2003c, 2005). Modelling

studies (Seigneur *et al*, 2004) indicate that a significant fraction (5-36 %) of overall mercury deposition at various locations in the continental United States is due to Asian emissions.

The results of an intercomparison of numerical models for atmospheric LRT of mercury have been presented by Ryaboshapko *et al* (2004).

Ilyin *et al* (2004) document the greatly decreasing deposition in European countries of mercury arising from transboundary transport, over the timeframe 1990-2000.

2.2.6 Volatile organic compounds

As discussed above, a number of "volatile organic compounds" (defined for the purposes of this dossier as being any organic species that partitions preferentially to the atmosphere and that has a lifetime of at least a few days) are of overwhelmingly natural origin. Many others have natural and anthropogenic sources that are both significant. One such example is methane, already discussed above as a major greenhouse gas. But a whole range of other organic species also fall into this category, including ethane, propane, butane, benzene, acetone, methanol, etc. (Seinfeld and Pandis, 1998). Indeed, lower aliphatic hydrocarbons ascribed to natural gas emissions in the Gulf of Mexico were encountered over the Mediterranean area (Mühle *et al*, 2002), while a signal from industrial propane emissions in northern Africa was identified out over the Atlantic Ocean (Gros *et al*, 2004).

Aliphatic halogen compounds having significant sources of both natural and anthropogenic origin are CH_3CI (lifetime 1.3 y), $CHCI_3$ (0.4 y) and CH_3Br (0.7 y) (Khalil, 1999; Khalil *et al*, 1999; Laturnus *et al*, 2002; Ballschmiter, 2003; Harper and Hamilton, 2003; McCulloch, 2003). These compounds degrade in the atmosphere and only their breakdown products (essentially HCI and HBr) reach the biosphere.

2.3 Substances Primarily of Anthropogenic Origin

2.3.1 Anthropogenic radionuclides

For the general public, one of the most vivid, albeit tragic, demonstrations of the reality of atmospheric LRT was experienced after the explosion occurring in the nuclear reactor at Chernobyl, Ukraine, in April 1986. Following this largest reported accidental release of radioactive material, the initial pollution plume dispersed to the northwest and reached Finland and Sweden. However, broad areas of Europe were soon blanketed by a radioactive cloud (Anspaugh *et al*, 1988; Pöllänen *et al*, 1997; Brandt *et al*, 2002; UNEP, 2002a; Robertson, 2004). In Finland, the first temporary increases in radioactivity were observed 1-2 days after the initial explosion (Jylhä, 2000a, 2000b). Fission products from Chernobyl, such as ¹³⁷Cs and ¹³⁴Cs, were traced as far away as Japan (Aoyama, 1988; Kasamatsu and Inatomi, 1998). Lauritzen and Mikkelsen (1999) compared measured and modelled ¹³⁷Cs activities arising from Chernobyl up to distances of 9000 km from the source. A significant increase in radioactivity in the indigenous people of Arctic Norway, Sweden and Russia was observed in the few years immediately following the accident (UNEP, 2002a).

Another case of accidental atmospheric release of ¹³⁷Cs occurred at a steel mill in Algeciras, Spain, in May 1998. This radio-isotope was subsequently detected in air across broad areas of Europe (Pobanz *et al*, 1999; Bysiek *et al*, 2001; Robertson, 2004).

Radionuclides, in particular ⁹⁰Sr, were also dispersed on a global scale by the atmospheric nuclear weapons testing in the 1950s and 1960s (Rehfeld and Heiman, 1995; Dueñas *et al*, 2003).

2.3.2 Lead

Anthropogenic sources of lead include its use as a petrol/gasoline additive (now phased out in the more developed countries), non-ferrous metal production and fossil fuel combustion.

Although lead does have minor natural sources (namely soil dust, volcanoes, forest fires, biogenic emissions and sea-salt spray) it has been shown that between 3700 and 5900 years ago, the atmospheric deposition rate was orders of magnitude lower than in the recent decades (Klaminder *et al*, 2003). It is therefore obvious that atmospheric Pb is today

primarily anthropogenic in origin. Furthermore, it has been suggested that, even in ancient times, atmospheric LRT dominated deposition in a Swedish bog (Klaminder *et al*, 2003). The analysis of Pb in a Greenland ice core provided evidence for hemispheric pollution by lead (Hong *et al*, 1994). Pollution of the Arctic by Pb over the last few decades has been ascribed, by isotope ratio analysis, largely to atmospheric LRT from Eurasian sources, especially Eastern Europe (Sturges and Barrie, 1989; Barrie *et al*, 1992). On the other hand, falling concentrations in ice cores in central Greenland in the latter part of the 20th century have been linked to declining emissions from North American sources (Rosman *et al*, 1993; McConnell *et al*, 2002).

Atmospheric inputs attributed to anthropogenic emissions from southern hemisphere sources have been identified in 20th century Antarctic snow and ice profiles (Rosman *et al*, 1994; Vallelonga *et al*, 2002; Planchon *et al*, 2003; van de Velde *et al*, 2005).

It has been suggested that lead deposition in western Ireland may have been largely due to atmospheric LRT from North America (Schell *et al*, 1997).

Steinnes *et al* (2005a) analysed the origin of Pb deposited in Norway from 1977 to 2000, showing that different parts of the country were affected by different source regions (western/central Europe, the U.K., Eastern Europe and Russia) and that the relative importance of these sources varied over the time period studied.

Interestingly, lead is one of the most ancient anthropogenic pollutants contributing to remote pollution through atmospheric LRT. Analysis of "varved" (annually layered) sediments in Sweden shows pollution beginning approximately 3000-4000 years ago (corresponding to the birth of metallurgy), with a peak in Roman times (about 2000 years ago) and a large and permanent Medieval increase (1000 years ago), arising from the development of metal production. Subsequently, there was a rapid increase after 1945, with a peak in the 1970s followed by the large decline, due to the use and subsequent phaseout of leaded petrol, (Brännvall et al, 1999, 2001; Renberg et al, 2000, 2002). Similar conclusions have been drawn from the study of cores taken from peat bogs in Spain (Martínez-Cortizas et al, 1997), Switzerland (Weiss et al, 1997; Shotyk et al, 1998) and Norway (Steinnes, 1997, 2005a, 2005b), although the Pb profiles may be influenced by local emissions as well as by atmospheric LRT. The history of atmospheric Pb deposition in a Swiss peat bog, going back over 12,000 years, has been deciphered by Shotyk et al (1998) and commented on by Nriagu (1998). A similar analysis of sources, covering the period from 3,000 to 500 years ago, has been provided by Hong et al (1994) from observations on Pb in a Greenland ice core. Determinations performed on Antarctic ice cores show "natural background" Pb concentrations until the late 19th century (Vallelonga et al. 2002). This demonstrates that the forms of Pb emitted from medieval and earlier metalworking sources in Europe and the Middle East were not long-lived enough in the atmosphere to cross the intertropical convergence zone and reach high southern latitudes.

2.3.3 Volatile organic halogen compounds

A number of volatile organohalogens have been mentioned above as being of partly natural and partly anthropogenic origin. Others are primarily or solely man-made. These include:

- chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs);
- CFC replacement compounds: hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs) and hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs);
- halons and their substitutes;
- perfluorocarbons (PFCs);
- carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄);
- certain chlorinated solvents: methylene chloride (CH₂Cl₂), trichloroethylene (C₂HCl₃) and perchloroethylene (C₂Cl₄) (all of which may possibly have significant natural sources, although the evidence is not unequivocal: see Khalil *et al*, 1999; Moore, 2003, 2004), as well as the purely anthropogenic 1,1,1-trichloroethane (CCl₃CH₃).

The atmospheric lifetimes of these compounds range from about 5 days for C_2HCl_3 to thousands of years for perfluorocarbons (UNEP, 2002a), so all are liable to undergo LRT, as is demonstrated by regular monitoring performed at observation stations worldwide (WMO, 2002; Thompson *et al*, 2004). Nevertheless, only those substances that have atmospheric lifetimes greater than about one year will become more or less uniformly

distributed throughout the global atmosphere when they are emitted essentially only in the northern hemisphere. The shorter-lived compounds are not able to cross the intertropical convergence zone that acts as an atmospheric "barrier" close to the equator (Ballschmiter, 1992).

All these compounds are too volatile and insoluble in water for them to be substantially deposited from the atmosphere to ground level. Accordingly, they will in general have no direct impact on the biosphere following atmospheric LRT, their concentrations in background air being too low to affect vegetation, etc.. However, the parent compounds may well contribute to atmospheric impacts, such as stratospheric ozone depletion or global warming. Furthermore, their degradation products may be deposited to the biosphere. This is the case for the hydrohalic acids arising from most of the compounds listed above, while haloacetic acids can be formed in certain cases (e.g. trifluoroacetic acid from some HCFCs and HFCs, and trichloroacetic acid as a minor product from C_2Cl_4).

2.3.4 Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) / Persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic substances (PBTs) / Semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs)

A group of substances that has gained considerable attention in recent years is that of the "persistent organic pollutants" (POPs) or "persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic substances" (PBTs/PTBs). Definitions vary somewhat from one authority to another, but these terms are more or less synonymous and the acronym "POPs/PBTs" will be used henceforth in this dossier. Generally speaking, the definition is considered to encompass only substances that are deposited to the biosphere, where they may cause toxic effects, so volatile compounds such as the CFCs, while being persistent and organic, do not fall within this category.

The compounds that have been targeted up to present for action as priority substances in the major international regulatory agreements (UNECE and UNEP Conventions), as will be discussed later in this dossier, are:

- Polychlorinated dibenzodioxins (PCDDs) and dibenzofurans (PCDFs), and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). These substances are not produced intentionally, but trace amounts are formed during natural processes and anthropogenic activities (combustion, metallurgical operations, etc.);
- Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) are no longer produced in the developed countries, but are still present in existing equipment as transformer fluids, etc.;
- Certain chlorinated pesticides: aldrin, chlordane, chlordecone, dieldrin, DDT, endrin, hexachlorocyclo-hexane isomers (HCHs) including lindane (γ-HCH), heptachlor, mirex, toxaphene (a mixture of chlorinated camphenes) and pentachlorophenol. Most of these have been phased out in the developed world but still persist in the environment;
- Hexachlorobenzene, a by-product formed in the manufacture of certain organic chlorine compounds, as well as being used formerly as a pesticide;
- Hexabromobiphenyl, a fire retardant.

The UNECE and UNEP lists are not definitive: new compounds are likely to be added in the future.

Since the substances mentioned above, in addition to being persistent, are in general hydrophobic and lipophilic, they tend to bioaccumulate in fatty tissues of living organisms from different levels in the food chain.

Many POPs/PBTs have such a low vapour pressure that a significant fraction of the total atmospheric concentration is present as material adsorbed on (or absorbed in) aerosol particles. Such species are often known as "semi-volatile organic compounds" (SVOCs). The partitioning between phases impacts the LRT potential, as will be discussed later in this dossier.

Transport to the polar regions

The persistence of the POPs/PBTs allows them to travel to remote areas of the planet, far from known sources. Many studies have focused on contamination of the Arctic, which is devoid of significant pollution sources of its own so that POPs/PBTs found there provide a convincing demonstration of transport from afar (Gregor and Gummer, 1989; Barrie *et al*,

1992; Macdonald *et al*, 2000a; AMAP, 1998, 2002, 2004; CACAR, 2003a; Bottenheim *et al*, 2004).

Depending on the location of the receptor site and the season, semi-volatile organochlorines and PAHs reaching the Arctic may have originated in Europe, Russia, East Asia or North America (Pacyna and Oehme, 1988; Halsall *et al*, 1997, 1998, 2000; Stern *et al*, 1997; Bailey *et al*, 2000; Macdonald *et al*, 2000a; CACAR, 2003a; Helm *et al*, 2004). Evidence has been presented that an episode of "brown snow" in the Canadian Arctic was due to emissions in China. The organic pollutants deposited included PAHs, PCBs, DDT-related compounds, toxaphene and the insecticides methoxychlor, endosulfan and HCH (Welch *et al*, 1991).

A number of modern agrochemicals, including trifluralin (short-lived in the atmosphere), have been found within the Arctic Circle (Welch *et al*, 1991; Chernyak *et al*, 1996; CACAR, 2003a), while chloroalkyl phosphate flame retardants and chlorobenzenes were identified in ice from a glacier in northern Sweden (Laniewski *et al*, 1998).

Pollution of the Antarctic by a range of organochlorines has also been demonstrated (Larsson *et al*, 1992; Kallenborn *et al*, 1998; Laniewski *et al*, 1998; Corsolini *et al*, 2002; Borghini *et al*, 2005; Dickhut *et al*, 2005).

Transport to other regions

The herbicide atrazine is known to be transported through the atmosphere over distances of hundreds of kilometres (Thurman and Cromwell, 2000).

On a more regional scale, atrazine and related compounds detected in the pristine Isle Royale National Park in Lake Superior were assigned sources in Minnesota, Iowa and Wisconsin (Thurman and Cromwell, 2000), while organophosphate pesticides applied in California's Central Valley were shown to be transported to the Sierra Nevada mountains (Zabik and Seiber, 1993; Aston and Seiber, 1997).

Transpacific transport from Asia to the North American west coast of a number of pesticides (including HCHs, endosulfans, dacthal, chlorothalonil and trifluralin), as well as the more volatile PCBs, has been described in several studies (Koziol and Pudykiewicz, 2001; Wilkening, 2001; Killin *et al*, 2004; Lichota *et al*, 2004; Harner *et al*, 2005).

A number of pesticides that are not authorised for use in Denmark have nevertheless been reported by Asman *et al* (2005) to be present in precipitation there. They are therefore assumed to have been transported via air from other countries.

Toxaphene, formerly used as a cotton insecticide in the southern United States, has been shown to be transported through the atmosphere to Bermuda, western Canada and the Great Lakes (Bidleman and Olney, 1975; Donald *et al*, 1998; James and Hites, 2002).

PCBs in the air above the eastern Mediterranean, as well as PAHs in marine sediments there, have been demonstrated to originate in western and central Europe (Mandalakis and Stephanou, 2002; Tsapakis *et al*, 2003).

The modelled contribution of transboundary transport to air concentrations and deposition fluxes, in various European countries and the Arctic, of benzo[a]pyrene, PCDD/Fs, PCBs and γ -HCH is discussed by Shatalov *et al* (2004).

The observation of the latitudinal dependence of the concentrations in air of a number of organochlorine pesticides and related compounds has been used to determine empirical "travel distances" for these substances from their points of release at various locations in North America. The values range from hundreds to thousands of kilometres (Shen *et al*, 2004, 2005). Travel distances of comparable magnitudes were determined for currently used pesticides belonging to various chemical families, by analysing the latitudinal dependence of their concentrations in North American lakes (Muir *et al*, 2004).

3 Long-Range Transport through media other than the atmosphere

Although the atmospheric pathway is believed to be the dominant one for the LRT of chemicals and is the one which has been the subject of the most scientific studies, it is not the only one. In this chapter, three other modes of LRT are discussed.

3.1 Transport by Rivers, Oceans and Drifting Ice

Some substances may not be prone to atmospheric LRT, but may nevertheless be transported over long distances, by rivers and the oceans. This is the case, in particular, for compounds that, on account of their high affinity for aqueous phases:

- are emitted to water and remain there;
- are emitted initially to air, but subsequently partition to a greater or lesser degree to water.

The first of these cases can be illustrated by transport to the Arctic Ocean of artificial radionuclides, especially ¹³⁷Cs and ¹²⁹I, discharged into the Irish Sea and the English Channel from nuclear fuel reprocessing facilities at Sellafield (U.K.) and La Hague (France), respectively. The emissions from these two point sources have been well characterised and observations of the resulting radioactivity have provided scientists with valuable information on ocean circulation. The time-scale for oceanic transport from the U.K. and French plants to the Norwegian Sea and to the Arctic Ocean and its marginal seas is of the order of 5 years (Smith *et al*, 1990, 1998; Kershaw and Baxter, 1995; CACAR, 2003a; Gao *et al*, 2005), compared to only a few days for atmospheric transport from mid-latitudes to the Arctic.

For many water-soluble species, including nitrates and dissolved organic matter, the flow from the continents to the oceans is primarily due to their transport in groundwater, streams and rivers (Wörman, 1998; Kaiser, 2002; Bouwman *et al*, 2005). Thus, rivers export to the oceans about 50 million tons per year of dissolved nitrogen, arising from natural sources as well as from agriculture, sewage and industry (Bouwman *et al*, 2005). Rivers are also a prominent source of particulates and sediment to the world's oceans (Depetris, 2000; Syvitski *et al*, 2005). Nuclear weapon plants located along Siberian rivers have been reported to contribute to pollution of the Arctic by radionuclides (Livingston, 1995).

The case of substances initially emitted to air, but subsequently undergoing significant oceanic transport, could no doubt be exemplified by highly water-soluble compounds such as the inorganic acids HCI and HF. It is indeed reasonable to assume that these species, after being removed from the atmosphere by wet deposition, will end up in rivers and the oceans, where their concentrations will become evened out by mixing. However, this phenomenon would be difficult to demonstrate, on account of the permanent background concentrations of the corresponding anions in seawater. It is nevertheless known that riverine transport plays a major role in the transport of anthropogenically "fixed" nitrogen species (mainly ammonium and nitrate ions) to marine ecosystems (Galloway *et al*, 1995).

Macdonald *et al* (2000b) predict that the herbicide atrazine, on account of its high solubility and long lifetime in water, will behave much like ¹³⁷Cs in the ocean, i.e. providing a tracer of water from drainage basins where it has been applied.

Although polychlorinated hydrocarbons are hydrophobic, some of them have solubilities in water great enough for the oceans to play a role in their LRT, even if the atmosphere remains the primary vector. That is to say, dissolution in seawater, particularly in the colder regions of the planet, can lead to a significant marine burden. The dissolved species can then become geographically redistributed in the oceans, while undergoing a continuous exchange with the atmosphere. This phenomenon has been discussed, for example, for the HCHs, DDTs, PCBs, chlordanes, etc. (Iwata *et al*, 1993, 1994; Schreitmüller and

Ballschmiter, 1994; Macdonald *et al*, 2000a, 2000b; Koziol and Pudykiewicz, 2001; Scheringer and Wania, 2003; CACAR, 2003a).

A large reservoir of α -HCH has accumulated in the Arctic Ocean, mainly on account of atmospheric transport from lower-latitude regions where the "technical" HCH mixture (of which α -HCH is the major component) was used as a pesticide in the 1970s and 1980s. The accumulated aqueous reservoir will ultimately be shed predominantly through water currents and degradation, since extensive ice cover prevents effective exchange with the atmosphere, despite the fact that the ocean water is now oversaturated with α -HCH relative to air (Wania and Mackay, 1999; Wania *et al*, 1999; Macdonald *et al*, 2000a, 2000b; Scheringer and Wania, 2003; CACAR, 2003a).

Input of PCBs, HCHs and DDTs to the Arctic Ocean via LRT in Russian rivers may have been significant in the past and may still be so today (Wania and Mackay, 1999; Macdonald *et al*, 2000a, 2000b; AMAP, 1998, 2002, 2004; CACAR, 2003a). Several large rivers flowing through industrialised and agricultural areas drain into the Arctic Ocean. When their sediments reach the estuary, they are partially incorporated into sea ice. Ice-borne particles, possibly laden with contaminants, may thus be released when the ice melts after drifting to other parts of the ocean (AMAP, 1998, 2002, 2004).

However, Gustaffson *et al* (2005) present evidence showing that drifting ice is not an important LRT carrier of POPs to the Arctic marginal ice zone.

3.2 Transport by migrating animals

As pointed out by Wania (1998), certain migrating species cover long distances, often crossing international boundaries and linking industrialised or agricultural regions with remote ones. Furthermore, persistent lipophilic substances can bioaccumulate in animal tissues – particularly in those at the top of the food chain – to levels that are orders of magnitude greater than in air or water.

Unlike atmospheric LRT, which ultimately leads to deposition over broad expanses of the Earth's surface, transport of contaminants concentrated in animal tissues can potentially provide a focused delivery to a given ecosystem.

A preliminary analysis of the significance of LRT by migratory seabirds and whales was performed by Wania (1998) for selected POPs/PBTs (HCHs, PCBs and DDTs). From this assessment, one may conclude that:

- Gross transport rates of POPs/PBTs via these animals into a given region are usually smaller than the fluxes in air or water, but in some cases may be of a comparable order of magnitude;
- It is more difficult to assess whether or not net transport (e.g. import into the Arctic minus export from the Arctic) actually occurs. This depends on the extent to which the animals feed, excrete, spawn or die in distinct areas.

One case has received particular attention, namely that of salmon making their end-of-life migration from the northern Pacific Ocean to their natal freshwater lakes in Alaska, to spawn and die. The decomposing carcasses of the salmon release PCBs, DDTs and other POPs/PBTs accumulated over their lifetime, so that the sediments of these lakes and the other fish that inhabit them can become contaminated with particularly elevated levels of these contaminants (Ewald *et al*, 1998; Krümmel *et al*, 2003, 2005; Mu *et al*, 2004). Indeed, the PCB input flux to the lakes by this "biological pump" mechanism can be up to sixfold greater than atmospheric deposition (Krümmel *et al*, 2003).

Salmon have also been shown to be a significant local vector for mercury, in the readily bioavailable form of monomethylmercury, to Alaska's water bodies (Zhang *et al*, 2001).

It has been hypothesised that deposited seabird guano may influence the levels of PCBs and other POPs/PTBs on isolated islands in the Norwegian Arctic (Enge *et al*, 2001; AMAP, 2002, 2004; Evenset *et al*, 2004, 2005) and in the Canadian Arctic (Blais *et al*, 2005). This may also be true for certain radionuclides, but the evidence is equivocal (Dowdall *et al*, 2005).

3.3 Anthropogenic transport

When a xenobiotic substance is found in a reputedly pristine environment, one should always bear in mind the possibility that it may have reached that location, partially or wholly, through "anthropogenic" transport, that is the shipment of goods or hazardous wastes (including ocean dumping of the latter), or the displacement of persons, for trade, tourism, or other purposes. Even the polar regions have a small resident or temporary population (indigenous peoples, military personnel, oil industry workers, scientific researchers, explorers, etc.) who may possibly use articles or products containing the substances concerned. Local anthropogenic contamination of the Arctic (by airstrips, military installations, mining, industry, waste dumps, etc.) has been reviewed by CACAR (2003a). Stow *et al* (2005) have quantified the contribution of Distant Early Warning radar stations to local and Arctic-wide contamination by PCBs.

There are regrettably numerous examples of accidental leakage of anthropogenically transported substances that have led to significant environmental contamination and damage, e.g. from oil tankers, nuclear-powered submarines, etc. Illegal dumping of waste materials into the oceans is also still a major concern.

4 Mechanisms and modelling of atmospheric Long-Range Transport

4.1 Pathways and timescales

The atmosphere clearly provides a major vector for the global dispersion of pollutants. The pathways followed and the distances covered depend on the physical properties and chemical reactivity of the substances considered, as well as on the location and moment (season and time of day) of release to the atmosphere and on the prevailing meteorological conditions. Compounds that degrade rapidly in the atmosphere will, in general, not travel as far as more persistent ones. Substances with very low volatility will tend to adsorb onto atmospheric particles, which, depending on their size, may settle rapidly to the ground. Hydrophilic pollutants will be removed by precipitation more readily than less soluble ones.

The observational evidence presented in Chapter 2 of this dossier clearly shows that there are preferential (albeit to some extent seasonally-dependent) pathways for intercontinental atmospheric LRT, e.g. eastwards from Asia to North America and thence to Europe, northwards from Eurasia to the Arctic, westwards from northern Africa across the Atlantic, south-eastwards from southern Africa to Australia and New Zealand, etc..

The meteorological phenomena driving these pathways have recently been reviewed by Stohl *et al* (2002a), EMEP (2002), Holloway *et al* (2003) and Stohl (2004). Various individual chapters in the book by Stohl (2004) deal with atmospheric pollutant transport between most of the major regions of the world, namely the Arctic (Bottenheim *et al*, 2004), North America (Cooper and Parrish, 2004), Europe (Huntrieser and Schlager, 2004), East Asia (Pochanart *et al*, 2004), Southern Asia (Lawrence, 2004) and Africa (Piketh and Walton, 2004).

The preferential pathways for atmospheric LRT in the northern hemisphere are illustrated schematically in Figure 1 (adapted from Stohl, 2004).

Further reviews of the pathways by which pollutants are transported through the atmosphere specifically into the Arctic region are provided by Barrie *et al* (1992), Mackay and Wania (1995a), Iversen (1996), AMAP (1998, 2004), CACAR (2003a) and Macdonald *et al* (2000a, 2005). The effect of the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO) on air pollutant transport into the Arctic has been discussed by Eckhardt *et al* (2003), MacLeod *et al* (2005) and Hermanson *et al* (2005). The NAO, the intensity of which is determined by the difference between the subtropical high pressure and the polar low pressure regions, is the dominant driver of climate variability over the North Atlantic.

For the express purpose of assessing the ability of various models to represent atmospheric dispersion and transport pathways, inert synthetic tracer gases have been released to the atmosphere in small quantities. For instance, perfluoromethylcyclohexane was released in 1994 from a location in northwestern France and tracked at 168 sampling locations in 17 countries across Europe (Nodop *et al*, 1998; Stohl *et al*, 1998; Warner *et al*, 2004, 2005). Similar experiments had previously been conducted in North America (Draxler, 1991; Sykes *et al*, 1993; Stohl *et al*, 1998; Draxler and Hess, 1998). The monitoring of "tracers of opportunity" resulting from deliberate or accidental releases of substances such as radionuclides, has also been used for model validation.

Intercontinental transport occurs on time-scales of about 3-30 days (Sturman *et al*, 1997; Stohl *et al*, 2002a) and is thus relevant for compounds having a lifetime of at least 3 days (corresponding to a half-life of 2 days: see Chapter 7 below). This includes substances such as ozone and many of its precursors, certain aerosols, mercury and POPs/PBTs (Stohl *et al*, 2002a), as well as a range of volatile organic halogen compounds, as discussed above. Under exceptional meteorological circumstances, "intercontinental pollution express highways" may arise, leading (for example) to transport across the Atlantic in as little as one day (Stohl *et al*, 2003a).

Summer



Winter



Figure 1: Grey arrows depict transport in the lower troposphere (below 3km), while black arrows refer to the middle and upper troposphere (above 3km).

Air quality at a given location can be influenced by emissions from another continent either through an increase in the more or less ubiquitous hemispheric background levels of pollution, or through discrete episodic flows of enhanced pollutant levels. The contributions from the latter events depend on location, season and the substance considered. Intercontinental transport episodes may involve either (a) advection more or less horizontally within the planetary boundary layer; or (b) lifting into the free troposphere via deep convection, "orographic effects" (i.e. the influence of mountain slopes on air flow) or, in particular, large-scale weather systems, especially the uplifting "warm conveyor belts" that occur ahead of advancing cold fronts. The relative importance of these phenomena differ from region to region and from substance to substance (EMEP, 2002; Stohl *et al*, 2002a; Holloway *et al*, 2003; Stohl, 2004).

The distance over which LRT occurs thus depends greatly on meteorological conditions (wind speed, precipitation and the orographic and frontal effects mentioned above) as well as on the properties of the substance itself (reactivity, solubility and volatility). Pollutants transported in the free troposphere will typically be carried further and faster than those in the boundary layer, owing to stronger winds and fewer loss mechanisms (Holloway *et al*, 2003).

From Asia to North America and from North America to Europe, transport in the free troposphere appears to be more important than advection in the boundary layer. Between Europe and Asia, boundary-layer transport and orographic lifting may be dominant (EMEP, 2002).

4.2 "Global fractionation" and the "grasshopper effect"

Rappe (1974) suggested that pesticides "when used in warm climates, become evaporated and transported to cool areas where they will be condensed". Goldberg (1975) coined the term "global distillation" to describe the process whereby a compound could volatilise from warmer regions, undergo long-range atmospheric transport and subsequently "recondense" in colder areas at higher latitudes. Ottar (1981) postulated "a systematic transfer of the

more persistent [organochlorine] compounds from warmer to colder regions", leading eventually "to an accumulation of these substances in the temperate and Arctic regions".

Wania and Mackay (1993a) suggested that, through "global distillation", organic compounds could become latitudinally fractionated, "condensing" at different temperatures according to their volatility, so that compounds with vapour pressures in a certain low range might accumulate preferentially in polar regions.

It should be emphasised that even organic pollutants with very low volatilities do not actually condense – even at the lowest environmental temperatures – in the sense that the atmosphere becomes saturated or supersaturated. Indeed, atmospheric partial pressures are always below the vapour pressures. Rather, cold conditions favour partitioning from air to a non-gaseous phase, which is the meaning of the term "cold condensation" as used by Wania and Mackay (1993a).

Wania and Mackay (1996) and Wania (1999) analysed the factors involved in global fractionation. Firstly, cool temperatures favour greater adsorption to atmospheric particulate matter, which is then deposited to the Earth's surface. Secondly, natural decomposition also slows down in the cold, making pollutants more persistent. Thirdly, low temperatures reduce the rates of evaporation of contaminants from water and promote their partitioning from the atmosphere to the surface soil or vegetation.

According to Wania and Mackay (1996), the global distribution of organic pollutants will depend largely on their vapour pressure (or their octanol-air partition coefficient) and the ambient temperature.

The migration of semi-volatile compounds to higher latitudes, in a series of cycles of atmospheric transport, deposition and re-volatilisation, in tune with seasonal temperature changes, has come to be known as the "grasshopper effect" (Wania and Mackay, 1996).

The concept of "global fractionation" and observational evidence for it were critically analysed by Ockenden and Jones (1999). More recent evidence for the "grasshopper effect" has been reviewed by Gouin *et al* (2004). Some of the environmental models to be discussed below enable one to calculate the number of "hops" between mobile and non-mobile media that are associated with a given journey from warm to cold regions (e.g. Semeena and Lammel, 2003, 2005; Leip and Lammel, 2004).

A number of different environmental matrices have been analysed as a function of latitude, in order to provide evidence for the global fractionation theory, including air (lwata *et al*, 1993; Ockenden *et al*, 1998a; Agrell *et al*, 1999; Meijer *et al*, 2003a), river water (lwata *et al*, 1994), seawater (lwata *et al*, 1993; Wania and Mackay, 1996), soil (Lead *et al*, 1997; Meijer *et al*, 2002, 2003b; Ockenden *et al*, 2003), sediments (lwata *et al*, 1994; Muir *et al*, 1996), tree bark (Simonich and Hites, 1995), various plants (Calamari *et al*, 1991; Ockenden *et al*, 1998b) and frogs (ter Schure *et al*, 2002).

In a similar manner to the temperature-driven latitudinal distribution of semi-volatile compounds, concentration gradients have been observed in mountainous areas as a function of altitude (for reviews, see Fernández and Grimalt, 2003; Daly and Wania, 2005).

In connection with the temperature-dependent partitioning between mobile and non-mobile media, Ockenden *et al* (2003) have shown that the forested soils of the northern hemisphere, and other carbon-rich soils, appear to be playing an important role in "protecting" the Arctic from LRT of PCBs (for example) through their absorptive capacity for these compounds. Thus, in the 70 years since PCBs were first produced, only a very small fraction of the total inventory has travelled from the populated source regions to the Arctic, mainly on account of retention by soils (Ockenden *et al*, 2003). Vegetation may have a similar effect, but its role is complex (Dalla Valle *et al*, 2004).

4.3 Atmospheric transport of substances of marine origin via sea-salt aerosols

Certain natural substances and anthropogenic pollutants present in the oceans, especially those with surfactant properties, become concentrated in the sea-surface microlayer,

having been brought to the surface by the scavenging action of ascending air microbubbles entrained underwater by breaking waves or falling rain. The marine aerosols that are formed when the air bubbles burst may be highly enriched in surfactants and other substances (e.g. certain metal ions) that interact with them, as well as microorganisms (Marty *et al*, 1979; Hardy, 1982; Blanchard, 1989; Tseng *et al*, 1992; Skop *et al*, 1994; GESAMP, 1995; Stefan and Szeri, 1999; Oppo *et al*, 1999; Grammatika and Zimmerman, 2001; Mochida *et al*, 2002; Saint-Louis and Pelletier, 2004). This phenomenon provides a mechanism for efficient sea-to-air transfer even for certain substances with low volatility and high water solubility, potentially enabling their LRT via the atmosphere (Cini and Loglio, 1997).

4.4 Relationship between long-range transport and persistence

LRT is clearly related to persistence in the environment, since time is required for transport. A long-lived chemical will travel further than a more reactive one with similar physicochemical properties other than persistence. However, the propensity for LRT cannot be predicted from persistence alone. Even highly persistent chemicals will not undergo atmospheric LRT if their volatility is very low and/or their aqueous solubility is high. Furthermore, the societal concerns related to persistence and LRT are fundamentally different: persistent chemicals may adversely affect future generations, while those undergoing LRT are liable to contaminate areas where they have not been used (van de Meent *et al*, 2000).

4.5 Models

A huge number of numerical models, covering a wide range of complexity, have been developed for predicting how chemicals are transported, distributed and degraded in the various compartments of the environment. It is beyond the scope of this dossier to attempt to discuss or even list them all. Some useful overviews have been provided by AMAP (1998, Chapter 3), Mackay *et al* (2001), Gouin *et al* (2001), Scheringer and Wania (2003), Schultz and Bey (2004) and OECD (2004).

It is important to recognise that POP/PBT-type compounds – on which this chapter on modelling is focused – are "multimedia" chemicals. That is to say they are liable to be present simultaneously in the various environmental media or compartments, such as air and the particles it contains, surface and ocean water, soil, sediments and vegetation, and they cycle between these different media. Any model used for describing the environmental behaviour of POPs/PBTs, including their potential for LRT, must therefore take into account intermedia exchange as well as transport and degradation in the various compartments.

Regional, hemispheric or global 3-dimensional chemistry-transport "general circulation" models (GCMs), with high spatial resolution and carefully validated by observations, are perhaps the only adequate tools for satisfactorily describing how emissions at one location may affect another location thousands of kilometres away. Such "dispersion" models, initially developed for other classes of substances, have been applied to POP/PBT-type compounds by Jacobs and van Pul (1996), van Jaarsveld *et al* (1997), Lammel *et al* (2001a, 2001b), Semeena and Lammel (2003), Leip and Lammel (2004), Koziol and Pudykiewicz (2001), Malanichev *et al* (2002, 2004), Ma *et al* (2003, 2004), Hansen *et al* (2004) and Suzuki *et al* (2004).

However, less computationally-demanding multimedia compartment-based models (or "box" models), with a lower spatial resolution, are very useful tools for screening and ranking purposes. They are based on the fugacity modelling concept originally developed by Mackay and coworkers in their suite of zero-dimensional CEMC Level I, II, III and IV models (for an overview, see Mackay, 2001). This concept has been adapted and in some cases extended, leading to a series of models, many of which are spatially resolved: EQC (Mackay *et al*, 1996), the Bergen model (Strand and Hov, 1996), GloboPOP (Wania and Mackay, 1993a, 1993b, 1995, 1996, 1999, 2000a; Wania, 2003), CoZMo-POP (Wania *et al*, 2000), CaITOX (McKone and Enoch, 2002), SimpleBox (van de Meent, 1993; Brandes *et al*, 1996), EUSES (derived from SimpleBox and adopted for European Union risk assessment purposes, see Vermeire *et al*, 1997 and http://ecb.jrc.it/), ChemRange (Scheringer, 1996, 1997, 2002; Scheringer *et al*, 2004a, 2004b), CliMoChem (Scheringer *et al*, 2000, 2004a), ELPOS (http://www.usf.uos.de/projects/elpos/; Beyer and Matthies,

2001), TaPL3 (<u>http://www.trentu.ca/cemc/models/TP300.html</u>; Beyer *et al*, 2000), BETR (MacLeod *et al*, 2001; Woodfine *et al*, 2001; Prevedouros *et al*, 2004; Toose *et al*, 2004), IMPACT 2002 (Pennington *et al*, 2005); and others.

The following sections focus on (a) the modelling studies performed in order to define the LRT potential of chemicals (especially POPs/PBTs) released to the atmosphere; and (b) source-receptor relationships.

4.6 Long-range transport potential

Many of the international regulatory agreements on the abatement of transboundary pollution explicitly include the potential for LRT as one of the criteria to be taken into consideration for control of a given chemical (see Chapters 6 and 7 below). However, none of the agreements currently provide a definition according to which the LRT potential itself can be expressed in numerical terms. Nevertheless, in support of possible future regulatory action, a number of groups of scientists have applied mathematical models to derive quantitative measures of the LRT potential (LRTP).

The development of the LRTP concept has been carried out mainly using multimedia compartment-based models in the hypothetical "evaluative" mode. The intention in this case is not to describe three-dimensional transport referenced to actual geographical coordinates and adopting realistic scenarios for emissions from defined locations. The models are merely used to explore in a generic way how the LRTP depends on substance properties, environmental properties, mode of entry into the environment, etc., and to assist substance evaluation, for instance by providing rankings of different compounds.

The LRTP has been expressed by different authors in terms of "spatial range (SR)" (Scheringer and coworkers), "characteristic travel distance (CTD)" (McKone, Matthies and coworkers), or similar descriptors. For overviews of these somewhat differing concepts, see Scheringer *et al*, 2001; Mackay *et al*, 2001; Scheringer and Wania, 2003.

The early work on LRTPs was reviewed by van de Meent *et al* (2000), who discussed three alternative derivations, based on the following approaches:

The "mixed compartment" approach: A multimedia box model is used to simulate a steady-state open system, in which the compartments are all well-mixed and the size of the system is just great enough for overall transformation flux of the compound in the various media to be equal to its advection flux out of the atmospheric compartment, each of these terms representing 50 % of the input into the system (see Figure 2). According to this approach, the <u>characteristic scale</u> or <u>characteristic travel distance</u> (<u>CTD</u>) is given by L = u_A.τ.F_A (van de Meent *et al*, 2000; Beyer *et al*, 2000), where u_A is the air compartment advection velocity (i.e. wind speed), τ is the overall multimedia lifetime or persistence (as defined by Bennett *et al*, 1999) and F_A is the fraction of the chemical present in the air compartment. The EQC model may be used for such calculations (Beyer *et al*, 2000);





2. The "Lagrangian" approach: The travel distance of a parcel of a mobile compartment (air or water) is calculated, such that a specified percentage of the initial amount of a compound in that moving cell is lost as the result of transformation and intermedia transport. This calculation is performed using a "Lagrangian" model (i.e. one in which composition changes are described relative to the moving fluid parcel, as opposed to the "Eulerian" approach of the box models, in which the coordinates are fixed in space). This Lagrangian approach considers the movement of a compound driven by advective flow (e.g. in air) over a non-mobile phase such as soil or vegetation. During transport, the concentration in the moving phase decreases as a consequence of transformation in each compartment and intermedia mass exchange. At steady state, there is a unique distance from the emission source at which the concentration has fallen to 37 % (1/e) of its initial value. This is the <u>characteristic travel distance</u> (Bennett *et al*, 1998) or travelling distance (van Pul *et al*, 1998), as illustrated in Figure 3. The basic assumptions involved are listed by van de Meent *et al* (2000);



Figure 3: The concept of characteristic travel distance in the Lagrangian approach (from van de Meent *et al*, 2000)

3. The "Eulerian multi-box" approach: In the ChemRange model (Scheringer, 1996, 1997, 2002; Scheringer and Wania, 2003; Scheringer *et al*, 2004a), the Earth is divided into a one-dimensional loop of interconnected 3-compartment latitudinal zones that exchange air and ocean water via dispersive eddy diffusion (rather than advection as in the two previous approaches), as illustrated in Figure 4. A chemical is released to one of the zones and the substance undergoes transport (driven by the concentration gradient), degradation and partitioning. The <u>spatial range (SR)</u> of the compound is defined as the distance that incorporates 95 % of area under the curve representing concentration as a function of distance from the source. The calculation can be performed for pulse or steady-state releases of chemicals. A more realistic geometry, in which the Earth is represented by a variable number of interconnected, well-mixed latitudinal zones (CliMoChem model, see Figure 5), was later proposed by Scheringer *et al* (2000).



Figure 4: Geometry of the Eulerian multi-box ChemRange model used by Scheringer and coworkers (from van de Meent *et al*, 2000)



Figure 5: Geometry of the Eulerian multi-box CliMoChem model used by Scheringer and coworkers (from Scheringer *et al*, 2000)

More recent work on the development of the concept of LRT potentials and the models used for deriving is presented in the following studies:

- The TaPL3 model has been developed specifically for calculating overall persistence and LRTP. It is based on the EQC model, but has no advective loss terms. It leads to an expression for the characteristic travel distance identical to that of approach 1 above (Beyer *et al*, 2000);
- Beyer *et al* (2000) introduced the concept of "stickiness", i.e. the fraction of a substance that will partition into a non-mobile medium such as soil or vegetation and hence retard transport. Sweetman *et al* (2005) also investigated the impact of adsorption to soil on characteristic travel distance;
- Wania and Mackay (2000b) compared atmospheric travel distances calculated using various models. Although the absolute values obtained varied substantially from model to model, the relative rankings were similar. This led the authors to suggest the use of a benchmark substance, with the transport criterion being expressed in the following terms "A chemical shall be considered as having the potential for atmospheric long-range transport if its calculated transport distance/spatial range in a typical regional level III [i.e. open, steady-state] multimedia model exceeds that of chemical X calculated under the same conditions". Wania and Mackay (2000b) also emphasised the fact that the LRTP depends on the mode of entry into the environment, i.e. the compartment into which the compound is emitted, as previously demonstrated for overall persistence (Webster *et al*, 1998). For instance, a substance emitted directly to the atmosphere;
- Other comparisons of models, and of the concepts of CTD and SR, were provided by Bennett *et al* (2001), Beyer *et al* (2001), Wania and Dugani (2003) and Stroebe *et al* (2004);
- Beyer and Matthies (2001) investigated the effect of combined transport in air and water on the CTD;
- Pennington (2001) presented a tiered methodology for deriving atmospheric travel distances, for screening purposes, using a minimum of environmental degradation data;
- Wania (2003) extended the LRTP concept by introducing "immediate and long-term Arctic Contamination Potentials" (ACPs), defined as the fractions of the total amount of a chemical present in surface media that reside in the Arctic after 1 or 10 years of steady emissions with a generic global distribution. Wania (2003) showed how the calculated ACPs depend on substance properties by plotting them in a 2-dimensional "space", the axes of which are the logarithms of the octanol-air and air-water partition coefficients (the latter being the adimensional Henry's Law constant);
- Beyer *et al* (2003) investigated how temperature influenced CTD by modifying degradation rates and partitioning;
- Scheringer *et al* (2004b) showed that inclusion of export to the deep sea with settling particles could considerably reduce the SRs of highly hydrophobic chemicals, calculated using the ChemRange model (see also Dachs *et al*, 2002);
- Leip and Lammel (2004) investigated various LRTP indicators using a global, dynamic (non steady-state), geo-referenced, multi-compartment chemistry-transport model with high spatial and temporal resolution. The authors demonstrated that the absolute values of LRTP and even the substance-to-substance rankings varied greatly not only with the geographical direction considered (N-S or W-E), but also with the location of release on the Earth's surface;

- Breivik et al (2004) used the CoZMo-POP model to show that seasonally varying environmental conditions (temperature, precipitation and atmospheric hydroxyl radical concentration) can cause the CTD to vary by a factor of ten or more over the course of a year. This corroborates the conclusion of Franklin et al (2000), namely that in winter months at mid to high latitudes, the hydroxyl concentration is so low that the vast majority of organic compounds have atmospheric half-lives greater than 2 days, a cutoff value proposed by several regulatory bodies as a criterion for determining propensity for LRT (see Chapter 7 below). Observational evidence provided by Hermanson et al (2005) also points to the effect of low reactivity in polar regions. A number of pesticides in current use having "global mean" atmospheric lifetimes of only hours are, nevertheless, found in an ice-core from the Norwegian Arctic. Their LRT from source regions is explained by low atmospheric OH concentrations and consequently enhanced persistence during winter months;
- Wania *et al* (2004) provided a useful analysis of the limitations and shortcomings of multimedia fate and transport models for predicting partitioning and LRTP of chemicals, particularly those that are very soluble in water and those that sorb strongly to atmospheric particles;
- Liu *et al* (2005) defined "transpacific transport potentials" as a function of the region of emission in Asia and atmospheric lifetime of the substance considered;
- As already mentioned above, empirical travel distances have been derived from observations on the latitudinal dependence of various families of chemicals in air (Shen *et al*, 2004, 2005) and water (Muir *et al*, 2004). The values obtained were compared to those calculated using various models;
- To address the need for critically examining the various existing models for determining
 persistence and LRTP, the OECD established an expert working group to assess their
 reliability and applicability (OECD, 2002, 2004). A recent paper (Fenner *et al*, 2005) by
 this group provides a comparison of nine models, using a set of 3175 hypothetical
 chemicals exhibiting a broad range of physico-chemical properties. It was concluded
 from this exercise that the <u>rankings</u> of persistence and LRTP are highly correlated
 among the models and are largely determined by the substance properties;
- Recently, Mackay (2005) has introduced the concept of "distant residence time (DRT)" as an indicator of LRTP. In a multi-box environmental model, the DRT is the proportionality constant at steady state between the inventory in a distant box and the discharge rate into the box where the compound is released.

4.7 Source-receptor relationships

Certain atmospheric models have been developed for the express purpose of exploring socalled "source-receptor" relationships. Such modelling is described as "receptor-oriented" if it is focused on the point of impact or, in other words, if it attempts to answer the question "At a given location, where do the pollutants come from?" On the other hand, modelling is regarded as "source-oriented" if it tracks contaminants away from a given source and aims at answering the question "Which downwind locations will be affected by these emissions?" Both questions are important yet sensitive ones, since they may have liability implications.

The receptor-oriented and source-oriented approaches involve establishing trajectories backwards to the source, or forwards from the emission point, respectively. Forward trajectories indicate where an air parcel will go, while backward trajectories describe where it came from. The impact at the receptor site may be expressed in terms of pollutant concentrations or deposition fluxes.

Trajectory models, which describe the paths taken by air parcels, are generally Lagrangian in nature since they are then computationally less demanding than purely Eulerian ones (Stohl, 1998; Seibert and Frank, 2004). However the hybrid Lagrangian-Eulerian model HYSPLIT (Draxler and Hess, 1998) has gained great popularity for studying source-receptor relationships, along with the Lagrangian models ATMOS (Arndt and Carmichael, 1995; Arndt *et al*, 1997, 1998), FLEXPART (Stohl *et al*; 1998, 2002b, 2003b; Stohl and Thompson, 1999) and STILT (Lin *et al*, 2003).

A detailed discussion of source-receptor relationships is beyond the scope of this dossier. A few illustrative, but far from comprehensive, examples of their use are nevertheless given below:

- Using HYSPLIT, Commoner *et al* (2000) estimated the amounts of PCDD/Fs emitted by 44000 sources – that are deposited in several communities of the Canadian High Arctic. The authors concluded that a fairly limited number of North American sources are responsible for almost all of the PCDD/Fs deposited on the territory of Nunavut;
- Cohen (2001) similarly assessed the origins of PCDD/Fs deposited in the Great Lakes;
- Han et al (2005) used HYSPLIT to trace the origin of atmospheric reactive gaseous mercury at rural locations in New York State. Coal-fired power plants and mining and smelting operations in the eastern USA and Canada were implicated;
- Arndt *et al* (1998) used the ATMOS model to determine the source-receptor relationships for sulphur deposition in various Asian countries;
- Astitha *et al* (2005) described a methodology for identifying the origin of air pollutants observed at a remote location in the Eastern Mediterranean;
- FLEXPART has been used extensively by Stohl and coworkers to characterise the origins of intercontinentally-transported biomass burning emissions, ozone and its precursors (Stohl, 1998, 2004; Stohl and Thompson, 1999; Stohl and Trickl, 1999; Stohl *et al*, 1998, 2002a, 2002b, 2003b, 2005; Damoah *et al*, 2004; Forster *et al*, 2001; Huntrieser *et al*, 2005; Trickl *et al*, 2003; Wenig *et al*, 2003);
- On the EMEP website (<u>http://www.emep.int/SR_data/sr.html</u>) one can find data, derived using the EMEP Eulerian model (Simpson *et al*, 2003b), on the contributions of various European countries to pollution by sulphur and nitrogen species, ozone and particulates in neighbouring countries. Similar data are also available for heavy metals and POPs/PBTs (<u>http://www.emep.int/index_pollutants.html</u>). The methodology used is discussed by Tarrasón *et al* (2003);
- Hopke and coworkers have contributed extensively to the application of statistical methods for the quantitative apportionment of air pollutants to their sources (e.g. Hopke *et al*, 1993, 2005; Begum *et al*, 2005). A complete bibliography can be found at <u>http://people.clarkson.edu/~hopkepk/project1.html</u>.
5 Potential impacts of Long-Range Transport

The potential impacts of LRT will not be analysed in any depth in the present dossier. The most significant effects will merely be listed, so as to illustrate the concerns that have led to the enacting of national and international regulations aimed at minimising the consequences of LRT. More detailed overviews of impacts can be found elsewhere (e.g. Ritter *et al*, 1995; WHO, 2000; CACAR, 2003b).

5.1 Human Health Impacts

5.1.1 Inhaled pollutants

Certain air pollutants – namely those that are inhaled – can lead to human health effects even without being deposited to the biosphere. The World Health Organization (WHO, 2000) lists four "classical" air pollutants: nitrogen dioxide, ozone, suspended particulate matter (particularly the finer fraction with a diameter less than 2.5 μ m) and sulphur dioxide. As discussed above, all these substances may undergo atmospheric LRT. Furthermore, all can contribute to or aggravate respiratory ailments, particularly in sensitive subjects such as asthmatics, children or the elderly (Lübkert-Alcamo and Krzyzanowski, 1995; WHO, 2000; NARSTO, 2000; IAQAB, 2002; USEPA, 2004; EEA, 2004).

While the concentrations of the pollutants are not necessarily high enough to cause significant harm to human health following LRT over distances of hundreds or thousands of kilometres, there are nevertheless instances when this may occur, especially for ozone and particles. When this is the case, fears are understandably raised that emissions in faraway places may cause the pollution control strategies and efforts of other nations or region to fall short of attaining local air quality objectives.

5.1.2 Ingested pollutants

Humans may also be adversely affected by pollutants arising from distant sources and ingested with drinking water or foodstuffs, for example as a result of LRT through the atmosphere and deposition onto soil, pastures, crops or water bodies, followed – in some cases – by biomagnification up the food chain, ultimately leading to high levels in fish, meat or dairy products.

Examples of particular concern include:

- Toxic metals: After deposition from the atmosphere, inorganic mercury can be converted by environmental microorganisms to the highly potent neurotoxin monomethylmercury, the concentration of which is biomagnified with increasing trophic level up the food chain (ATSDR, 1999a; UNEP, 2002b; CACAR, 2003b). Other toxic metals of special concern are lead and cadmium (ATSDR, 1999b, 1999c; CACAR, 2003b);
- Radionuclides: For instance, the potential global impact of the 1986 nuclear accident in Chernobyl (Ukraine) was assessed by Anspaugh *et al* (1988) and a slightly increased cancer incidence in northern Sweden has recently been linked to this accident (Tondel *et al*, 2004);
- POPs/PBTs: Most of the semi-volatile organic compounds discussed above are lipophilic in nature, especially the PCDDs, PCDFs, PCBs and chlorinated pesticides, including DDT and HCH. They tend to concentrate in the fatty tissues of living organisms and biomagnify from one species to the next up the food chain. Subsequent human dietary exposure to low levels of certain POPs/PBTs may be associated with a wide range of adverse effects, including endocrine disruption, immune dysfunction, neurological deficits, reproductive and developmental anomalies, behavioural abnormalities and carcinogenesis (Ritter *et al*, 1995; CACAR, 2003b).

Much attention has been paid to the impact of bioaccumulating substances on the native populations of the Arctic region, in response to concerns about the elevated concentrations of these contaminants in fish and wildlife species that are important components of the traditional diets of northern aboriginal peoples (CACAR, 2003a, 2003b).

5.1.3 Indirect impacts

"Indirect" effects on human health may result from the impact of persistent chemicals on the environment (to be outlined below). For instance, depletion of the stratospheric ozone layer leads to an enhanced flux of solar ultraviolet radiation at the earth's surface, which in turn can cause an increased incidence of skin cancer, cataracts, immune disorders, etc. (UNEP, 2003). Climate change, believed to be induced at least partially by anthropogenic chemicals (particularly CO_2 , CH_4 , N_2O and CFCs), globally dispersed in the atmosphere, can lead to a range of human health impacts, too numerous to even list here (IPCC, 2001a; EEA, 2004; Parmesan and Galbraith, 2004).

5.2 Environmental Impacts

5.2.1 Stratospheric ozone depletion

Volatile organic chlorine and bromine compounds that are emitted in substantial quantities and that have atmospheric persistence greater than about 1 year, contribute to depletion of the stratospheric ozone layer (WMO, 2002). Of particular concern in this respect are the CFCs, the halons, carbon tetrachloride, 1,1,1-trichloroethane and methyl bromide.

5.2.2 Climate forcing

The so-called "anthropogenic greenhouse gases" perturb the radiative balance between the solar visible and ultraviolet radiation reaching the earth's surface and the infrared energy radiated back to space. It is believed that the resulting "radiative forcing" leads to an increase in the average temperature at ground level and consequently to a whole host of climate-related impacts (IPCC, 2001a, 2001b). The most important greenhouse gases are the long-lived (and hence globally dispersed) compounds CO₂, CH₄, N₂O and the CFCs.

The climate forcing due to aerosols (sulphate, carbonaceous, dust, etc.) is complex and insufficiently characterised. Particles exert both a direct effect by scattering and absorbing solar and infrared radiation and an indirect effect by altering cloud formation processes. Overall, aerosols are probably responsible for a significant cooling effect, although black carbon is an important warming component (IPCC, 2001b, Chapter 5).

The numerous potential impacts of climate change on ecosystems are discussed in various recent reviews (IPCC, 2001a; EEA, 2004; Parmesan and Galbraith, 2004).

5.2.3 Tropospheric ozone formation – Photochemical smog

The formation of ozone and related oxidants in the troposphere by a complex suite of reactions involving CO and short-lived organic species, nitrogen oxides and sunlight, is a well known phenomenon, especially in densely populated areas in summer (NARSTO, 2000; USEPA, 2004, EEA, 2004).

However, in addition to this urban "photochemical smog" or "summer smog", the background levels of ozone in the remotest areas of the world have been rising inexorably for over a century, on account of LRT of ozone itself or its precursors, so that "global smog" is now becoming a concern (Hough and Derwent, 1990; Fishman *et al*, 1996; Levy *et al*, 1997; Wang and Jacob, 1998; Berntsen *et al*, 2000; IPCC, 2001b, Chapter 6; UNECE, 2003). It has been concluded that intercontinental transport of pollution can at least partially negate the results of local efforts to reduce critical exposure levels of ozone (Langmann *et al*, 2003; UNECE, 2003; Keating *et al*, 2004).

In addition to human health impacts, ozone is believed to contribute to adverse effects on vegetation, such as forest dieback and reduction in crop yields (NARSTO, 2000; USEPA, 2004; Giles, 2005a). In particular, the Mediterranean region has high ozone concentrations in summer (Millán *et al*, 1997), close to levels at which adverse effects on vegetation are observed (Fumagalli *et al*, 2001). Furthermore, ozone is a significant greenhouse gas (Berntsen *et al*, 2000; IPCC, 2001b, Chapter 6).

5.2.4 Acidification / Eutrophication

The increase in the acidity of precipitation, surface waters and soils, arising from anthropogenic emissions of NO and SO_2 , which are subsequently transformed into nitric and sulphuric acids, is well documented (Cowling, 1982; Galloway, 1995, 2001; Bouwman *et al*, 2002). In recent years, the atmospheric emission rates of these two gases have

exceeded natural rates by about 8 and 4 times, respectively (Galloway, 2001). Particularly noteworthy effects of increased acidity on ecosystems are mortality of aquatic biota and forest dieback (Nosengo, 2003; Galloway *et al*, 2004; Giles, 2005b). Significant damage to forests in Europe became a high-priority environmental issue around 1980, while lakes and rivers in Scandinavia lost fish populations due to acidification from the 1950s to the 1980s (Cowling, 1982; Matzner and Murach, 1995; UNEP, 2002a; Wright *et al*, 2005). However, SO₂ emissions have passed their peak values in all the major regions of the world and have been reduced very significantly in Europe and North America (Jeffries *et al*, 2003; Stern, 2005; Wright *et al*, 2005), leading to a decrease in acidity of precipitation and surface-water (Ruoho-Airola *et al*, 2004; Fowler *et al*, 2005; Skjelkvåle *et al*, 2005).

It should be noted that ammonia, which also undergoes atmospheric LRT, is another cause for concern. Although it is alkaline, when deposited to terrestrial ecosystems it can be converted to nitrate and exert an acidifying effect on soils and groundwaters. In some areas, soil acidification from nitrification of ammonia deposited from the atmosphere may be comparable to that from deposition of nitric acid (Galloway, 1995).

Non-biological impacts of atmospheric acidity are corrosion of metals and stone, the latter involving deterioration of mankind's long-term cultural heritage (Kucera and Fitz, 1995).

Cowling (1982) provides a detailed historical review on acid precipitation, from the 17th century to 1982, documenting in particular the rise of awareness in the 1960s and 1970s of the environmental consequences of this phenomenon.

In addition to the impact of acidity as such, nitrate and other forms of "fixed" (or "reactive") nitrogen can lead to the fertilisation and ultimately eutrophication of open-ocean, coastal, freshwater and terrestrial ecosystems, as well as to the contamination of groundwater. While nutrients play an essential role in aquatic environments, problems arise when inputs become excessive and/or the ratio between nutrients is substantially changed. Typical examples of such problems are increased algal growth, changes in the biological community structure and biodiversity, including the occurrence of harmful algae, oxygen depletion and mass mortality of benthic organisms and fish. For instance, occasional "red tides" or coastal algal blooms are observed that may be devastating in their impact (Kahru et al, 2004; Cloern et al, 2005) and the Baltic Sea is suffering from severe eutrophication (Rönnberg and Bonsdorff, 2004). The LRT impact of eutrophying pollutants may result either from atmospheric deposition of nitrate or ammonia, or from riverine transport of dissolved nitrogen species (Galloway et al, 1995; Anderson et al, 2002; Prepas and Charette, 2003; Bouwman et al, 2002; Bouwman et al, 2005). Increasing reactive nitrogen in the environment and the resulting eutrophication is regarded by certain authors as one of the major challenges of global change (Nosengo, 2003; Galloway et al, 2004; Giles, 2005b).

5.2.5 Visibility impairment

Various types of atmospheric aerosols lead to visibility impairment. Classic examples involving LRT include the Arctic haze and the "brown cloud" that frequently extends over broad areas of Asia (ASEAN, 2001; Wooster and Strub, 2002; UNEP-C⁴, 2002; Park *et al*, 2003; CACAR, 2003a; Langmann and Heil, 2004; Benkovitz *et al*, 2004; Cyranoski and Fuyuno, 2005).

5.2.6 Mercury

The potential toxicological effects of mercury on wildlife (central nervous system, kidneys, reproduction, etc.) and ecosystems have been reviewed by UNEP (2002b).

5.2.7 Persistent organic pollutants

Experimentally, POPs/PBTs have been associated with significant environmental impacts in a wide range of species at virtually all trophic levels. For certain POPs/PBTs, there is some experimental evidence that low-level exposures may be associated with chronic non-lethal effects including endocrine disruption, immunotoxicity, impairment of reproductive performance and carcinogenicity (Ritter *et al*, 1995; AMAP, 2004). A discussion of the validity of these findings is beyond the scope of this dossier.

5.2.8 Interactions

The linkages between the impacts of "traditional" air pollutants and of those responsible for climate change have been reviewed by EEA (2004).

5.3 Evolution of the perceived "spatial scale" of air pollution

Keating *et al* (2004) point out that, while certain environmental and human health impacts have always been considered to be more or less global in scope (nuclear fallout, stratospheric ozone depletion and climate forcing), in other cases the perception of the "spatial scale" has evolved over the past decades. Thus, for photochemical smog, acid rain and aerosol particles, a gradual reassessment of the issues has occurred over time, with the focus shifting from the local or regional scale to a more global perspective.

Keating *et al* (2004) describe the various pressures leading to a "tightening vice" of air pollution management. On the one hand, local emissions of the most acutely harmful air pollutants have been abated fairly successfully – at least in the developed countries – and further reductions are more and more difficult and costly to achieve. On the other hand, local air quality standards are becoming more stringent, while at the same time emissions in the developing world are rising and leading to increases in the regional and/or global background pollutant concentrations.

Consequently, there is an increasing emphasis on pollutants prone to LRT, as regulators look to "upwind" jurisdictions to control their share of emissions.

6 International Regulatory and Monitoring Agreements

In view of the observed LRT and potential impacts of a wide range of substances, as discussed above, a number of international agreements have been concluded in order to address and alleviate the underlying problems. Essentially, this is to be achieved by prescribing reductions in emissions, restrictions on use, or ultimate phase-out.

6.1 Agreements that Explicitly Address Transboundary Pollution or Long-Range Transport

6.1.1 UNECE LRTAP Convention

Broad international cooperation to combat the impacts that pollutants emitted from one nation have on its neighbours or more distant regions began in 1979, when the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) concluded its framework Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution (<u>http://www.unece.org/env/lrtap/</u>). This agreement now has 49 parties, including not only "European" countries, interpreted broadly, but also the United States and Canada.

Although the LRTAP Convention was aimed initially at responding to the challenge posed by acid rain, a total of eight protocols have now been negotiated, identifying specific measures to be taken by the parties for a range of air pollutants:

- The 1984 Geneva Protocol on Long-term Financing of the Cooperative Programme for Monitoring and Evaluation of the Long-range Transmission of Air Pollutants in Europe (EMEP);
- The 1985 Helsinki Protocol on the Reduction of Sulphur Emissions or their Transboundary Fluxes by at least 30 per cent;
- The 1988 Sophia Protocol concerning the Control of Nitrogen Oxides or their Transboundary Fluxes;
- The 1991 Geneva Protocol concerning the Control of Emissions of Volatile Organic Compounds or their Transboundary Fluxes (targeting the most reactive volatile compounds);
- The 1994 Oslo Protocol on Further Reduction of Sulphur Emissions;
- The 1998 Aarhus Protocol on Heavy Metals (targeting mercury, cadmium and lead);
- The 1998 Aarhus Protocol on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs), targeting aldrin, chlordane, chlordecone, DDT, dieldrin, endrin, HCHs, heptachlor, hexabromobiphenyl, hexachlorobenzene, mirex, PAHs, PCBs, PCDDs, PCDFs, pentachlorophenol and toxaphene, with provisions for addition of further substances in the future;
- The 1999 Gothenburg Protocol to Abate Acidification, Eutrophication and Ground-level Ozone (targeting sulphur, nitrogen oxides, ammonia and reactive VOCs).

All of these protocols have been signed and ratified by sub-sets of the parties to the 1979 Convention and all have entered into force.

The LRTAP Convention is backed up by EMEP (<u>http://www.emep.int/</u>), a co-operative programme for monitoring and evaluation of the LRT of air pollutants in Europe.

6.1.2 UNEP POPs – Stockholm Convention

An important milestone in international cooperation on global dispersion and impact of pollutants was the conclusion in 2001 of the United Nations Environment Programme's Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (<u>http://www.pops.int/</u>). This agreement, whose geographical representation is much broader than that of the UNECE POPs protocol – since it includes many non-European and developing states – entered into force in 2004 and currently has 112 parties. It targets the following 12 compounds or families of compounds: aldrin, chlordane, DDT, dieldrin, endrin, heptachlor, hexachlorobenzene, mirex, PCBs, PCDDs, PCDFs and toxaphene. There are provisions for the addition of further substances.

6.1.3 U.S. - Canada Air Quality Agreement

The 1991 "Agreement Between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of Canada on Air Quality"

(<u>http://www.epa.gov/airmarkets/usca/agreement.html</u>) was negotiated mainly to reduce emissions of SO_2 and NOx and hence the transboundary acid deposition caused by these gases. However, an annex to the agreement also provides for the monitoring of other air pollutants of concern.

6.1.4 The Great Lakes Binational Toxics Strategy

The Canada - United States "Strategy for the Virtual Elimination of Persistent Toxic Substances in the Great Lakes" (<u>http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/p2/bns.html</u>), was approved in 1997. It is based on the "Revised Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement" of 1978 (<u>http://www.ijc.org/php/publications/pdf/ID609.pdf</u>) and covers not only a range of organochlorines, PAHs and other POPs/PBTs, but also certain compounds of mercury, cadmium, lead and tin. Although the focus of the treaty is on pollution of the Great Lakes by emissions from within the United States and Canada, LRT from worldwide sources is also considered explicitly.

6.1.5 The International Joint Commission (U.S. - Canada)

The International Joint Commission (<u>http://www.ijc.org/en/home/main_accueil.htm</u>) assists the United States and Canada in the protection of the transboundary environment, including the implementation of the "Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement" and the improvement of transboundary air quality.

6.1.6 North American Agreement on Environmental Cooperation

In 1993, the NAFTA countries Canada, Mexico and the United States signed the North American Agreement on Environmental Cooperation (NAAEC). A draft "North American Agreement on Transboundary Environmental Impact Assessment" was published in 1997 and the current "Agenda for Action" of the North American Commission for Environmental Cooperation (NACEC, <u>http://www.cec.org</u>) includes provisions for addressing air pollution problems within transboundary airsheds:

(http://www.cec.org/pubs_info_resources/law_treat_agree/pbl.cfm?varlan=english) (http://www.cec.org/files/pdf/POLLUTANTS/311-03-05_en.pdf)

NACEC's "Sound Management of Chemicals" project aims, *inter alia*, at identifying priority chemical pollution issues of regional concern. Protocols on both POPs/PBTs and metals (Hg, Cd, Pb) are being considered:

(<u>http://www.cec.org/programs_projects/pollutants_health/project/index.cfm?projectID=25&v</u> <u>arlan=english</u>).

6.1.7 ASEAN Agreement

In 1994, the 10 Southeast Asian nations belonging to the ASEAN partnership agreed to the formulation of a "Cooperation Plan on Transboundary Pollution"

(<u>http://www.aseansec.org/8938.htm</u>). Although not restricted to atmospheric pollution, a major motivation of this agreement was clearly combating the haze from forest fires and biomass burning that regularly affects the whole region (ASEAN, 2001). Indeed, a specific "ASEAN Agreement on Transboundary Haze Pollution" was signed in 2002 (<u>http://www.fire.uni-freiburg.de/media/2003/WSSD-ASEAN-Agreement.pdf</u>).

6.1.8 East Asia Network

The "Acid Deposition Monitoring Network in East Asia" (EANET, <u>http://www.adorc.gr.jp/</u>) was initiated in 1998 by 12 East Asian Nations, including Japan, China, Korea and Russia. This cooperation covers only scientific activities on acid deposition and atmospheric oxidants, without any regulatory prerogatives.

6.1.9 Malé Declaration

Eight South Asian governments approved the 1998 "Malé Declaration on Control and Prevention of Air Pollution and its Likely Transboundary Effects for South Asia". The stated aim of this agreement is to achieve intergovernmental cooperation to address the increasing threat of transboundary air pollution and consequential impacts due to concentrations of pollutant gases and acid deposition on human health, ecosystem function and corrosion of materials (http://www.rrcap.unep.org/issues/air/maledec/aw_md.cfm).

6.1.10 Harare Resolution

Seven southern African nations endorsed the 1998 "Harare Resolution on the Prevention and Control of Regional Air Pollution in Southern Africa and its likely Transboundary Effects" (http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/sei/rapidc2/apina/apina-resolution.html).

6.1.11 Arctic Council activities

The "Plan to Eliminate Pollution of the Arctic", approved in 2000 by the Arctic Council, i.e. an intergovernmental forum of the nations bordering the Arctic, was created to address pollution sources identified through the Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme, established in 1991 (Arctic Council, 2001; AMAP, 2002, 2004; <u>http://www.arctic-council.org/en/main/infopage/5/#amap</u>). The transboundary nature of such pollution is self-evident. First-phase priority will be given to POPs/PBTs, heavy metals, radioactivity and ozone-depleting substances.

The "Programme for the Protection of the Arctic Marine Environment (PAME)", established in 1983, is another initiative of the Arctic Council involving transboundary pollution (http://www.pame.is/).

6.1.12 OSPAR Convention

The 1992 Oslo and Paris (OSPAR) "Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic" (<u>http://www.ospar.org/</u>) entered into force in 1998. Its contracting parties are 15 European countries and the European Community. OSPAR aims to prevent pollution of the North-East Atlantic by continuously reducing discharges, emissions and losses of hazardous substances (identified by specific "persistence, bioaccumulation and toxicity" criteria), with the ultimate aim of achieving concentrations in the marine environment near background values for naturally-occurring substances or close to zero for man-made substances. The prevention of pollution from land-based sources, as well as offshore ones, dumping and incineration are specifically cited in the Convention. Atmospheric, riverine and anthropogenic LRT is therefore a concern.

6.1.13 Helsinki Convention

The 1992 Helsinki "Convention on the Protection of the Marine Environment of the Baltic Sea Area" (HELCOM: <u>http://www.helcom.fi/helcom.html</u>) entered into force in 2000. The contracting parties are seven nations bordering the Baltic, and the European Community. The aims and focus of the Convention are similar to those of OSPAR, but transposed to the Baltic.

6.1.14 Barcelona Convention

The 1976 Barcelona "Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment and the Coastal Region of the Mediterranean" (<u>http://www.unepmap.org/home.asp</u>) entered into force in 1978. The contracting parties are 21 states bordering the Mediterranean Sea, and the European Community. Protocols to the agreement relate to protection against pollution of the Mediterranean from land-based sources, dumping of hazardous wastes, etc..

6.1.15 UNEP Regional Seas Programme

The "Global Programme of Action for the Protection of the Marine Environment from Land-Based Activities" (<u>http://www.gpa.unep.org/default.htm</u>) was initiated by UNEP in 1974 and currently includes 13 regions, with 140 participating coastal states. The Barcelona Convention is the legal instrument for UNEP's "Mediterranean Action Plan" (<u>http://www.unepmap.org/</u>), which is one of the components of the Regional Seas programme. Similarly, the legal framework for the "Caribbean Action Plan" is the Cartagena Convention, adopted in 1983 (<u>http://www.cep.unep.org/law/cartnut.html</u>).

6.1.16 Basel Convention

UNEP's "Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal" (<u>http://www.basel.int/</u>) was adopted in Basel in 1989. It entered into force in 1992 and counts most of the world's nations as parties. This convention aims at reducing cross-border movements of hazardous wastes. It therefore addresses certain problems posed by "anthropogenic" LRT.

6.2 Agreements in which Long-Range Transport is Implicitly Included

In addition to the agreements listed above, in which transboundary pollution is addressed as a specific concern, there are other major international treaties that do not explicitly mention LRT, but whose focus is nevertheless on environmental and human health impacts of a global nature, caused by the release of substances that become broadly dispersed in the environment.

Particularly noteworthy in this respect are the international conventions addressing stratospheric ozone depletion and climate change. The compounds currently regulated under these agreements are all volatile substances having atmospheric lifetimes ranging from months to millennia. They are thus highly prone to LRT and become distributed throughout the atmosphere on a hemispheric or even global scale.

6.2.1 Montreal Protocol

UNEP's 1987 "Montreal Protocol [to the 1985 Vienna Convention] on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer", together with the various Amendments and Adjustments agreed since its entry into force in 1989 (<u>http://www.unep.org/ozone</u>), aims at reducing emissions of ozone-depleting substances and ultimately phasing them out. The target compounds are CFCs, HCFCs, halons, carbon tetrachloride, 1,1,1-trichloroethane and methyl bromide.

6.2.2 Kyoto Protocol

UNEP's 1997 "Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change" (<u>http://unfccc.int/essential_background/kyoto_protocol/items/2830.php</u>) has the objective of reducing emissions of the main greenhouse gases: CO_2 , CH_4 , N_2O , HFCs, PFCs and SF_6 . Despite their significant contribution to global warming, CFCs are not included, since they are scheduled for phase-out under the Montreal Protocol.

7 Regulatory Criteria Expressing the Propensity of a Substance to Undergo Long-Range Transport

Certain of the international treaties discussed in the previous chapter, as well as some national or regional regulations, include a criterion for expressing the ability of a substance to undergo LRT. This characteristic is generally one item of a set of criteria used to determine whether or not a compound should be classified as a POP/PBT. These sets of criteria will be used for adding new compounds to the lists of substances covered by the respective agreements or regulations. However, some form of expert judgement may also be required, in addition to strict compliance with the numerical "bright-line" criteria, before a new compound is listed.

Not all definitions of POPs/PBTs include a specific LRT criterion, although many do have a criterion for persistence in the atmosphere, which effectively determines the potential for atmospheric LRT.

The main POP/PBT criteria have been summarised by Euro Chlor (2003).

7.1 Monitoring evidence

In the case of the UNECE-LRTAP Aarhus Protocol on POPs, the procedure for addition of new substances includes submitting a "risk profile", based on criteria defined by UNECE Executive Body Decision 1998/2

(<u>http://www.unece.org/env/documents/2000/ece/eb/ece%20eb%20air.60.e.pdf</u>). The potential for long-range transboundary atmospheric transport is defined by certain physico-chemical properties of the substance (to be discussed below) or, alternatively, by "monitoring data showing that the substance is found in remote regions".

In the case of the UNEP Stockholm Convention on POPs, the screening criteria for additional compounds are listed in its Annex D

(<u>http://www.pops.int/documents/convtext/convtext_en.pdf</u>). Information is to be provided on "measured levels of the chemical in locations distant from the sources of its release that are of potential concern". Additionally, the criterion "monitoring data showing that long-range environmental transport of the chemical, with the potential for transfer to a receiving environment, may have occurred via air, water or migratory species" is listed as a possible alternative to consideration of certain environmental fate properties or model results (to be discussed below).

NACEC's draft "Sound Management of Chemicals Process (SMOC) for Identifying Candidate Substances for Regional Action"

(<u>http://www.cec.org/programs_projects/pollutants_health/smoc/criter.cfm?varlan=english</u>) adopts similar language, since it provides for examining "monitoring evidence of transboundary transport for metals or POPs/PBTs (e.g. appearance in biota)".

The Canadian Toxic Substances Management Policy (TSMP) includes persistence in any one of four media as one of the criteria to be fulfilled for scheduling chemicals for virtual elimination. The regulation states that "a substance may be considered as persistent in air if it is shown to be subject to atmospheric transport to remote regions such as the Arctic" (<u>http://www.ec.gc.ca/toxics/TSMP/en/track1.cfm</u>).

It should be borne in mind that monitoring evidence as a measure of LRT can only be used *a posteriori*, once the substance has been released to the environment and not prior to its commercialisation.

7.2 Modelling evidence

The UNEP POPs Convention adopts, as evidence for LRT potential and as an alternative to monitoring data, "environmental fate properties and/or model results that demonstrate that the chemical has a potential for long-range environmental transport through air, water or migratory species, with the potential for transfer to a receiving environment in locations distant from the sources of its release". There is an additional proviso in this respect that "for a chemical that migrates significantly through the air, its half-life should be greater than two days".

The UNECE-LRTAP POPs Protocol defines a procedure for reviewing "risk profiles" submitted with a view to adding new substances. This procedure includes an evaluation of "the monitoring or equivalent scientific information suggesting long-range transboundary atmospheric transport". It is likely that modelling evidence would be deemed "equivalent" to monitoring.

7.3 Vapour pressure

The UNECE-LRTAP POPs Protocol includes, as a criterion for atmospheric LRT potential, "evidence that the substance has a vapour pressure below 1,000 Pa and an atmospheric half-life greater than 2 days". The vapour pressure criterion warrants some explanation. Clearly, high volatility would be no impediment to atmospheric LRT; indeed, the opposite is the case. Some clue as to the motivation behind the volatility criterion is given by a background document to the UNECE criteria (AEAT, 1995), which states that "substances with vapour pressure > 1000 Pa are considered so volatile that they will remain predominantly in the atmosphere and not transfer to the condensed phase". This is only partially true: for instance, some substances are very volatile, but also highly soluble in water, so they would partition to aqueous compartments. In any case, the 1000 Pa upper limit does not represent a low enough volatility for substantial uptake of the substance to particles in the atmosphere, which would require a vapour pressure about 5 orders of magnitude lower (Bidleman, 1988). The fraction of the substance that partitions to other "condensed" phases (water, soil, sediment, biota) depends not only on volatility, but also on the affinity of the substance for these phases (hydrophilicity, lipophilicity). So it would seem that the 1000 Pa cut-off is just a crude demarcation that enables one to avoid classifying as POPs a large number of very volatile compounds (including those targeted by the Montreal and Kyoto Protocols), without having to go through an assessment of their toxicity or tendency to bioaccumulate.

The NACEC-SMOC draft includes this same "vapour pressure < 1000 Pa" criterion, also with the proviso that air persistence is > 2 days.

Although some volatility is obviously necessary for atmospheric LRT, compounds with extremely low vapour pressures have been found in remote regions far from their presumed sources. This is the case, for example, for a number of currently used pesticides, having vapour pressures ranging from 10^{-8} to 5 x 10^{-2} Pa, found in an ice core from the Norwegian Arctic (Hermanson *et al*, 2005).

7.4 Atmospheric half-life

An atmospheric half-life greater than 2 days is a common criterion, either for LRT as such or for persistence. This numerical value is included in the following treaties and regulations: UNECE-LRTAP POPs Protocol, UNEP POPs Convention, NACEC-SMOC and Canada-TSMP. The scientific basis for this value has been discussed by Bidleman (1997) and Rodan *et al* (1999). As has been mentioned above, a 2-day half-life roughly corresponds to the lower limit for intercontinental atmospheric transport, except under exceptional meteorological circumstances.

7.5 Half-life in water

Many treaties and regulations do not list any specific criteria for LRT or for persistence in the atmosphere, but do assess chemicals on the basis of their persistence in other media. These include marine or fresh water, which is of course relevant to riverine and oceanic LRT. Half-lives in water greater than thresholds between 40 days and 6 months are

generally adopted as a criterion for persistence in water (Rodan *et al*, 1999; Euro Chlor, 2003).

8 Summary and Conclusions

Long-Range Transport (LRT) is a phenomenon which encompasses many classes of natural and anthropogenic substances and affects every point of the globe. It is, nevertheless, often presented and perceived merely as a process by which semi-volatile organic compounds are emitted at tropical or temperate latitudes, migrate northwards through the atmosphere in a series of volatilisation-recondensation cycles or "hops", and finally accumulate in the Arctic and Antarctic food chain, to the detriment of the indigenous populations. While this image is not totally incorrect, the present dossier amply demonstrates that it is overly simplistic.

The atmosphere being the most mobile of the environmental media, air is a major vector for LRT. However, it is not the only one: for non-volatile, water-soluble substances, transport along rivers and through the oceans is preponderant. Furthermore, in specific cases, migratory animal species, drifting ice and anthropogenic transport for commercial or other reasons can all play a role in the worldwide environmental dispersion of chemicals.

Intercontinental atmospheric transport generally occurs on a time-scale of about 3-30 days. Pollutants lofted into the free troposphere by deep convection, mountain-slope forcing or frontal systems will typically travel further and faster than those that are simply advected horizontally in the atmospheric boundary layer. The time-scale for dissolved species to be transported by ocean currents from northern mid-latitudes to the Arctic is several years.

Volatile pollutants with atmospheric lifetimes of years or longer experience no impediment to LRT once they are emitted to air. Whatever the location and timing of their release, their concentrations become practically uniform throughout the atmosphere, so the emission of a given amount anywhere on Earth makes the same contribution to global pollution. This is the case, for example, for the major greenhouse gases carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide, as well as for the ozone-depleting chlorofluorocarbons and halons. For air pollutants with lifetimes of several months, concentrations become fairly uniform within the hemisphere of emission, but not in the opposite hemisphere, since crossing the equatorial "barrier" takes about a year. For shorter-lived pollutants with atmospheric lifetimes of days or weeks, the propensity of a substance to undergo atmospheric LRT depends on its intrinsic physico-chemical properties (reactivity, volatility and water solubility), as well as on its mode of entry into the environment, the location and time of its emission and the prevailing meteorological conditions.

Atmospheric transboundary and intercontinental LRT is well documented for many classes of substances. While some of these are purely or primarily anthropogenic (e.g. pesticides, PCBs, lead, and radioactive fallout from nuclear testing and accidents), others have partly natural and partly man-made sources. Examples of such substances of mixed origin are carbonaceous particles, carbon monoxide, nitric oxide and other combustion by-products; ozone arising from atmospheric reactions of the afore-mentioned; sulphur dioxide and sulphate aerosols; mercury; and a range of volatile organics including some halogenated species, such as methyl chloride, methyl bromide, chloroform and bromoform. Finally, a number of substances of exclusively natural origin are also well known to undergo intercontinental LRT. Examples are desert sand, soil dust, volcanic ash, sea salt, pollen, pathogenic microbes and natural radionuclides (e.g. ²¹⁰Pb resulting from the decay of radon).

Contributions to understanding the major atmospheric LRT pathways have been made by analysing samples taken at ground level, as well as from balloons and aircraft, with back-up from satellite observations and modelling studies.

The winds blowing from the west at mid-latitudes exert a major influence on intercontinental atmospheric LRT, leading to certain preferential pathways. There is an increasing awareness of transport of pollution from Asia to North America. The substances involved include ozone and its precursors, suspended particles, sulphur dioxide and sulphate aerosols, pesticides and mercury. In turn, Europe is affected by pollutants from North

America, while Asia is impacted by European emissions. In the southern hemisphere, there is also evidence for eastward transport of pollution, from southern Africa to Australia, New Zealand and the islands of the southern Pacific. Towards the equator, the easterly trade winds tend to govern atmospheric circulation, as illustrated by the transport of sand from North African deserts to the central part of the American continent. In the polar regions too, the air flow is mainly from the east. However, the general pattern of westerly or easterly circulation is disrupted over broad areas of the globe, so that atmospheric LRT also occurs in other directions, often with a seasonal dependence. A few illustrative examples are: transport of Saharan dust northwards to Europe in spring and summer; inflow of "haze" (mainly due to sulphur species) into the Arctic from Eurasia in winter; the contamination of Sweden and Finland by fallout from the nuclear accident at Chernobyl in Ukraine; and the presence in the "pristine" polar ice-caps of pesticides and heavy metals (including Pb from metallurgical operations carried out several millennia ago).

Air quality at a given location can be influenced by emissions from another continent either through an increase in the more or less ubiquitous hemispheric background levels of pollution, or through discrete episodic flows of enhanced pollutant levels.

A broad range of numerical models has been developed and applied for predicting how chemicals are distributed in the environment and for assessing their overall persistence and long-range transport potential (LRTP). These models range in complexity from simple "evaluative" multimedia box models to three-dimensional, georeferenced general circulation chemistry-transport models with high spatial resolution. Several comparative studies have led to the conclusion that most models predict similar rankings of LRTP values for sets of chemicals encompassing widely varying physico-chemical properties. Most models account for the "grasshopper effect" by which semi-volatile chemicals undergo repeated cycles of volatilisation and partitioning to condensed phases, while some models even allow for the calculation of the number of "hops" taken by a chemical on its journey from warmer to colder latitudes. Certain models have been developed for the express purpose of exploring source-receptor relationships, i.e. to answer questions such as "Where does pollution at this location come from?" or "Which downwind areas will be affected by emissions from regions of production?"

It should be emphasised that LRT is not in itself a concern, but only a trigger for potential concern, which will be warranted if the pollutant is demonstrated or predicted to have an impact at a receptor site. Such an impact may affect the atmosphere itself (e.g. ozone depletion, global warming or photochemical smog formation) or may cause an adverse effect on human health through inhalation, in which case the pollutant will be harmful even without being deposited to the Earth's surface. In many instances, however, deposition followed by uptake into living organisms, possibly with accumulation through the food chain, is a prerequisite for damage to the environment or human health. Each chemical needs to be evaluated in this respect on a case-by-case basis, with the potential for LRT being assessed in conjunction with potentially adverse properties, such as persistence, bioaccumulation, toxicity and the capacity to affect the atmosphere.

Numerous impacts may be caused by substances transported to locations remote from their emission sources. Human health may be adversely affected by inhalation of airborne pollutants (e.g. nitrogen dioxide, ozone, suspended particles, or sulphur dioxide, all of which contribute to respiratory ailments) or by ingestion of deposited substances with food or drinking water (e.g. heavy metals, radionuclides or POPs/PBTs, each substance having its own diverse toxicological end-points). The environment itself is also vulnerable to certain long-range transported chemicals. Apart from the atmospheric impacts noted above (namely ozone depletion, climate warming and photochemical smog, all of which can be harmful to both human health and ecosystems), major concerns arise from transboundary pollution by sulphur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and ammonia, which are converted into acids that cause damage to forests, lakes and rivers, as well as to materials of construction. In addition to their role in acidification of the environment, nitrogen oxides also lead to eutrophication of freshwater bodies and coastal zones, subsequent to LRT of NOx through the atmosphere or of nitrate with groundwater and rivers. Visibility impairment of broad areas of the Earth is another consequence of atmospheric LRT. Noteworthy examples are the Arctic haze and the huge Asian "brown cloud". For certain POPs/PBTs, there is some evidence that low-level exposures may be associated with chronic non-lethal effects

including endocrine disruption, immunotoxicity, dermal effects, impairment of reproductive performance and carcinogenicity.

Broad international cooperation to combat the impacts that pollutants emitted from one nation have on its neighbours or more distant regions began in 1979, when the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) concluded its framework Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution. This agreement, whose parties include the United States and Canada as well as European nations, was aimed initially at responding to the challenge posed by acid rain, but a total of eight protocols have now been negotiated. These cover, amongst others, tropospheric ozone precursors, heavy metals, POPs/PBTs and substances responsible for eutrophication. Another important milestone in international cooperation on global dispersion and impact of pollutants was the conclusion in 2001 of the United Nations Environment Programme's Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, whose geographical representation is much broader than that of the UNECE POPs protocol - since it includes many non-European and developing states. In addition to these two conventions that fall under the aegis of the United Nations, there are many other regional agreements whose principal or ancillary objective is to protect various territories or seas from transboundary pollution. Such agreements cover: the NAFTA countries (USA, Canada and Mexico): the North American Great Lakes: various groupings of Asian countries; an alliance of southern African nations: the Arctic: the North-East Atlantic; the Baltic; the Mediterranean; the Caribbean; and a number of other "regional seas".

Many of the major international agreements on harmful substances define criteria expressing the propensity of a compound to undergo LRT. This information can be used in conjunction with other properties (persistence in various environmental media, tendency to bioaccumulate, toxicity, ozone depleting and global warming potentials, etc.) to determine whether or not to schedule the chemical concerned for regulatory action. A common metric for LRT is atmospheric persistence, characterised by a half-life greater than 2 days (i.e. a lifetime > 3 days), which – as mentioned above – is the approximate lower limit for intercontinental atmospheric transport. A secondary criterion in several conventions is "monitoring evidence in remote regions" (such as the Arctic). This measure of LRT can, however, only be used *a posteriori*, once the substance has been released to the environment and not prior to its commercialisation.

While certain environmental and human health impacts of chemicals have always been considered to be more or less global in scope (nuclear fallout, stratospheric ozone depletion and climate forcing), in other cases the perception of the "spatial scale" has evolved over the past decades. Thus, for photochemical smog, acid rain and aerosol particles, a gradual reassessment of the issues has occurred over time, with the focus shifting from the local or regional scale to a more global perspective. Indeed, local emissions of the most acutely harmful air pollutants have been abated fairly successfully at least in the developed countries. Further reductions are more and more difficult and costly to achieve. On the other hand, local air quality standards are becoming more stringent, while at the same time emissions in the developing world are rising and leading to increases in the regional and/or global background pollutant concentrations - tropospheric ozone being a noteworthy example. Consequently, there is an increasing emphasis on pollutants prone to LRT, as national regulators become only too aware of their diminishing scope for effective action and look to "upwind" jurisdictions to control their share of emissions. Indeed, fears are understandably raised that intercontinental transport of pollution will at least partially negate the results of local efforts to reduce critical exposure levels.

9 References

AEAT, 1995. Proposed procedure for incorporating new substances into the UNECE Protocol on Long Range Atmospheric Transport of Persistent Organic Pollutants. AEA Technology, Culham, U.K. (http://www.aeat.co.uk/netcen/airgual/reports/unece/pops/popsprocedure.pdf)

Agrell C, Okla L, Larsson P, Backe C, Wania F, 1999. Evidence of latitudinal fractionation of polychlorinated biphenyl congeners along the Baltic Sea region. *Environmental Science & Technology* **33**(8), 1149-1156

Alpert P, Ganor E, 2001. Sahara mineral dust measurements from TOMS: Comparison to surface observations over the Middle East for the extreme dust storm, March 14–17, 1998. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **106**(D16), 18275-18286

AMAP, 1998. Assessment Report: Arctic pollution issues (1998). Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme, Oslo, Norway

(http://amap.no/documents/index.cfm?dirsub=/AMAP%20Assessment%20Report:%20Arctic%20Pollution%20Issu es&sort=default)

AMAP, 2002. Arctic pollution 2002. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme, Oslo, Norway (<u>http://www.amap.no/</u>)

AMAP, 2004. AMAP Assessment 2002: Persistent organic pollutants in the Arctic. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme, Oslo, Norway (<u>http://www.amap.no/</u>)

Anderson DM, Glibert PM, Burkholder JM, 2002. Harmful algal blooms and eutrophication: Nutrient sources, composition, and consequences. *Estuaries* **25**(4), 704-726

Ansmann A, Bösenberg J, Chaikowsky A, Comerón A, Eckhardt S, Eixmann R, Freudenthaler V, Ginoux P, Komguem L, Linné H, López Márquez MA, Matthias V, Mattis I, Mitev V, Müller D, Music S, Nickovic S, Pelon J, Sauvage L, Sobolewsky P, Sristava MK, Stohl A, Torres O, Vaughan G, Wandinger U, Wegner M, 2003. Long-range-transport of Saharan dust to northern Europe: The 11-16 October 2001 outbreak observed with EARLINET. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D24), 4783, doi:10.1029/2003JD003757

Anspaugh LR, Catlin RJ, Goldman M, 1988. The global impact of the Chernobyl reactor accident. Science 242, 1513-1519

Aoyama M, 1988. Evidence of stratospheric fallout of caesium isotopes from the Chernobyl accident. *Geophysical Research Letters* **15**(4), 327-330

Arctic Council, 2001. Arctic Council action plan to eliminate pollution of the Arctic. Arctic Council (<u>http://www.arctic-council.org/files/infopage/93/ACAP2001.pdf</u>)

Arndt RL, Carmichael GR, 1995. Long-range transport and deposition of sulfur in Asia. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 85, 2283-2288

Arndt RL, Carmichael GR, Streets DG, Bhatti N, 1997. Sulfur dioxide emissions and sectorial contributions to sulfur deposition in Asia. *Atmospheric Environment* **31**(10), 1553-1572

Arndt RL, Carmichael GR, Rourda JM, 1998. Seasonal source-receptor relationships in Asia. *Atmospheric Environment* **32**(8), 1397-1406

ASEAN, 2001. Fire, Smoke and Haze – The ASEAN response strategy. Association of Southeast Asian Nations and Asian Development Bank. Ed. S.T. Qadri (<u>http://www.aseansec.org/pdf/fsh.pdf</u>)

Asman WAH, Jørgensen A, Bossi R, Vejrup KV, Mogensen BB, Glasius M, 2005. Wet deposition of pesticides and nitrophenols at two sites in Denmark: measurements and contributions from regional sources. *Chemosphere* **59**(7), 1023-1031

Astitha M, Kallos G, Mihalopoulos N, 2005. Analysis of air quality observations with the aid of the source-receptor relationship approach. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association* **55**(4), 523-535

Aston LS, Seiber JN, 1997. Fate of summertime airborne organophosphate pesticide residues in the Sierra Nevada Mountains. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **26**, 1483-1492

ATDSR, 1999a. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Toxicological profile for mercury (<u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp46.html</u>)

ATDSR, 1999b. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Toxicological profile for lead (<u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp13.html</u>)

ATDSR, 1999c. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Toxicological profile for cadmium (<u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp5.html</u>)

Auvray M, Bey I, 2005. Long-range transport to Europe: Seasonal variations and implications for the European ozone budget. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **110**, D11303, doi:10.1029/2004JD005503

Aymoz G, Jaffrezo J-L, Colomb A, George C, 2004. Evolution of organic and inorganic components of aerosols during a Saharan dust episode observed in the French Alps. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **4**(11/12), 2499-2512

Bailey R, Barrie LA, Halsall CJ, Fellin P, Muir DCG, 2000. Atmospheric organochlorine pesticides in the western Canadian Arctic: Evidence of transpacific transport. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **105**(D9), 11805-11811

Baker JM, Sturges WT, Sugier J, Sunnenberg G, Lovett AA, Reeves CE, Nightingale PD, Penkett SA, 2001. Emissions of CH₃Br, organochlorines, and organoiodines from temperate macroalgae. *Chemosphere - Global Change Science* **3**(1), 93-106

Ballschmiter K, 1992. Transport and fate of organic compounds in the global environment. Angewandte Chemie, International Edition in English **31**(5), 487-515

Ballschmiter K, 2003. Pattern and sources of naturally produced organohalogens in the marine environment: biogenic formation of organohalogens. *Chemosphere* **52**(2), 313-324

Barkan J, Alpert P, Kutiel H, Kishcha P, 2005. Synoptics of dust transportation days from Africa toward Italy and central Europe. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **110**, D07208, doi:10.1029/2004JD005222

Barrie LA, Olson MP, Oikawa KK, 1989. The flux of anthropogenic sulphur into the Arctic from mid-latitudes in 1979/80. *Atmospheric Environment* **23**(11), 2505-2512

Barrie LA, Gregor D, Hargrave B, Lake R, Muir D, Shearer R, Tracey B, Bidleman T, 1992. Arctic contaminants: sources, occurrence and pathways. *Science of the Total Environment* **122**(1-2), 1-74

Begum BA, Kim E, Jeong C-H, Lee D-W, ke PK, 2005. Evaluation of the potential source contribution function using the 2002 Quebec forest fire episode. *Atmospheric Environment* **39**(20), 3719-3724

Benkovitz CM, Miller MA, Schwartz SE, Kwon O-U, 2001. Dynamical influences on the distribution and loading of SO₂ and sulfate over North America, the North Atlantic, and Europe in April 1987. *Geochemistry Geophysics Geosystems* **2**, doi:10.1029/2000GC000129

Benkovitz CM, Schwartz SE, Kim B-G, 2003. Evaluation of a chemical transport model for sulfate using ACE-2 observations and attribution of sulfate mixing ratios to source regions and formation processes. *Geophysical Research Letters* **30**(12), 1641, doi:10.1029/2003GL016942

Benkovitz CM, Schwartz SE, Jensen MP, Miller MA, Easter RC, Bates TS, 2004. Modeling atmospheric sulfur over the Northern Hemisphere during the Aerosol Characterization Experiment 2 experimental period. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D22207, doi:10.1029/2004JD004939

Bennett DH, McKone TE, Matthies M, Kastenberg WE, 1998. General formulation of characteristic travel distance for semivolatile organic chemicals in a multimedia environment. *Environmental Science & Technology* **32**(24), 4023-4030

Bennett DH, Kastenberg WE, McKone TE, 1999. General formulation of characteristic time for persistent chemicals in a multimedia environment. *Environmental Science & Technology* **33**(3), 503-509

Bennett DH, Scheringer M, McKone TE, Hungerbühler K, 2001. Predicting long-range transport: A systematic evaluation of two multimedia transport models. *Environmental Science & Technology* **35**(6), 1181-1189

Bergan T, Gallardo L, Rohde H, 1999. Mercury in the global troposphere: a three-dimensional model study. *Atmospheric Environment* **33**(10), 1575-1585

Berntsen TK, Myhre G, Stordal F, Isaksen ISA, 2000. Time evolution of tropospheric ozone and its radiative forcing. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **105**(D7), 8915-8930

Bertschi IT, Jaffe D, 2005. Long-range transport of ozone, carbon monoxide, and aerosols to the NE Pacific troposphere during the summer of 2003: Observations of smoke plumes from Asian boreal fires. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **110**, D05303, doi:10.1029/2004JD005135

Bey I, Jacob DJ, Logan JA, Yantosca RM, 2001. Asian chemical outflow to the Pacific in spring: Origins, pathways and budgets. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **106**(D19), 23097-23113

Beyer A, Matthies M, 2001. Long-range transport of semivolatile organic chemicals in coupled air-water systems. *Environmental Science & Pollution Research* **8**(3), 173-179

Beyer A, Mackay D, Matthies M, Wania F, Webster E, 2000. Assessing long-range transport potential of persistent organic pollutants. *Environmental Science & Technology* **34**(4), 699-703

Beyer A, Scheringer M, Schulze C, Matthies M, 2001. Comparing representations of the environmental spatial scale of organic chemicals. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **20**(4), 922-927

Beyer A, Wania F, Gouin T, Mackay D, Matthies M, 2003. Temperature dependence of the characteristic travel distance. *Environmental Science & Technology* **37**(4), 766-771

Bidleman TF, 1988. Atmospheric process. Wet and dry deposition of organic compounds are controlled by their vapor-particle partitioning. *Environmental Science & Technology* **22**(4), 361-367

Bidleman TF, 1997. Air persistence criteria for organic compounds. SETAC News, September 1997, 20-21

Bidleman TF, Olney CE, 1975. Long range transport of toxaphene insecticide in the atmosphere of the western North Atlantic. *Nature* **257**, 475-477

Biscaye PE, Grousset FE, Svensson AN, Bory A, 2000. Eurasian air pollution reaches eastern North America. Science 290, 2258-2259

Blais JM, Kimpe LE, McMahon D, Keatley BE, Mallory ML, Douglas MSV, Smol JP, 2005. Arctic seabirds transport marine-derived contaminants. *Science* **309**, 445

Blanchard DC, 1989. The ejection of drops from the sea and their enrichment with bacteria and other materials: A review. *Estuaries* **12**(3), 127-137

Bluth GJS, Doiron SD, Schnetzler CC, Krueger AJ, Walter LS, 1992. Global tracking of the SO₂ clouds from the June 1991 Mount Pinatubo eruptions. *Geophysical Research Letters* **19**(2), 151-154

Borghini F, Grimalt JO, Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Bargagli R, 2005. Organochlorine pollutants in soils and mosses from Victoria Land (Antarctica). *Chemosphere* **58**(3), 271-278

Bottenheim JW, Dastoor A, Gong S-L, Higuchi K, Li Y-F, 2004. Long range transport of air pollution to the Arctic. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 13-39. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Bouwman AF, Van Vuuren DP, Derwent RG, Posch M, 2002. A global analysis of acidification and eutrophication of terrestrial ecosystems. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* **141**(1-4), 349-382

Bouwman AF, Van Drecht G, Knoop JM, Beusen AHW, Meinardi CR, 2005. Exploring changes in river nitrogen export to the world's oceans. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **19**, GB1002, doi:10.1029/2004GB002314

Brandes LJ, den Hollander H, van de Meent D, 1996. SimpleBox 2.0: A nested multimedia fate model for evaluating the environmental fate of chemicals. RIVM Report No. 719101029. RIVM-National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands (<u>http://www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/719101029.pdf</u>)

Brandt J, Christensen JH, Frohn LM, 2002. Modelling transport and deposition of caesium and iodine from the Chernobyl accident using the DREAM model. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **2**(5), 397-417

Brännvall M-L, Bindler R, Renberg I, Emteryd O, Bartnicki J, Billström K, 1999. The medieval metal industry was the cradle of modern large-scale atmospheric lead pollution in northern Europe. *Environmental Science & Technology* **33**(24), 4391-4395

Brännvall M-L, Bindler R, Emteryd O, Renberg I, 2001. Four thousand years of atmospheric lead pollution in northern Europe: a summary from Swedish lake sediments. *Journal of Paleolimnology* **25**(4), 421-435

Breivik K, Wania F, Daly GL, 2004. Seasonality of the characteristic travel distance. Poster presented at the SETAC-Europe meeting, Prague, Czech Republic, 18-22 April 2004 (see http://www.nilu.no/index.cfm?ac=publications&folder_id=4309&publication_id=5383&view=rep)

Brimblecombe P, 2001. Acid rain 2000±1000. Water, Air & Soil Pollution 130(1-4), 25-30

Brock CA, Hudson PK, Lovejoy ER, Sullivan A, Nowak JB, Huey LG, Cooper OR, Cziczo DJ, de Gouw J, Fehsenfeld FC, Holloway JS, Hübler G, Lafleur BG, Murphy DM, Neuman JA, Nicks (Jr.) DK, Orsini DA, Parrish DD, Ryerson TB, Tanner DJ, Warneke C, Weber RJ, Wilson JC, 2004. Particle characteristics following cloud-modified transport from Asia to North America. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S26, doi:10.1029/2003JD004198

Bysiek M, Biernacka M, Lipiński P, 2001. Radioactivity of ground-level air in Poland in 1998-1999. Results from ASS-500 stations network. *Nukleonika* **46**(4), 171-173 (http://www.ichtj.waw.pl/ichtj/nukleon/back/full/vol46_2001/v46n4p171f.pdf)

Cabezudo B, Recio M, Sánchez-Laulhé JM, Trigo MDM, Toro FJ, Polvorinos F, 1997. Atmospheric transportation of marihuana pollen from North Africa to the southwest of Europe. *Atmospheric Environment* **31**(20), 3323-3328

CACAR, 2003a. Canadian Arctic Contaminants Report II. Sources, occurrence, trends and pathways in the physical environment. Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. Ottawa, Canada (<u>http://www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/ncp/pub/donlod_e.html</u>)

CACAR, 2003b. Canadian Arctic Contaminants Report II. Human health. Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. Ottawa, Canada (<u>http://www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/ncp/pub/donlod_e.html</u>)

Calamari D, Bacci E, Focardi S, Gaggi C, Morosini M, Vighi M, 1991. Role of plant biomass in the global environmental partitioning of chlorinated hydrocarbons. *Environmental Science & Technology* **25**(8), 1489-1495

Carmichael GR, Calori G, Hayami H, Uno I, Cho SY, Engardt M, Kim S-B, Ichikawa I, Ikeda Y, Woo J-H, Ueda H, Amann M, 2002. The MICS-Asia study: model intercomparison of long-range transport and sulfur deposition in East Asia. *Atmospheric Environment* **36**(2), 175-199

Chatfield RB, Guan H, Thompson AM, Witte JC, 2004. Convective lofting links Indian Ocean air pollution to paradoxical South Atlantic ozone maxima. *Geophysical Research Letters* **31**, L06103, doi:10.1029/2003GL018866

Cheng M-D, Schroeder WH, 2000. Potential atmospheric transport pathways for mercury measured in the Canadian high Arctic. *Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry* **35**(1), 101-107

Chernyak SM, Rice CP, McConnell LL, 1996. Evidence of currently-used pesticides in air, ice, fog, seawater and surface microlayer in the Bering and Chukchi Seas. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **32**(5), 410-419

Chiapello I, Moulin C, Prospero JM, 2005. Understanding the long-term variability of African dust transport across the Atlantic as recorded in both Barbados surface concentrations and large-scale Total Ozone Mapping Spectrometer (TOMS) optical thickness. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **110**, D18S10, doi:10.1029/2004JD005132

Christensen JH, Brandt J, Frohn LM, Skov H, 2004. Modelling of mercury in the Arctic with the Danish Eulerian Hemispheric Model. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **4**(9/10), 2251-2257

Chuck AL, Turner SM, Liss PS, 2005. Oceanic distribution and air-sea fluxes of biogenic halocarbons in the open ocean. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **110**, C10022, doi:10.1029/2004JC002741

Chung SH, Seinfeld JH, 2002. Global distribution and climate forcing of carbonaceous aerosols. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D19), 4407, doi:10.1029/2001JD001397

Cini R, Loglio G, 1997. Adsorption and pollutant transport by marine aerosol. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **34**(7), 501-504

Cloern JE, Schraga TS, Lopez CB, 2005. Heat wave brings an unprecedented red tide to San Francisco Bay. *Eos Transactions* **86**(7), 66

Cohen M, 2001. The Atmospheric transport and deposition of dioxin to the Great Lakes for 1996 - Revised estimates, March 2001. NOAA Air Resources Laboratory Report, Boulder, Colorado, U.S.A. (<u>http://www.arl.noaa.gov/data/web/reports/dioxin_32001.pdf</u>)

Collaud Coen M, Weingartner E, Schaub D, Hueglin C, Corrigan C, Henning S, Schwikowski M, Baltensperger U, 2004. Saharan dust events at the Jungfraujoch: detection by wavelength dependence of the single scattering albedo and first climatology analysis. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **4**(11/12), 2465-2480

Commoner B, Bartlett PW, Eisl H, Couchot K, 2000. Long-range air transport of dioxin from North American sources to ecologically vulnerable receptors in Nunavut, Arctic Canada. Final Report to the North American Commission for Environmental Cooperation (<u>http://www.cec.org/files/PDF/POLLUTANTS/dioxrep_FR.pdf</u>)

Conway TJ, Andrews AE, Bruhwiler L, Crotwell A, Dlugokencky EJ, Hahn MP, Hirsch AI, Kitzis DR, Lang PM, Masarie KA, Michalak AM, Miller JB, Novelli PC, Peters W, Tans PP, Thoning KW, Vaughn BH, Zhao C, 2004. Carbon cycle greenhouse gases. In: *Climate Monitoring and Diagnostics Laboratory, Summary Report No. 27, 2002-2003*, 32-57. Ed. R.C. Schnell. U.S. Department of Commerce (http://www.cmdl.noaa.gov/publications/annrpt27/carboncycle2.pdf)

Cooke WF, Wilson JJN, 1996. A global black carbon aerosol model. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **101**(D14), 19395-19409

Cooper OR, Parrish DD, 2004. Air pollution export from and import to North America: Experimental evidence. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 41-67. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Cooper OR, Forster C, Parrish D, Trainer M, Dunlea E, Ryerson T, Hübler G, Fehsenfeld F, Nicks D, Holloway J, de Gouw J, Warneke C, Roberts JM, Flocke F, Moody J, 2004a. A case study of transpacific warm conveyor belt transport: Influence of merging airstreams on trace gas import to North America. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S08, doi:10.1029/2003JD003624

Cooper OR, Forster C, Parrish D, Dunlea E, Hübler G, Fehsenfeld F, Holloway J, Oltmans S, Johnson B, Wimmers A, Horowitz L, 2004b. On the life cycle of a stratospheric intrusion and its dispersion into polluted warm conveyor belts. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S09, doi:10.1029/2003JD004006

Corsolini S, Kannan K, Imagawa T, Focardi S, Giesy JP, 2002. Polychloronaphthalenes and other dioxin-like compounds in Arctic and Antarctic marine food webs. *Environmental Science & Technology* **36**(16), 3490-3496

Cowling EB, 1982. Acid precipitation in historical perspective. *Environmental Science & Technology* **16**(2), 110A-123A

Creilson JK, Fishman J, Wozniak AE, 2003. Intercontinental transport of tropospheric ozone: a study of its seasonal variability across the North Atlantic utilizing tropospheric ozone residuals and its relationship to the North Atlantic Oscillation. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **3**(6), 2053-2066

Crutzen PJ, Andreae MO, 1990. Biomass burning in the tropics: Impact on atmospheric chemistry and biogeochemical cycles. *Science* **250**, 1669-1678

Cyranoski D, Fuyuno I, 2005. Climatologists seek clear view of Asia's smog. Nature 434, 128

Dachs J, Lohmann R, Ockenden WA, Eisenreich SJ, Jones KC, 2002. Oceanic biogeochemical controls on global dynamics of persistent organic pollutants. *Environmental Science & Technology* **36**(20), 4229-4237

Dalla Valle M, Dachs J, Sweetman AJ, Jones KC, 2004. Maximum reservoir capacity of vegetation for persistent organic pollutants: Implications for global cycling. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **18**, GB4032, doi:10.1029/2004GB002334

Daly GL, Wania F, 2005. Organic contaminants in mountains. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(2), 385-398

Damoah R, Spichtinger N, Forster C, James P, Mattis I, Wandinger U, Beirle S, Wagner T, Stohl A, 2004. Around the world in 17 days - hemispheric-scale transport of forest fire smoke from Russia in May 2000. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **4**(5), 1311-1321

Dastoor AP and Larocque Y, 2004. Global circulation of atmospheric mercury: a modelling study. Atmospheric Environment **38**(1), 147-161

DeBell LJ, Vozzella M, Talbot RW, Dibb JE, 2004. Asian dust storm events of spring 2001 and associated pollutants observed in New England by the Atmospheric Investigation, Regional Modeling, Analysis and Prediction (AIRMAP) monitoring network. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D01034, doi:10.1029/2003JD003733

de Gouw JA, Cooper OR, Warneke C, Hudson PK, Fehsenfeld FC, Holloway JS, Hübler G, Niks Jr. DK, Nowak JB, Parrish DD, 2004. Chemical composition of air masses transported from Asia to the U.S. West Coast during ITCT 2K2: Fossil fuel combustion versus biomass-burning signatures. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S20, doi:10.1029/2003JD004202

DeMott PJ, Sassen K, Poellot MR, Baumgardner D, Rogers DC, Brooks SD, Prenni AJ, Kreidenweis SM, 2003. African dust aerosols as atmospheric ice nuclei. *Geophysical Research Letters* **30**(14), 1732, doi:10.1029/2003GL017410

Depetris PJ, 2000. Riverine transfer of particulate matter to ocean systems. Scientific Committee on Problems of the Environment (<u>http://www.icsu-scope.org/downloadpubs/scope57/chapter-4.pdf</u>)

Dickhut RM, Cincinelli A, Cochran M, Ducklow HW, 2005. Atmospheric concentrations and air-water flux of organochlorine pesticides along the Western Antarctic Peninsula. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(2), 465-470

Donald DB, Stern GA, Muir DCG, Fowler BR, Miskimmin BM, Bailey R, 1998. Chloroboranes in water, sediment and fish from toxaphene treated and untreated lakes in western Canada. *Environmental Science & Technology* **32**(10), 1391-1397

Douglas TA, Sturm M, Simpson WR, Brooks S, Lindberg SE, Perovich DK, 2005. Elevated mercury measured in snow and frost flowers near Arctic sea ice leads. *Geophysical Research Letters* **32**, L04502, doi:10.1029/2004GL022132

Dowdall M, Gwynn JP, Gabrielsen GW, Lind B, 2005. Assessment of elevated radionuclide levels in soils associated with an avian colony in a high Arctic environment. Soil & Sediment Contamination 14(1), 1-11

Draxler R, 1991. The accuracy of trajectories during ANATEX calculated using dynamic model analyses versus rawinsonde observations. *Journal of Applied Meteorology* **30**(10), 1446-1467

Draxler R, Hess GD, 1997 (revised 2004). Description of the HYSPLIT_4 modeling system. NOAA Technical Memorandum ERL ARL-224 (http://www.arl.noaa.gov/data/web/models/hysplit4/win95/arl-224.pdf)

Draxler R, Hess GD, 1998. An overview of the HYSPLIT_4 modelling system for trajectories, dispersion and deposition. *Australian Meteorological Magazine* **47**(4), 295-308

Dueñas C, Fernández MC, Carretero J, Liger E, Cañete S, 2003. Long-term variations (1992-1999) of gross-beta, ²¹⁰Pb and ⁹⁰Sr concentrations in rainwater and deposition to ground. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108** (D11), 4336, doi:10.1029/2002JD002940

Duncan BN, Bey I, 2004. A modeling study of the export pathways of pollution from Europe: Seasonal and interannual variations (1987-1997). *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D08301, doi:10.1029/2003JD004079

Ebinghaus R, Kock HH, Temme C, Einax JW, Löwe AG, Richter A, Burrows JP, Schroeder WH, 2002. Antarctic springtime depletion of atmospheric mercury. *Environmental Science & Technology* **36**(6), 1238-1244

Eckhardt S, Stohl A, Beirle S, Spichtinger N, James P, Forster C, Junker C, Wagner T, Platt U, Jennings SG, 2003. The North Atlantic Oscillation controls air pollution transport to the Arctic. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **3**(5), 1769-1778

EEA, 2004. Air pollution and climate change policies in Europe: exploring linkages and the added value of an integrated approach. European Environment Agency, Technical Report No. 5/2004 (http://reports.eea.eu.int/technical report 2004 5/en/Technical report 5 2004 web.pdf)

EMEP, 2002. Trends and intercontinental transport of photo-oxidants, particles and their precursors across the Northern Hemisphere (observations, models, policy implications). Papers from the BMU/UBA-USEPA-EMEP Workshop held in Bad Breisig, Germany, on 7-9 October 2002 (<u>http://www.physchem.uni-wuppertal.de/PC-</u>

WWW Site/Bad Breisig/breisig_welcome.html). See also UNECE Summary Report of the workshop (http://www.unece.org/env/documents/2003/eb/ge1/eb.air.ge.1.2003.7.e.pdf)

Enge EK, Christensen G, Kallenborn R, Herzke D, Skotvold T, 2001. Persistent organic pollutants in snow and meltwater from Bjørnøya (Bear Island). *Organohalogen Compounds* **52**, 467-470

Engel-Cox J, DeFelice TP, Falke S, 2001. Transboundary movement of air pollutants – A methodology for integrating spaceborne images and ground based data. UNEP-EPA-USGS-NASA (http://www.na.unep.net/publications/air_pollution.pdf)

Euro Chlor, 2003. POPs and PBTs. Key Science Information Sheet No. 4 http://www.eurochlor.org/upload/documents/document58.pdf

Evenset A, Christensen GN, Skotvold T, Fjeld E, Schlabach M, Wartena E, Gregor D, 2004. A comparison of organic contaminants in two high Arctic lake ecosystems, Bjørnøya (Bear Island), Norway. *Science of the Total Environment* **318**(1-3), 125-141

Evenset A, Christensen GN, Kallenborn R, 2005. Selected chloroboranes, polychlorinated naphthalenes and brominated fire retardants in Bjørnøya (Bear Island) freshwater biota. *Environmental Pollution* **136**(3), 419-430

Ewald G, Larsson P, Linge H, Okla L, Szarzi N, 1998. Biotransport of organic pollutants to an inland Alaska lake by migrating sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*). Arctic **51**, 40-47

Fenner K, Scheringer M, MacLeod M, Matthies M, McKone T, Stroebe M, Beyer A, Bonnell M, Le Gall AC, Klasmeier J, Mackay D, van de Meent D, Pennington D, Scharenberg B, Suzuki N, Wania F, 2005. Comparing estimates of persistence and long-range transport potential among multimedia models. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(7), 1932-1942

Fernández P, Grimalt JO, 2003. On the global distribution of persistent organic pollutants. Chimia 57(9), 514-521

Fiebig M, Petzold A, Wandinger U, Wendisch M, Kiemle C, Stifter A, Ebert M, Rother M, Leiterer U, 2002. Optical closure for an aerosol column: Method, accuracy, and inferable properties applied to a biomass-burning aerosol and its radiative forcing. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D21), 8130, doi:10.1029/2000JD000192

Fischer H, 2001. Imprint of large-scale atmospheric transport patterns on sea-salt records in northern Greenland ice-cores. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **106**(D20), 23977-23984

Fishman J, Hoell (Jr.) JM, Bendura RD, McNeal RJ, Kirchhoff VWJH, 1996. NASA GTE TRACE A experiment (September-October 1992): Overview. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **101**(D19), 23865-23879

Fitzgerald WF, Engstrom DR, Mason RP, Nater EA, 1998. The case for atmospheric mercury contamination in remote areas. *Environmental Science & Technology* **32**(1), 1-7

Fitzgerald WF, Engstrom DR, Lamborg CH, Tseng C-M, Balcom PH, Hammerschmidt CR, 2005. Modern and historic atmospheric mercury fluxes in northern Alaska: Global sources and Arctic depletion. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(2), 557-568

Formenti P, Reiner T, Sprung D, Andreae MO, Wendisch M, Wex H, Kindred D, Dewey K, Kent J, Tzortiou M, Vasaras A, Zerefos C, 2002. STAAARTE-MED 1998 summer airborne measurements over the Aegean Sea. 1. Aerosol particles and trace gases. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D21), 4450, doi:10.1029/2001JD001337

Forster C, Wandinger U, Wotawa G, James P, Mattis I, Althausen D, Simmonds P, O'Doherty S, Jennings SG, Kleefeld C, Schneider J, Trickl T, Kreipl S, Jäger H, Stohl A, 2001. Transport of boreal forest fire emissions from Canada to Europe. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **106**(D19), 22887-22906

Fowler D, Smith RI, Muller JBA, Hayman G, Vincent KJ, 2005. Changes in the atmospheric deposition of acidifying compounds in the UK between 1986 and 2001. *Environmental Pollution* **137**(1), 15-25

Franklin J, Atkinson R, Howard PH, Orlando JJ, Seigneur C, Wallington TJ, Zetzsch C, 2000. Quantitative determination of persistence in air. In: *Evaluation of Persistence and Long-Range Transport of Chemicals in the Environment*, 7-62. Eds. G. Klečka *et al.* SETAC Press, Pensacola, FL, USA

Fromm M, Alfred J, Hoppel K, Hornstein J, Bevilacqua R, Shettle E, Servranckx R, Li Z, Stocks B, 2000. Observations of boreal forest fire smoke in the stratosphere by POAM III, SAGE II, and lidar in 1998. *Geophysical Research Letters* **27**(9), 1407-1410

Fumagalli I, Gimeno BS, Velissariou D, De Temmerman L, Mills G, 2001. Evidence of ozone-induced adverse effects on crops in the Mediterranean region. *Atmospheric Environment* **35**(14), 2583-2587

Galloway JN, 1995. Acid deposition: Perspectives in time and space. Water, Air & Soil Pollution 85(1-4), 15-24

Galloway JN, 2001. Acidification of the world: Natural and anthropogenic. *Water, Air & Soil Pollution* **130**(1-4), 17-24

Galloway JN, Schlesinger WH, Levy (II) H, Michaels A, Schnoor JL, 1995. Nitrogen fixation: Anthropogenic enhancement-environmental response. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **9**(2), 235-252

Galloway JN, Bekunda M, Cai Z, Erisman JW, Freney J, Howarth RW, Martinelli LA, Scholes MC, Seitzinger SP, 2004. A preliminary assessment of "Changes in the global nitrogen cycle as a result of anthropogenic influences".

International Nitrogen Initiative. Report prepared for presentation at the Third International Nitrogen Conference, Nanjing, China, October 12-16, 2004 (<u>http://iniforum.org/fileadmin/user_upload/2005_products/INI_Pre-</u>Assessment_final.pdf)

Gao Y, Drange H, Bentsen M, Johannessen OM, 2005. Tracer-derived transit time of the waters in the eastern Nordic Seas. *Tellus B* **57**(4), 332-340

GESAMP (Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection), 1995. The seasurface microlayer and its role in global change. GESAMP Reports and Studies No. 59, World Meteorological Organization, Geneva (<u>http://gesamp.imo.org/no59/f_page.htm</u>)

Giles J, 2005a. Hikes in surface ozone could suffocate crops. Nature 435, 7

Giles J, 2005b. Nitrogen study fertilizes fears of pollution. Nature 433, 791

Goldberg ED, 1975. Synthetic organo-halides in the sea. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B* **189**, 277-289 (cited in Ockenden and Jones, 1999)

Goldstein AH, Millet DB, McKay M, Jaeglé L, Horowitz L, Cooper O, Hudman R, Jacob DJ, Oltmans S, Clarke A, 2004. Impact of Asian emissions on observations at Trinidad Head, California, during ITCT 2K2. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S17, doi:10.1029/2003JD004406

Gong SL, Barrie LA, Lazare M, 2002. Canadian Aerosol Model (CAM): A size-segregated simulation of atmospheric aerosol processes for climate and air quality models. 2. Global sea-salt aerosol and its budgets. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D24), 4779, doi:10.1029/2001JD002004

Gong SL, Zhang XY, Zhao TL, McKendry IG, Jaffe DA, Lu NM, 2003. Characterization of soil dust aerosol in China and its transport and distribution during 2001 ACE-Asia: 2. Model simulation and validation. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D9), 4262, doi:10.1029/2002JD002633

Gouin T, Mackay D, Cowan-Ellsberry C, 2001. A review and discussion of scientific and regulatory definitions of environmental persistence. Part III. Models used to estimate persistence. Canadian Environmental Modelling Centre Report No. 200103 (<u>http://www.trentu.ca/cemc/CEMC200103.pdf</u>)

Gouin T, Mackay D, Jones KC, Harner T, Meijer SN, 2004. Evidence for the "grasshopper" effect and fractionation during long-range atmospheric transport of organic contaminants. *Environmental Pollution* **128**(1-2), 139-148

Grammatika M, Zimmerman WB, 2001. Microhydrodynamics of flotation processes in the sea surface layer. *Dynamics of Atmospheres and Oceans* **34**(2-4), 327-348

Gregor DJ, Gummer WD, 1989. Evidence of atmospheric transport and deposition of organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in Canadian Arctic snow. *Environmental Science & Technology* 23(5), 561-565

Griffin DW, Garrison VH, Herman JR, Shinn EA, 2001a. African desert sand in the Caribbean atmosphere: Microbiology and public health. *Aerobiologia* **17**(3), 203-213

Griffin DW, Kellogg CA, Shinn EA, 2001b. Dust in the wind: Long range transport of dust in the atmosphere and its implications for global public and ecosystem health. *Global Change & Human Health* **2**(1), 20-33

Gros V, Williams J, Lawrence MG, von Kuhlmann R, van Aardenne J, Atlas E, Chuck A, Edwards DP, Stroud V, Krol M, 2004. Tracing the origin and ages of interlaced atmospheric pollution vents over the tropical Atlantic Ocean with in situ measurements, satellites, trajectories, emission inventories, and global models. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D22306, doi:10.1029/2004JD004846

Grousset FE, Ginoux P, Bory A, Biscaye PE, 2003. Case study of a Chinese dust plume reaching the French Alps. *Geophysical Research Letters* **30**(6), 1277, doi:10.1029/2002GL016833

Guerova G, Bey I, Attié J-L, Martin RV, 2005. Case studies of ozone transport between North America and Europe in summer 2000. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions* **5**, 6127-6184

Guo S, Bluth GJS, Rose WI, Watson IM, Prata AJ, 2004. Re-evaluation of SO₂ release of the 15 June 1991 Pinatubo eruption using ultraviolet and infrared satellite sensors. *Geochemistry Geophysics Geosystems* **5**(4), Q04001, doi:10.1029/2003GC000654

Gustafsson MER, Franzén L, 2000. Inland transport of marine aerosols in southern Sweden. Atmospheric Environment **34**(2), 313-325

Gustafsson Ö, Andersson P, Axelman J, Bucheli TD, Kömp P, McLachlan MS, Sobek A, Thöngren J-O, 2005. Observations of the PCB distribution within and in-between ice, snow, ice-rafted debris, ice-interstitial water, and seawater in the Barents Sea marginal ice zone and the North Pole area. *Science of the Total Environment* **342**(1-3), 261-279

Guttikunda SK, Thongboonchoo N, Arndt RL, Calori G, Carmichael GR, Streets DG, 2001. Sulfur deposition in Asia: Seasonal behavior and contributions from various energy sources. *Water, Air & Soil Pollution* **131**(1-4), 383-406

Halsall CJ, Barrie LA, Fellin P, Muir DCG, Billeck BN, Lockhart L, Rovinsky FY, Kononov EY, Pastukhov B, 1997. Spatial and temporal variation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the Arctic atmosphere. *Environmental Science & Technology* **31**(12), 3593-3599 Halsall CJ, Bailey R, Stern GA, Barrie LA, Fellin P, Muir DCG, Rosenberg B, Rovinsky FY, Kononov EY, Pastukhov, 1998. Multi-year observations of organohalogen pesticides in the Arctic atmosphere. *Environmental Pollution* **102**(1), 51-62

Halsall CJ, Sweetman AJ, Barrie LA, Jones KC, 2000. Modelling the behaviour of PAHs during atmospheric transport from the UK to the Arctic. *Atmospheric Environment* **35**(2), 255-267

Han Y-J, Holsen TM, Hopke PK, Yi S-M, 2005. Comparison between back-trajectory based modeling and Lagrangian backward dispersion modeling for locating sources of reactive gaseous mercury. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(6), 1715-1723

Hansen KM, Christensen JH, Brandt J, Frohn LM, Geels C, 2004. Modelling atmospheric transport of α -hexachlorocyclohexane in the Northern Hemisphere with a 3-D dynamical model: DEHM-POP. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* 4(4), 1125-1137

Hardy JT, 1982. The sea surface microlayer: Biology, chemistry and anthropogenic enrichment. *Progress in Oceanography* **11**(4), 307-328

Harner T, Shoeib M, Kozma M, Gobas FAPC, Li SM, 2005. Hexachlorocyclohexanes and endosulfans in urban, rural, and high altitude air samples in the Fraser Valley, British Columbia: Evidence for trans-Pacific transport. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(3), 724-731

Harper DB, Hamilton JJTG, 2003. The global cycles of the naturally-occurring monohalomethanes. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 3, Part P (*Natural Production of Organohalogen Compounds*), 17-41. Ed. G. Gribble. Springer-Verlag (doi:10.1007/b10456)

Heald CL, Jacob DJ, Palmer PI, Evans MJ, Sachse GW, Singh HB, Blake DR, 2003. Biomass burning emission inventory with daily resolution: Application to aircraft observations of Asian outflow. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D21), 8811, doi:10.1029/2002JD003082

Heidam NZ, Christensen J, Wählin P, Skov H, 2004. Arctic atmospheric contaminants in NE Greenland: levels, variations, origins, transport, transformations and trends 1990-2001. *Science of the Total Environment* **331**(1-3), 5-28

Heil A, Goldammer JG, 2001. Smoke-haze pollution: a review of the 1997 episode in Southeast Asia. *Regional Environmental Change* **2**(1), 24-37

Helm PA, Bidleman TF, Li HH, Fellin P, 2004. Seasonal and spatial variations of polychlorinated naphthalenes and non-/mono-ortho-substituted polychlorinated biphenyls in Arctic air. *Environmental Science & Technology* **38**(21), 5514-5521

Herman JR, Bhartia PK, Torres O, Hsu C, Seftor C, Celarier E, 1997. Global distribution of UV-absorbing aerosols from Nimbus 7/TOMS data. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **102**(D14), 16911-16922

Hermanson MH, Isaksson E, Teixeira C, Muir DCG, Compher KM, Li Y-F, Igarashi M, Kamiyama K, 2005. Current-use and legacy pesticide history in the Austfonna ice cap, Svalbard, Norway. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39(**21), 8163-8169

Holloway T, Fiore AM, Hastings MG, 2003. Intercontinental transport of air pollution: Will emerging science lead to a new hemispheric treaty? *Environmental Science & Technology* **37**(20), 4535-4542

Holzer M, McKendry IG, Jaffe DA, 2003. Springtime trans-Pacific atmospheric transport from east Asia: A transittime probability density function approach. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D22), 4708, doi:10.1029/2003JD003558

Hong S, Candelone JP, Patterson CC, Boutron CF, 1994. Greenland ice evidence of hemispheric lead pollution two millennia ago by Greek and Roman civilizations. *Science* **265**, 1841-1843

Hopke PK, Gao N, Cheng M-D, 1993. Combining chemical and meteorological data to infer source areas of airborne pollutants. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems* **19**(2), 187-199

Hopke PK, Zhou L, Poirot RL, 2005. Reconciling trajectory ensemble receptor model results with emissions. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(20), 7980-7983

Hough AM, Derwent RG, 1990. Changes in the global concentration of tropospheric ozone due to human activities. *Nature* **344**, 645-648

Hsu NC, Herman JR, Gleason JF, Torres O, Seftor CJ, 1999. Satellite detection of smoke aerosols over a snow/ice surface by TOMS. *Geophysical Research Letters* **26**(8), 1165-1168

Hudman RC, Jacob DJ, Cooper OR, Evans MJ, Heald CL, Park RJ, Fehsenfeld F, Flocke F, Holloway J, Hübler G, Kita K, Koike M, Kondo Y, Neuman A, Nowak J, Oltmans S, Parrish D, Roberts JM, Ryerson T, 2004. Ozone production in transpacific Asian pollution plumes and implications for ozone air quality in California. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S10, doi:10.1029/2004JD004974

Huntrieser H, Schlager H, 2004. Air pollution export from and import to Europe: Experimental evidence. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 69-98. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Huntrieser H, Heland J, Schlager H, Forster C, Stohl A, Aufmhoff H, Armold F, Scheel HE, Campana M, Gilge S, Eixmann R, Cooper O, 2005. Intercontinental air pollution transport from North America to Europe: Experimental evidence from airborne measurements and surface observations. Journal of Geophysical Research 110, D01305, doi:10.1029/2004JD005045

Husar RB, 2004. Intercontinental transport of dust: Historical and recent observational evidence. In: The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, Volume 4, Part G (Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution), 277-294. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Husar RB, Tratt DM, Schichtel BA, Falke SR, Li F, Jaffe D, Gassó S, Gill T, Laulainen NS, Lu F, Reheis MC, Chun Y, Westphal D, Holben DN, Gueymard C, McKendry I, Kuring N, Feldman GC, McClain C, Frouin RJ, Merrill J, DuBois D, Vignola F, Murayama T, Nickovic S, Wilson WE, Sassen K, Sugimoto N, Malm WC, 2001. Asian dust events of April 1998. Journal of Geophysical Research 106(D16), 18317-18330

IAQAB, 2002. Report to the International Joint Commission - Supplement to the Special Report on Transboundary Air Quality. International Air Quality Advisory Board (http://www.ijc.org/rel/pdf/iaqab_report.pdf)

Ikegami M, Okada K, Zaizen Y, Makino Y, 1994. Sea-salt particles in the upper tropical troposphere. Tellus 46B, 142-151

Ilyin I, Berg T, Dutchak S, Pacyna J, 2004. EMEP Assessment – Part 1 – European Perspective. Chapter 7, Heavy metals. Co-operative Programme for Monitoring and Evaluation of the Long-Range Transmission of Air Pollutants in Europe, Oslo, Norway (http://www.emep.int/assessment/Part1/117-138 07-Metals-Part1.pdf)

IPCC, 2001a. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2001: Working Group II: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Cambridge University Press (http://www.grida.no/climate/ipcc_tar/wg2/index.htm)

IPCC, 2001b. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2001: Working Group I: The Scientific Basis Cambridge University Press (http://www.grida.no/climate/ipcc_tar/wg1/index.htm)

Iversen T, 1989. Numerical modelling of the long range atmospheric transport of sulphur dioxide and particulate sulphate to the Arctic. Atmospheric Environment 23(11), 2571-2595

Iversen T, 1996. Atmospheric transport pathways for the Arctic. In: NATO ASI Series. Vol. I 43 (Global environmental Change: Chemical Exchanges between the Atmosphere and Polar Snow), 71-92 Eds. E.W. Wolff and R.C. Bates. Springer-Verlag

Iwata H, Tanabe S, Sakai N, Tatsukawa R, 1993. Distribution of persistent organochlorines in the oceanic air and surface seawater and the role of ocean on their global transport and fate. Environmental Science & Technology 27(6), 1080-1098

Iwata H, Tanabe S, Sakai N, Nishimura A, Tatsukawa R, 1994. Geographical distribution of persistent organochlorines in air, water and sediments from Asia and Oceania, and their implications for global redistribution from lower latitudes. Environmental Pollution 85(1), 15-33

Jacob DJ, Logan JA, Murti PP, 1999. Effect of rising Asian emissions on surface ozone in the United States. Geophysical Research Letters 26(14), 2175-2178

Jacob DJ, Crawford JH, Kleb MM, Connors VS, Bendura RJ, Raper JL, Sachse JW, Gille JC, Emmons L, Heald CL, 2003. Transport and Chemical Evolution over the Pacific (TRACE-P) aircraft mission: Design, execution, and first results. Journal of Geophysical Research 108(D20), 9000, doi:10.1029/2002JD003276

Jacobs CMJ, van Pul WAJ, 1996. Long-range atmospheric transport of persistent organic pollutants. I: Description of surface-atmosphere exchange modules and implementation in EUROS. RIVM Report No. 722401013. RIVM-National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands (http://www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/722401013.html)

Jacobson MC, Hansson H-C, Noone KJ, Charlson RJ, 2000. Organic atmospheric aerosols: Review and state of the science. Reviews of Geophysics 38(2), 267-294

Jaffe D, Anderson T, Covert D, Trost B, Danielson J, Simpson W, Blake D, Harris J, Streets D, 2001. Observations of ozone and related species in the northeast Pacific during the PHOBEA campaigns. 1. Ground-based observations at Cheeka Peak. Journal of Geophysical Research 106(D7), 7449-7461

Jaffe D, Snow J, Cooper O, 2003a. The 2001 Asian dust events: Transport and impact on surface aerosol concentrations in the U.S. Eos Transactions 84(46), 510 and 507

Jaffe D, McKendry I, Anderson T, Price H, 2003b. Six 'new' episodes of trans-Pacific transport of air pollutants. Atmospheric Environment 37(3), 391-404

Jaffe D, Landis MS, Weiss-Penzias P, Prestbo E, 2003c. Comment on "Mercury concentrations in coastal California precipitation: Evidence of local and trans-Pacific fluxes of mercury to North America" by D.J. Steding and A.R. Flegal, Journal of Geophysical Research 108(D17), 4553, doi:10.1029/2003JD003504

Jaffe D, Bertschi I, Jaeglé L, Novelli P, Reid JS, Tanimoto H, Vingarzan R, Westphal DL, 2004. Long-range transport of Siberian biomass burning emissions and impact on surface ozone in western North America. Geophysical Research Letters 31, L16106, doi:10.1029/2004GL020093

Jaffe D, Prestbo E, Swartzendruber P, Weiss-Penzias P, Kato S, Takami A, Hatakeyama S, Kajii Y, 2005. Export of atmospheric mercury from Asia. *Atmospheric Environment* **39**(17), 3029-3038

James RR, Hites RA, 2002. Atmospheric transport of toxaphene from the southern United States to the Great Lakes region. *Environmental Science & Technology* **36**(16), 3474-3481

Jeffries DS, Brydges TG, Dillon PJ, Keller W, 2003. Monitoring the results of Canada/U.S.A. acid rain control programs: some lake responses. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **88**(1-3), 3-19

Jylhä K, 2000a. The scavenging of air pollutants by precipitation, and its estimation with the aid of weather radar. Dissertation, University of Helsinki (<u>http://ethesis.helsinki.fi/julkaisut/mat/meteo/vk/jylha/thescave.pdf</u>)

Jylhä K, 2000b. Assessing precipitation scavenging of air pollutants by using weather radar. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Part B: Hydrology, Oceans and Atmosphere* **25**(10-12), 1085-1089

Kahru M, Mitchell BG, Diaz A, Miura M, 2004. MODIS detects a devastating algal bloom in Paracas Bay, Peru. *Eos Transactions* **85**(45), 465

Kaiser E, 2002. Sources, transformations, and fates of riverine organic matter. Doctoral dissertation ETH 14880, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich

(http://e-collection.ethbib.ethz.ch/ecol-pool/diss/fulltext/eth14880.pdf)

Kallenborn R, Oehme M, Wynn-Williams DD, Schlabach M, Harris J, 1998. Ambient air levels and atmospheric long-range transport of persistent organochlorines to Signy Island, Antarctica. *Science of the Total Environment* **220**(2-3), 167-180

Kanakidou M, Tsigaridis K, Dentener FJ, Crutzen PJ, 2000. Human-activity-enhanced formation of organic aerosols by biogenic hydrocarbon oxidation. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **105**(D7), 9243-9254

Kasamatsu F, Inatomi N, 1998. Effective environmental half-lives of Sr⁹⁰ and Cs¹³⁷ in the coastal seawater of Japan. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **103**(C1), 1209-1218

Kato S, Pochanart P, Hirokawa J, Kajii Y, Akimoto H, Ozaki Y, Obi K, Katsuno T, Streets DG, Minko NP, 2002. The influence of Siberian forest fires on carbon monoxide concentrations at Happo, Japan. *Atmospheric Environment* **36**(2), 385-390

Keating TJ, West JJ, Farrell AE, 2004. Prospects for international management of intercontinental air pollution transport. In: The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, Volume 4, Part G (Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution), 295-320. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Keppler F, Borchers R, Elsner P, Fahimi I, Pracht J, Schöler HF, 2003. Formation of volatile iodinated alkanes in soil: results from laboratory studies. *Chemosphere* **52**(2), 477-483

Kershaw P, Baxter A, 1995. The transfer of reprocessing wastes from north-west Europe to the Arctic. *Deep Sea Research Part II* **42**(6), 1413-1448

Khalil MAK, 1999. Reactive chlorine compounds in the atmosphere. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part E (*Reactive Halogen Compounds in the Atmosphere*), 45-79. Eds. P. Fabian and O.N. Singh. Springer-Verlag

Khalil MAK, Moore RM, Harper DB, Lobert JM, Erickson DJ, Koropalov V, Sturges WT, Keene WC, 1999. Natural emissions of chlorine-containing gases: Reactive Chlorine Emissions Inventory. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **104** (D7), 8333-8346

Killin RK, Simonich SL, Jaffe DA, DeForest CL, Wilson GR, 2004. Transpacific and regional atmospheric transport of anthropogenic semivolatile organic compounds to Cheeka Peak Observatory during the spring of 2002. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S15, doi:10.1029/2003JD004386

Klaminder J, Renberg I, Bindler R, Emteryd O, 2003. Isotopic trends and background fluxes of atmospheric lead in northern Europe: Analyses of three ombrotrophic bogs from south Sweden. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **17**(1), 1019, doi:10.1029/2002GB001921

Koch D, 2001. Transport and direct radiative forcing of carbonaceous and sulfate aerosols in the GISS GCM. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **106**(D17), 20311-20332

Koziol AS, Pudykiewicz JA, 2001. Global-scale environmental transport of persistent organic pollutants. *Chemosphere* **45**(8), 1181-1200

Krümmel EM, Macdonald RW, Kimpe LE, Gregory-Eaves I, Demers MJ, Smol JP, Finney B, Blais JM, 2003. Delivery of pollutants by spawning salmon – Fish dump toxic industrial compounds in Alaskan lakes on their return from the ocean. *Nature* **425**, 255-256

Krümmel EM, Gregory-Eaves I, Macdonald RW, Kimpe LE, Demers MJ, Smol JP, Finney B, Blais JM, 2005. Concentrations and fluxes of salmon-derived polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in lake sediments. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(18), 7020-7026

Kucera V and Fitz S, 1995. Direct and indirect air pollution effects on materials including cultural monuments. *Water, Air & Soil Pollution* **85**(1-4), 153-165

Lambert G, Ardouin B, Sanak J, 1990. Atmospheric transport of trace elements toward Antarctica. *Tellus B* 42(1), 76-82

Lammel G, Feichter J, Leip A, 2001a. Long-range transport and global distribution of semivolatile organic compounds: A case study on two modern agrochemicals. Max Planck Institute for Meteorology Report No. 324, Hamburg, Germany

(http://www.mpimet.mpg.de/de/web/download.php?src=max_scirep&file=pdfupload&id=324&filename=report324.p df)

Lammel G, Feichter J, Leip A, Semeena VS, 2001b. Long-range transport and environmental fate of modern pesticides - Model development and application. In: *Slowly Degradable Organics in the Atmospheric Environment and Air-Sea Exchange*. Ed. G.Lammel. Max Planck Institute for Meteorology Report No. 335, Hamburg, Germany, pp. 51-56

(http://www.mpimet.mpg.de/en/web/download.php?src=max_scirep&file=pdfupload&id=335&filename=report335.p df)

Langmann B, Heil A, 2004. Release and dispersion of vegetation and peat fire emissions in the atmosphere over Indonesia 1997/1998. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **4**(8), 2145-2160

Langmann B, Bauer SE, Bey I, 2003. The influence of the global photochemical composition of the troposphere on European summer smog, Part I: Application of a global to mesoscale model chain. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D4), 4146, doi:10.1029/2002JD002072

Laniewski K, Borén H, Grimvall A, 1998. Identification of volatile and extractable chloroorganics in rain and snow. *Environmental Science & Technology* **32**(24), 3935-3940

Larsson P, Järnmark C, Södergren A, 1992. PCBs and chlorinated pesticides in the atmosphere and aquatic organisms of Ross Island, Antarctica. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **25**(9-12), 281-287

Laturnus F, Haselmann K, Borch T, Grøn C, 2002. Terrestrial natural sources of trichloromethane (chloroform, CHCl₃) – An overview. *Biogeochemistry* **60**(2), 121-139

Lauritzen B, Mikkelsen T, 1999. A probabilistic dispersion model applied to the long-range transport of radionuclides from the Chernobyl accident. *Atmospheric Environment* **33**(20), 3271-3279

Lawrence MG, 2004. Export of air pollution from southern Asia and its large-scale effects. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 131-172. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Lead WA, Steinnes E, Bacon JR, Jones KC, 1997. Polychlorinated biphenyls in UK and Norwegian soils: spatial and temporal trends. *Science of the Total Environment* **193**(3), 229-236

Lee HN, Wan G, Zheng X, Sanderson CG, Wang S, Yang W, Tang J, Wang C, 2004. Measurements of ²¹⁰Pb and ⁷Be in China and their analysis accompanied with global model calculations of ²¹⁰Pb. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D22203, 4553, doi:10.1029/2004JD005061

Lee KH, Kim JE, Kim YJ, Kim J, von Hoyningen-Huene W, 2005. Impact of the smoke aerosol from Russian forest fires on the atmospheric environment over Korea during May 2003. *Atmospheric Environment* **39**(1), 85-99

Leip A, Lammel G, 2004. Indicators for persistence and long-range transport potential as derived from multicompartment chemistry-transport modelling. *Environmental Pollution* **128**(1-2), 205-221

Lelieveld J, Berresheim H, Borrmann S, Crutzen PJ, Dentener FJ, Fischer H, Feichter J, Flatau PJ, Heland J, Holzinger R, Kormann R, Lawrence MG, Levin Z, Markowicz KM, Mihalopoulos N, Minikin A, Ramanathan V, de Reus M, Roelofs GJ, Scheeren HA, Sciare J, Schlager H, Schultz M, Siegmund P, Steil B, Stephanou EG, Stier P, Traub M, Warneke C, Williams J, Ziereis H, 2002. Global air pollution crossroads over the Mediterranean. *Science* **298**, 794-798

Lelieveld J, van Aardenne J, Fischer H, de Reus M, Williams J, Winkler P, 2004. Increasing ozone over the Atlantic Ocean. *Science* **304**, 1483-1487

Levy (II) H, Kasibhatla PS, Moxim WJ, Klonecki AA, Hirsch AI, Oltmans SJ, Chameides WL, 1997. The global impact of human activity on tropospheric ozone. *Geophysical Research Letters* **24**(7), 791-794

Li Q, Jacob DJ, Bey I, Palmer PI, Duncan BN, Field BD, Martin RV, Fiore AM, Yantosca RM, Parrish DD, Simmonds PG, Oltmans SJ, 2002. Transatlantic transport of pollution and its effects on surface ozone in Europe and North America. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D13), 4166, doi:10.1029/2001JD001422

Lichota GB, McAdie M, Ross PS, 2004. Endangered Vancouver Island marmots (*Marmota vancouverensis*): Sentinels of atmospherically delivered contaminants to British Columbia, Canada. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **23**(2), 402-407

Lin C-J, Cheng M-D, Schroeder WH, 2001. Transport patterns and potential sources of total gaseous mercury measured in Canadian high Arctic in 1995. *Atmospheric Environment* **35**(6), 1141-1154

Lin C-J, Pekhonen SO, 1999. The chemistry of atmospheric mercury: a review. *Atmospheric Environment* **33**(13), 2067-2079

Lin J-C, Gerbig C, Wofsy SC, Andrews AE, Daube BC, Davis KJ, Grainger CA, 2003. A near-field tool for simulating the upstream influence of atmospheric observations: The Stochastic Time-Inverted Lagrangian Transport (STILT) model. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D16), 4493, doi:10.1029/2002JD003161

Lindberg SE, Brooks S, Lin C-J, Scott KJ, Landis MS, Stevens RK, Goodsite M, Richter A, 2002. Dynamic oxidation of gaseous mercury in the Arctic troposphere at polar sunrise. *Environmental Science & Technology* **36**(6), 1245-1256

Liousse C, Penner JE, Chuang C, Walton JJ, Eddleman H, Cachier H, 1996. A global three-dimensional model study of carbonaceous aerosols. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **101**(D14), 19411-19432

Liu H, Jacob DJ, Chan LY, Oltmans SJ, Bey I, Yantosca RM, Harris JM, Duncan BN, Martin RV, 2002. Sources of tropospheric ozone along the Asian Pacific Rim: An analysis of ozonesonde observations. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D21), 4573, doi:10.1029/2001JD002005

Liu J, Mauzerall DL, Horowitz LW, 2005. Analysis of seasonal and interannual variability in transpacific transport. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **110**, D04302, doi:10.1029/2004JD005207

Livingston HD, 1995. Arctic radioactivity and transport processes: An introduction. *Deep-Sea Research II* 42(6), 1337-1339

Lowenthal DH, Borys RD, Rogers CF, Chow JC, Stevens RK, Pinto JP, Ondov JM, 1993. A fine-particle sodium tracer for long-range transport of the Kuwaiti oil-fire smoke. *Geophysical Research Letters* **20**(8), 691-693

Lübkert-Alcamo B, Krzyzanowski M, 1995. Estimate of health impacts of acidifying air pollutants and tropospheric ozone in Europe. *Water, Air & Soil Pollution* **85**(1-4), 167-176

Ma J, Daggupaty S, Harner T, Li Y, 2003. Impacts of lindane usage in the Canadian prairies on the Great Lakes ecosystem. 1. Coupled atmospheric transport model and modeled concentrations in air and soil. *Environmental Science & Technology* **37**(17), 3774-3781

Ma J, Daggupaty S, Harner T, Blanchard P, Waite D, 2004. Impacts of lindane usage in the Canadian prairies on the Great Lakes ecosystem. 2. Modeled fluxes and loadings to the Great Lakes. *Environmental Science & Technology* **38**(4), 984-990

Macdonald RW, Barrie LA, Bidleman TF, Diamond ML, Gregor DJ, Semkin G, Strachan WMJ, Li YF, Wania F, Alaee M, Alexeeva LB, Backus SM, Bailey R, Bewers JM, Gobeil C, Halsall CJ, Harner T, Hoff JT, Jantunen LMM, Lockhart WL, Mackay D, Muir DCG, Pudykiewicz J, Reimer KJ, Smith JN, Stern GA, Schroeder WH, Wagemann R, Yunker MB, 2000a. Contaminants in the Canadian Arctic: 5 years of progress in understanding sources, occurrence and pathways. *Science of the Total Environment* **254**(2-3), 93-234

Macdonald RW, Eisenreich SJ, Bidleman TF, Dachs J, Pacyna JM, Jones KC, Bailey RE, Swackhamer DL, Muir DCG, 2000b. Case studies on persistence and long-range transport of persistent organic pollutants. In: *Evaluation of Persistence and Long-Range Transport of Organic Chemicals in the Environment*, 245-314. Eds. G. Klečka *et al.* SETAC Press, Pensacola, FL, USA

Macdonald RW, Harner T, Fyfe J, 2005. Recent climate change in the Arctic and its impact on contaminant pathways and interpretation of temporal trend data. *Science of the Total Environment* **342**(1-3), 5-86

Mackay D, 2001. Multimedia Environmental Models – The Fugacity Approach. Second Edition. Lewis Publishers-CRC Press

Mackay D, 2005. POPs in the Arctic: Modelling transport and fate. Presentation at "Dioxin 2005", 25th International Symposium on Halogenated Environmental Organic Pollutants and POPs, Toronto, 21-26 August 2005

Mackay D, Wania F, 1995a. Transport of contaminants to the Arctic: partitioning, processes and models. *Science of the Total Environment* **160/161**, 25-38

Mackay D, Wania F, 1995b. A global distribution model for persistent organic chemicals. *Science of the Total Environment* **160/161**, 211-232

Mackay D, Paterson S, Di Guardo A, Cowan CE, 1996. Evaluating the environmental fate of a variety of types of chemicals using the EQC model. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **15**(9), 1627-1637

Mackay D, Webster E, Cousins I, Cahill T, Foster K, Gouin T, 2001. An introduction to multimedia models. Final Report prepared as a background paper for OECD workshop, Ottawa, October 2001 (http://www.trentu.ca/cemc/CEMC200102.pdf)

MacLeod M, Woodfine DG, Mackay D, McKone T, Bennett D, Maddalena R, 2001. BETR North America: A regionally segmented multimedia contaminant fate model for North America. *Environmental Science & Pollution Research* **8**(3), 156-163

MacLeod M, Riley WJ, McKone TE, 2005. Assessing the influence of climate variability on atmospheric concentrations of polychlorinated biphenyls using a global-scale mass balance model (BETR-Global). *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(17), 6749-6756

Malanichev A, Shatalov V, Vulykh N, Strukov B, 2002. Modelling of POP hemispheric transport. Technical Report 8/2002. EMEP-Meteorological Synthesizing Centre East. Moscow, Russia (<u>http://www.msceast.org/abstract/802.html</u>)

Malanichev A, Mantseva E, Shatalov V, Strukov B, Vulykh N, 2004. Numerical evaluation of the PCBs transport over the Northern Hemisphere. *Environmental Pollution* **128**(1-2), 279-289

Mandalakis M, Stephanou EG, 2002. Study of atmospheric PCB concentrations over the eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D23), 4716, doi:10.1029/2001JD001566

Martin BD, Fuelberg H, Blake NJ, Crawford JH, Logan JA, Blake DR, Sachse GW, 2002. Long-range transport of Asian outflow to the equatorial Pacific. *Journal of Geophysical Research* doi:10.1029/2001JD001418 [printed **108**(D2), 2003]

Martínez-Cortizas A, Pontevedra-Pombal X, Nóvoa Muñoz JC, García-Rodeja E, 1997. Four thousand years of atmospheric Pb, Cd and Zn deposition recorded by the ombrotrophic peat bog of Penillo Vello (northwestern Spain). *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* **100**(3-4), 387-403

Marty JC, Saliot P, Buat-Ménard P, Chesselet R, Hunter KA, 1979. Relationship between the lipid compositions of marine aerosols, and the sea surface microlayer, and subsurface water. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 84, 5707-5716

Marx SK, Kamber BS, McGowan HA, 2005. Estimates of Australian dust flux into New Zealand: Quantifying the eastern Australian dust plume pathway using trace element calibrated ²¹⁰Pb as a monitor. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* **239**(3-4), 336-351

Matzner E, Murach D, 1995. Soil changes induced by air pollutant deposition and their implication for forests in Central Europe. *Water, Air & Soil Pollution* **85**(1-4), 63-76

McConnell JR, Lamorey GW, Hutterli MA, 2002. A 250-year high-resolution record of Pb flux and crustal enrichment in central Greenland. *Geophysical Research Letters* **29**(23), 2130, doi:10.1029/2002GL016016

McCulloch A, 2003. Chloroform in the environment: occurrences, sources, sinks and effects. *Chemosphere* **50**(10), 1291-1308

McKone T, Enoch KG, 2002. CalTOX[®], a multimedia total exposure model spreadsheet user's guide. Version 4.0(Beta). Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Paper LBNL-47399 (<u>http://repositories.cdlib.org/lbnl/LBNL-47399</u>)

Meijer SN, Steinnes E, Ockenden WA, Jones KC, 2002. Influence of environmental variables on the spatial distribution of PCBs in Norwegian and U.K. soils: Implications for global cycling. *Environmental Science & Technology* **36**(10), 2146-2153

Meijer SN, Ockenden WA, Steinnes E, Corrigan BP, Jones KC, 2003a. Spatial and temporal trends of POPs in Norwegian and UK background air: Implications for global cycling. *Environmental Science & Technology* **37**(3), 454-461

Meijer SN, Ockenden WA, Sweetman A, Breivik K, Grimalt JO, Jones KC, 2003b. Global distribution and budget of PCBs and HCB in background surface soils: Implications for sources and environmental processes. *Environmental Science & Technology* **37**(4), 667-672

Millán MM, Salvador R, Mantilla E, Kallos G, 1997. Photooxidant dynamics in the Mediterranean basin in summer: Results from European research projects. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **102**(D7), 8811-8823

Mims SA, Mims FM, 2004. Fungal spores are transported long distances in smoke from biomass fires. *Atmospheric Environment* **38**(5), 651-655

Mochida M, Kitamori Y, Kawamura K, Nojiri Y, Suzuki K, 2002. Fatty acids in the marine atmosphere: Factors governing their concentrations and evaluation of organic films on sea-salt particles. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D17), 4325, doi:10.1029/2001JD001278

Moore RM, 2003. Marine sources of volatile organohalogens. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 3, Part P (*Natural Production of Organohalogen Compounds*), 85-101. Ed. G. Gribble. Springer-Verlag (doi:10.1007/b10449)

Moore RM, 2004. Dichloromethane in North Atlantic waters. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, C09004, doi:10.1029/2004JC002397

Moulin C, Lambert CE, Dulac F, Dayan U, 1997. Control of atmospheric export of dust from North Africa by the North Atlantic Oscillation. *Nature* **387**, 691-694

Mu H, Ewald G, Nilsson, Sundin P, Wesén, 2004. Fate of chlorinated fatty acids in migrating sockeye salmon and their transfer to Arctic grayling. *Environmental Science & Technology* **38**(21), 5548-5554

Mühle J, Brenninkmeijer CAM, Rhee TS, Slemr F, Oram DE, Penkett SA, Zahn A, 2002. Biomass burning and fossil fuel signatures in the upper troposphere observed during a CARIBIC flight from Namibia to Germany. *Geophysical Research Letters* **29**(19), 1910, doi:10.1029/2002GL015764

Muir DCG, Omelchenko A, Grift NP, Savoie DA, Lockhart WL, Wilkinson P, Brunskill GJ, 1996. Spatial trends and historical deposition of polychlorinated biphenyls in Canadian midlatitude and Arctic lake sediments. *Environmental Science & Technology* **30**(12), 3609-3617

Muir DCG, Teixeira C, Wania F, 2004. Empirical and modeling evidence of regional atmospheric transport of current-use pesticides. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **23**(10), 2421-2432

Muñoz J, Felicísimo AM, Cabezas F, Burgaz AR, Martínez I, 2004. Wind as a long-distance dispersal vehicle in the southern hemisphere. *Science* **304**, 1144-1147

Naja M, Akimoto H, Staehelin J, 2003. Ozone in background and photochemically aged air over central Europe: Analysis of long-term ozonesonde data from Hohenpeissenberg and Payerne. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D2), 4063, doi:10.1029/2002JD002477

NARSTO, 2000. An Assessment of Tropospheric Ozone Pollution – A North American Perspective. North American Research Strategy for Tropospheric Ozone (http://www.narsto.com/)

Nodop K, Connolly R, Gicardi F, 1998. The field campaigns of the European Tracer Experiment (ETEX): Overview and results. *Atmospheric Environment* **32**(24), 4095-4108

Nosengo N, 2003. Fertilized to death. Nature 425, 894-895

Nriagu JO, 1998. Tales told in lead. Science 281, 1622-1623

Ockenden WA, Jones KC, 1999. Global fractionation. Progress in Environmental Science 1(2), 119-151

Ockenden WA, Sweetman AJ, Prest HF, Steinnes E, Jones KC, 1998a. Toward an understanding of the global atmospheric distribution of persistent organic pollutants: The use of semipermeable membrane devices as time-integrated passive samplers. *Environmental Science & Technology* **32** (18), 2795-2803

Ockenden WA, Steinnes E, Parker C, Jones KC, 1998b. Observations on persistent organic pollutants in plants: Implications for their use as passive air samplers and for POP cycling. *Environmental Science & Technology* **32** (18), 2721-2726

Ockenden WA, Breivik K, Meijer SN, Steinnes E, Sweetman AJ, Jones KC, 2003. The global re-cycling of persistent organic pollutants is strongly retarded by soils. *Environmental Pollution* **121**(1), 75-80

OECD, 2002. Report of the OECD/UNEP workshop on the use of multimedia models for estimating overall environmental persistence and long-range transport in the context of PBTs/POPs assessment. OECD Series on Testing and Assessment No. 36, Paris, France (http://www.olis.oecd.org/olis/2002doc.nsf/43bb6130e5e86e5fc12569fa005d004c/150147753d5c7f6cc1256c01004 7d31d/\$FILE/JT00130274.PDF)

OECD, 2004. Guidance document on the use of multimedia models for estimating overall environmental persistance [sic] and long-range transport. OECD Series on Testing and Assessment No. 45, Paris, France (http://appli1.oecd.org/olis/2004doc.nsf/43bb6130e5e86e5fc12569fa005d004c/d5d405dd127503abc1256e5b0054 1567/\$FILE/JT00160339.PDF)

Oppo C, Bellandi S, Degli Innocenti N, Stortini AM, Loglio G, Schiavuta E, Cini R, 1999. Surfactant components of marine organic matter as agents for biogeochemical fractionation and pollutant transport via marine aerosols. *Marine Chemistry* **63**(3-4), 235-253

Ottar B, 1981. The transfer of airborne pollutants to the Arctic region. *Atmospheric Environment* **15**, 1439-1445 (cited in Mackay and Wania, 1993a)

Pacyna JM, Oehme M, 1988. Long-range transport of some organic compounds to the Norwegian Arctic. Atmospheric Environment **22**(2), 243-257

Pacyna EG, Pacyna JM, 2002. Global emissions of mercury from anthropogenic sources in 1995. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* **137**(1-4), 149-165

Park RJ, Jacob DJ, Chin M, Martin RV, 2003. Sources of carbonaceous aerosols over the United States and implications for natural visibility. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D12), 4355, doi:10.1029/2002JD003190

Parmesan C, Galbraith H, 2004. Observed impacts of global climate change in the U.S. Pew Center on Global Climate Change, Arlington VA, U.S.A. (http://www.pewclimate.org/docUploads/final%5FObsImpact%2Epdf)

Parrish DD, Kondo Y, Cooper OR, Brock CA, Jaffe DA, Trainer M, Ogawa T, Hübler G, Fehsenfeld FC, 2004. Intercontinental Transport and Chemical Transformation 2002 (ITCT 2K2) and Pacific Exploration of Asian Continental Emission (PEACE) experiments: An overview of the 2002 winter and spring intensives. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S01, doi:10.1029/2004JD004980

Penkett SA, Evans MJ, Reeves CE, Law KS, Monks PS, Bauguitte SJB, Pyle JA, Green TJ, Bandy BJ, Mills G, Cardenas LM, Barjat H, Kley D, Schmitgen S, Kent JM, Dewey K, Methven J, 2004. Long-range transport of ozone and related pollutants over the North Atlantic in spring and summer. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions* **4**(4), 4407-4454

Pennington DW, 2001. Relationship of approaches and a tiered methodology for screening chemicals in the context of long-range transport. *Chemosphere* **44**(7), 1617-1631

Pennington DW, Margni M, Ammann C, Jolliet O, 2005. Multimedia fate and human intake modeling: Spatial versus nonspatial insights for chemical emissions in Western Europe. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39** (4), 1119 -1128

Perry KD, Cliff SS, Jiminez-Cruz MP, 2004. Evidence for hygroscopic mineral dust particles from the Intercontinental Transport and Chemical Transformation Experiment. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S28, doi:10.1029/2004JD004979

Perry E, Norton SA, Kamman NC, Lorey PM, Driscoll CT, 2005. Deconstruction of historic mercury accumulation in lake sediments, northeastern United States. *Ecotoxicology* **14**(1-2), 85-99

Piketh SJ, Walton NM, 2004. Characteristics of atmospheric transport of air pollution for Africa. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 173-195. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Planchon FAM, van de Velde K, Rosman KJR, Wolff EW, Ferrari CP, Boutron CF, 2003. One hundred fifty-year record of lead isotopes in Antarctic snow from Coats Land. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 67(4), 693-708

Pobanz BM, Vogt PP, Aluzzi FJ, Pace JC, 1999. Comparison of gridded versus observation data to initialize ARAC dispersion models for the Algeciras, Spain steel mill Cs-137 release. American Nuclear Society, 7th Topical Meeting on Emergency Preparedness and Response, Santa Fe, New Mexico, September 14-17, 1999 (<u>http://www.llnl.gov/tid/lof/documents/pdf/236388.pdf</u>)

Pochanart P, Akimoto H, Maksyutov S, Staehelin J, 2001. Surface ozone at the Swiss Alpine site Arosa: the hemispheric background and the influence of large-scale anthropogenic emissions. *Atmospheric Environment* **35**(2), 5553-5566

Pochanart P, Wild O, Akimoto H, 2004. Air pollution import to and export from East Asia. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 99-130. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Polissar AV, Hopke PK, Harris JM, 2001. Source regions for atmospheric aerosol measured at Barrow, Alaska. *Environmental Science & Technology* **35**(21), 4214-4226

Pöllänen R, Valkama I, Toivonen H, 1997. Transport of radioactive particles from the Chernobyl accident. *Atmospheric Environment* **31**(21), 3575-3590

Prepas EE, Charette T, 2003. Worldwide eutrophication of water bodies: Causes, concerns, controls. In: *Treatise on Geochemistry*, Volume 9, 311-331. Ed. B. Sherwood Lollar. Elsevier (<u>http://www.treatiseongeochemistry.com/</u>)

Prevedouros K, MacLeod M, Jones KC, Sweetman AJ, 2004. Modelling the fate of persistent organic pollutants in Europe: Parametrisation of a gridded distribution model. *Environmental Pollution* **128**(1-2), 251-261

Price HU, Jaffe DA, Cooper OR, Doskey PV, 2004. Photochemistry, ozone production, and dilution during longrange transport episodes from Eurasia to the northwest United States. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D23S13, doi:10.1029/2003JD004400

Quack B, Wallace DWR, 2003. Air-sea flux of bromoform: Controls, rates, and implications. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **17**(1), 1023, doi:10.1029/2002GB001890

Quack B, Atlas E, Petrick G, Stroud V, Schauffler S, Wallace DWR, 2004. Oceanic bromoform sources for the tropical atmosphere. *Geophysical Research Letters* **31**, L23S05, doi:10.1029/2004GL020597

Rappe C, 1974. Chemical behavior of pesticides. In: *Ecological Problems of the Circumpolar Area*. Norbottens Museum, Luleå, Sweden, pp. 29-32 and 37 (cited in Wania and Mackay, 1993a)

Rea DK, 1994. The paleoclimatic record provided by eolian deposition in the deep sea: The geologic history of wind. *Reviews of Geophysics* **32**(2), 159-195

Renberg I, Brännvall M-L, Bindler R, Emteryd O, 2000. Atmospheric lead pollution history during four millennia (2000 BC to 2000 AD) in Sweden. *Ambio* 29(3), 150-156

Renberg I, Brännvall M-L, Bindler R, Emteryd O, 2002. Stable lead isotopes and lake sediments – a useful combination for the study of atmospheric lead pollution history. *Science of the Total Environment* **292**(1-2), 45-54

Renner R, 2004. Rethinking atmospheric mercury. Environmental Science & Technology 38(23), 448A-449A

Ritter L, Solomon KR, Forget J, Stemeroff M, O'Leary C, 1995. Persistent organic pollutants - An assessment report on: DDT, aldrin, dieldrin, endrin, chlordane, heptachlor, hexachlorobenzene, mirex, toxaphene, polychlorinated biphenyls, dioxins and furans. Report prepared for the International Programme on Chemical Safety within the framework of the Inter-Organization Programme for the Sound Management of Chemicals (http://www.pops.int/documents/background/assessreport/en/ritteren.pdf)

Robertson L, 2004. Extended back-trajectories by means of adjoint equations. Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Report RMK No. 105. Norrköping, Sweden (<u>http://www.smhi.se/sgn0106/if/FoUI/en/pdf/RMK105.pdf</u>)

Robock A, 2002. The climate aftermath. Science 295, 1242-1243

Rodan BD, Pennington DW, Eckley N, Boethling RS, 1999. Screening for persistent organic pollutants: Techniques to provide a scientific basis for POPs criteria in international negotiations. *Environmental Science & Technology* **33**(20), 3482-3488 Roelofs GJ, Scheeren HA, Heland J, Ziereis H, Lelieveld J, 2003. A model study of ozone in the eastern Mediterranean free troposphere during MINOS (August 2001). *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **3**(4), 1199-1210

Rogora M, Mosello R, Marchetto A, 2004. Long-term trends in the chemistry of atmospheric deposition in Northwestern Italy: the role of increasing Saharan dust deposition. *Tellus B* **56**(5), 426-434

Rönnberg C, Bonsdorff E, 2004. Baltic Sea eutrophication: area-specific ecological consequences. *Hydrobiologia* **514**(1-3), 227-241

Rosenburg J, Burt PJA, 2001. Windborne displacements of desert locusts from Africa to the Caribbean and South America. *Aerobiologia* **15**(3), 167-175

Rosman KJR, Chisholm W, Boutron CF, Candelone JP, Görlach U, 1993. Isotopic evidence for the source of lead in Greenland snows since the late 1960s. *Nature* **362**, 333-335

Rosman KJR, Chisholm W, Boutron CF, Candelone J-P, Patterson CC, 1994. Anthropogenic lead isotopes in Antarctica. *Geophysical Research Letters* **21**(24), 2669-2672

Ruoho-Airola T, Anttila P, Salmi T, 2004. Airborne sulfur and nitrogen in Finland – trends and exposure in relation to air transport sector. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* **6**(1), 1-11

Ryaboshapko A, Artz R, Bullock R, Christensen J, Cohen M, Dastoor A, Davignon D, Draxler R, Ilyin I, Munthe J, Pacyna J, Petersen G, Syrakov D, Travnikov O, 2004. Intercomparison study of numerical models for long-range atmospheric transport of mercury. Stage III. Comparison of modelling results with long-term observations and comparison of calculated items of regional balances. Progress Report 6/2004 Meteorological Synthesizing Center – East, Moscow, Russia (http://msceast.org/reps/)

Saint-Louis R, Pelletier E, 2004. Sea-to-air flux of contaminants via bubbles bursting. An experimental approach for tributyltin. *Marine Chemistry* 84(3-4), 211-224

Sapkota A, Symons JM, Kleissl J, Wang L, Parlange MB, Ondov J, Breysse PN, Diette GB, Eggleston PA, Buckley TJ, 2005. Impact of the 2002 Canadian forest fires on particulate matter air quality in Baltimore City. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(1), 24-32

Sassen K, 2002. Indirect climate forcing over the western US from Asian dust storms. *Geophysical Research Letters* **29**(10), 1465, doi:10.1029/2001GL014051

Sassen K, 2005. Dusty ice clouds over Alaska. Nature 434, 456

Sauvage B, Thouret V, Cammas J, Gheusi F, Athier G, Nédélec P, 2005. Tropospheric ozone over Equatorial Africa: regional aspects from the MOZAIC data. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **5**(2), 311-335

Schaub D, Weiss AK, Kaiser JW, Petritoli A, Richter A, Buchmann B, Burrows JP, 2005. A transboundary transport episode of nitrogen dioxide as observed from GOME and its impact in the Alpine region. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **5**(1), 23-37

Schell WR, Tobin MJ, Novak MJV, Wieder RK, Mitchell PI, 1997. Deposition history of trace metals and fallout radionuclides in wetland ecosystems using ²¹⁰Pb chronology. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* **100**(3-4), 233-239

Scheringer M, 1996. Persistence and spatial range as endpoints of an exposure-based assessment of organic chemicals. *Environmental Science & Technology* **30**(5), 1652-1659

Scheringer M, 1997. Characterization of the environmental distribution behavior of organic chemicals by means of persistence and spatial range. *Environmental Science & Technology* **31**(10), 2891-2897

Scheringer M, 2002. Persistence and Spatial Range of Environmental Chemicals – New Ethical and Scientific Concepts for Risk Assessment. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Germany

Scheringer M, Wania F, 2003. Multimedia models of global transport and fate of persistent organic pollutants. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 3, Part O (*Persistent Organic Pollutants*), 237-269. Ed. H. Fiedler. Springer-Verlag

Scheringer M, Wegmann F, Fenner K, Hungerbühler K, 2000. Investigation of the cold condensation of persistent organic pollutants with a global multimedia fate model. *Environmental Science & Technology* **34**(9), 1842-1850

Scheringer M, Hungerbühler K, Matthies M, 2001. The spatial scale of organic chemicals in multimedia fate modeling. *Environmental Science & Pollution Research* **8**(3), 150-155

Scheringer M, Salzmann M, Stroebe M, Wegmann F, Fenner K, Hungerbühler K, 2004a. Long-range transport and global fractionation of POPs: insights from multimedia modeling studies. *Environmental Pollution* **128**(1-2), 177-188

Scheringer M, Stroebe M, Wania F, Wegmann F, Hungerbühler K, 2004b. The effect of export to the deep sea on the long-range transport potential of persistent organic pollutants. *Environmental Science & Pollution Research* **11**(1), 41-48

Schreitmüller J, Ballschmiter K, 1994. The equilibrium distribution of semivolatile organochloro compounds between atmosphere and surface water in the Atlantic Ocean. *Angewandte Chemie, International Edition in English* **33**(6), 646-649

Schroeder WH, Munthe J, 1998. Atmospheric mercury – An overview. Atmospheric Environment 32(5), 809-822

Schroeder WH, Cheng M-D, Lin C-J, Steffen A, 2002. Atmospheric pathways for the introduction of mercury into the Arctic environment. Second AMAP International Symposium on Pollution of the Arctic. Rovaniemi, Finland, 1-4 October 2002, P-MO2 (http://amap.no/symposium2002/Posters-M01-M41.pdf)

Schultz MG, Bey I, 2004. Numerical modelling of long-range transport pollution. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 197-223. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Seibert P, Frank A, 2004. Source-receptor matrix calculation with a Lagrangian particle dispersion model in backward mode. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **4**(1), 51-63

Seigneur C, Vijayaraghavan K, Lohman K, Karamchandani P, Scott C, 2004. Global source attribution for mercury deposited in the United States. *Environmental Science & Technology* **38**(2), 555-569

Seinfeld JH, Pandis SN, 1998. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics – From Air Pollution to Climate Change. John Wiley

Semeena S, Lammel G, 2003. Effects of various scenarios of entry of DDT and γ -HCH on the global environmental fate as predicted by a multicompartment chemistry-transport model. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin* **12**(8), 925-939

Semeena S, Lammel G, 2005. The significance of the grasshopper effect on the atmospheric distribution of persistent organic substances. *Geophysical Research Letters* **32**, L070804, doi:10.1029/2004GL022229

Shatalov V, Breivik K, Berg T, Duchak S, Pacyna J, 2004. EMEP Assessment – Part 1 – European Perspective. Chapter 8, Persistent organic pollutants. Co-operative Programme for Monitoring and Evaluation of the Long-Range Transmission of Air Pollutants in Europe, Oslo, Norway (<u>http://www.emep.int/assessment/Part1/139-160_08-Pops-Part1.pdf</u>)

Shen L, Wania F, Lei YD, Teixeira C, Muir DCG, Bidleman TF, 2004. Hexachlorocyclohexanes in the North American atmosphere. *Environmental Science & Technology* **38**(4), 965 -975

Shen L, Wania F, Lei YD, Teixeira C, Muir DCG, Bidleman TF, 2005. Atmospheric distribution and long-range transport behavior of organochlorine pesticides in North America. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(2), 409-420

Shotyk W, Weiss D, Appleby PG, Cheburkin AK, Frei R, Gloor M, Kramers JD, Reese S, Van Der Knaap WO, 1998. History of atmospheric lead deposition since 12,370 ¹⁴C yr BP from a peat bog, Jura Mountains, Switzerland. *Science* **281**, 1635-1640

Simoneit BRT, Elias VO, 2001. Detecting organic tracers from biomass burning in the atmosphere. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **42**(10), 805-810

Simoneit BRT, 2002. Biomass burning – a review of organic tracers for smoke from incomplete combustion. *Applied Geochemistry* **17**(3), 129-162

Simonich SL, Hites RA, 1995. Global distribution of persistent organochlorine compounds. *Science* **269**, 1851-1854

Simpson JJ, Hufford GL, Servranckx R, Berg J, Pieri D, 2003a. Airborne Asian dust : Case study of long-range transport and implications for the detection of volcanic ash. *Weather and Forecasting* **18**, 121-141

Simpson D, Fagerli H, Jonson JE, Tsyro S, Wind P, Tuovinen J-P, 2003b. Transboundary acidification, eutrophication and ground level ozone in Europe – Part 1 – Unified EMEP model description. Norwegian Meteorological Institute.

Singh ON, Fabian P, 1999. Reactive bromine compounds. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part E (*Reactive Halogen Compounds in the Atmosphere*), 1-43. Eds. P. Fabian and O.N. Singh. Springer-Verlag

Skjelkvåle BL, Stoddard JL, Jeffries DS, Tørseth K, Høgåsen T, Bowman J, Mannio J, Monteith DT, Mosello R, Rogora M, Rzychon D, Vesely J, Wieting J, Wilanger A, Worsztynowicz A, 2005. Regional scale evidence for improvements in surface water chemistry 1990-2001. *Environmental Pollution* **137**(1), 165-176

Skop RA, Viechnicki JT, Brown JW, 1994. A model for microbubble scavenging of surface-active lipid molecules from sea water. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **99**(C8), 16395-16402

Skov H, Christensen J, Asmund G, Rysgaard S, Nielsen TG, Dietz R, Riget F, 2004a. Fate of mercury in the Arctic (FOMA). NERI Technical Report No. 511. National Environmental Research Institute, Denmark (http://www2.dmu.dk/1_Viden/2_Publikationer/3_Fagrapporter/rapporter/FR511.pdf)

Skov H, Christensen JH, Goodsite ME, Heidam NZ, Jensen B, Wåhlin P, Geernaert G, 2004b. Fate of elemental mercury in the Arctic during atmospheric mercury depletion episodes and the load of atmospheric mercury to the Arctic. *Environmental Science & Technology* **38**(8), 2373-2382

Smith JN, Ellis KM, Jones EP, 1990. Cesium 137 transport into the Arctic Ocean through Fram Strait. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **95**(C2), 1693-1701

Smith JN, Ellis KM, Kilius LR, 1998. ¹²⁹I and ¹³⁷Cs tracer measurements in the Arctic Ocean. *Deep Sea Research Part I* **45**(6), 959-984

Sodemann H, Palmer AS, Schwierz C, Schwikowski M, Wernli H, 2005. The transport history of two Saharan dust events archived in an Alpine ice core. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions* **5**, 7497-7545

Solomon S, 1999. Stratospheric ozone depletion: A review of concepts and history. *Reviews of Geophysics* **37**(3), 275-316

Solomon S, Garcia RR, Ravishankara AR, 1994. On the role of iodine in ozone depletion. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **99**(D10), 20491-20499

Spichtinger-Rakowsky N, Wenig M, James P, Wagner T, Platt U, Stohl A, 2001. Satellite detection of a continental-scale plume of nitrogen oxides from boreal forest fires. *Geophysical Research Letters* **28**(24), 4579-4582

Spichtinger-Rakowsky N, Forster C, 2004. Intercontinental transport of trace substances from boreal forest fires. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 255-276. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Sprovieri F, Pirrone N, Hedgecock IM, Landis MS, Stevens RK, 2002. Intensive atmospheric mercury measurements at Terra Nova Bay in Antarctica during November and December 2000. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D23), 4722, doi:10.1029/2002JD002057

Steding DJ, Flegal AR, 2002. Mercury concentrations in coastal California precipitation: Evidence of local and trans-Pacific fluxes of mercury to North America. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D24), 8530, doi:10.1029/2002JD002081

Steding DJ, Flegal AR, 2003. Reply to comment by D. Jaffe *et al.* on "Mercury concentrations in coastal California precipitation: Evidence of local and trans-Pacific fluxes of mercury to North America". *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D17), 4554, doi:10.1029/2003JD003916

Stefan RL, Szeri AJ, 1999. Surfactant scavenging and surface deposition by rising bubbles. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* **212**(1), 1-13

Steinnes E, 1997. Trace element profiles in ombrogenous peat cores from Norway; Evidence of long range atmospheric transport. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* **100**(3-4), 405-413

Steinnes E, Sjøbakk TE, 2005. Order-of-magnitude increase of Hg in Norwegian peat profiles since the outset of industrial activity in Europe. *Environmental Pollution* **137**(2), 365-370

Steinnes E, Åberg G, Hjelmseth H, 2005a. Atmospheric deposition of lead in Norway: spatial and temporal variation in isotopic composition. *Science of the Total Environment* **336**(1-3), 105-117

Steinnes E, Hvatum OØ, Bølviken B, Varskog P, 2005b. Atmospheric supply of trace elements studied by peat samples from ombrotrophic bogs. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **34**(1), 192-197

Stern DI, 2005. Global sulfur emissions from 1850 to 2000. Chemosphere 58(2), 163-175

Stern GA, Halsall CJ, Barrie LA, Muir DCG, Fellin P, Rosenberg B, Rovinsky FY, Kononov EY, Pashtukhov B, 1997. Polychlorinated biphenyls in Arctic air. 1. Temporal and spatial trends: 1992-1994. *Environmental Science & Technology* **31**(12), 3619-3628

Stohl A, 1998. Computation, accuracy and applications of trajectories – A review and bibliography. *Atmospheric Environment* **32**(6), 947-966

Stohl A (editor), 2004. Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution. Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, Volume 4, Part G. Springer-Verlag

Stohl A, Thomson DJ, 1999. A density correction for Lagrangian particle dispersion models. *Boundary-Layer Meteorology* **90**(1), 155-167

Stohl A, Trickl T, 1999. A textbook example of long-range transport: Simultaneous observation of ozone maxima of stratospheric and North American origin in the free troposphere over Europe. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **104**(D23), 30445-30462

Stohl A, Hittenberger M, Wotawa G, 1998. Validation of the Lagrangian particle dispersion model FLEXPART against large scale tracer experiments. *Atmospheric Environment* **32**(24), 4245-4264

Stohl A, Eckhardt S, Forster C, James P, Spichtinger N, 2002a. On the pathways and timescales of intercontinental air pollution transport. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **107**(D23), 4684, doi:10.1029/2001JD001396

Stohl A, Eckhardt S, Forster C, James P, Spichtinger N, Seibert P, 2002b. A replacement for simple back trajectory calculations in the interpretation of atmospheric trace substance measurements. *Atmospheric Environment* **36**(29), 4635-4648

Stohl A, Huntrieser H, Richter A, Beirle S, Cooper OR, Eckhardt S, Forster C, James P, Spichtinger N, Wenig M, Wagner T, Burrrows JP, Platt U, 2003a. Rapid intercontinental air pollution transport associated with a meteorological bomb. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **3**(4), 969-985

Stohl A, Forster C, Eckhardt S, Spichtinger N, Huntrieser H, Heland J, Schlager H, Wilhelm S, Arnold F, Cooper OR, 2003b. A backward modeling study of intercontinental pollution transport using aircraft measurements. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D12), 4370, doi:10.1029/2002JD002862

Stohl A, Forster C, Frank A, Seibert P, Wotawa G, 2005. Technical note: The Lagrangian particle dispersion model FLEXPART version 6.2. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* **5**, 2461-2474

Stow JP, Sova J, Reimer KJ, 2005. The relative influence of distant and local (DEW-line) PCB sources in the Canadian Arctic. *Science of the Total Environment* **342**(1-3), 107-118

Strand A, Hov Ø, 1996. A model strategy for the simulation of chlorinated hydrocarbon distributions in the global environment. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* **86**, 283-316

Stroebe M, Scheringer M, Held H, Hungerbühler K, 2004. Inter-comparison of multimedia modeling approaches: modes of transport, measures of long range transport potential and the spatial remote state. *Science of the Total Environment* **321**(1-3), 1-20

Sturges WT, Barrie LA, 1989. The use of stable lead 206/207 isotope ratios and elemental composition to discriminate the origins of lead in aerosols at a rural site in eastern Canada. *Atmospheric Environment* **23**, 1645-1657

Sturman AP, Tyson PD, D'Abreton PC, 1997. A preliminary study of the transport of air from Africa and Australia to New Zealand. *Journal of The Royal Society of New Zealand* **27**(4), 485-498 (http://www.rsnz.org/publish/jrsnz/1997/26.pdf)

Suzuki N, Murasawa K, Sakurai T, Nansai K, Matsuhashi K, Moriguchi Y, Tanabe K, Nagasuki O, Morita M, 2004. Geo-referenced multimedia environmental fate model (G-CIEMS): Model formulation and comparison to the generic model and monitoring approaches. *Environmental Science & Technology* **38**(21), 5682-5693

Sweetman AJ, Dalla Valle M, Prevedouros K, Jones KC, 2005. The role of soil organic carbon in the global cycling of persistent organic pollutants (POPs): interpreting and modelling field data. *Chemosphere* **60**(7), 959-972

Sykes RI, Parker SF, Henn DS, Lewellen WS, 1993. Numerical simulation of ANATEX tracer data using a turbulence closure model for long-range dispersion. *Journal of Applied Meteorology* **32**(5), 929-947

Syvitski JPM, Vörösmarty CJ, Kettner AJ, Green P, 2005. Impact of humans on the flux of terrestrial sediment to the global coastal ocean. *Science* **308**, 376-380

Takemura T, Uno I, Nakajima T, Higurashi A, Sano I, 2002. Modeling study of long-range transport of Asian dust and anthropogenic aerosols from East Asia. *Geophysical Research Letters* **29**(24), 2158, doi:10.1029/2002GL016251

Tanaka TY, Kurosaki Y, Chiba M, Matsumura T, Nagai T, Yamazaki A, Uchiyama A, Tsunematsu N, Kai K, 2005. Possible transcontinental dust transport from North Africa and the Middle East to East Asia. *Atmospheric Environment* **39**(21), 3901-3909

Tarrasón L, Iversen T, 1992. The influence of north American anthropogenic sulphur emissions over western Europe. *Tellus B* **44**(2), 114-132

Tarrasón L, Jonson JE, Fagerli H, Benedictow A, Wind P, Simpson D, Klein H, 2003. Transboundary acidification, eutrophication and ground level ozone in Europe – Part III – Source-receptor relationships. Norwegian Meteorological Institute.

Tazaki K, Wakimoto R, Minami Y, Yamamoto M, Miyata K, Sato K, Saji I, Chaerun SK, Zhou G, Morishita T, Asada R, Segawa H, Imanishi H, Kato R, Otani Y, Watanabe T, 2004. Transport of carbon-bearing dusts from Iraq to Japan during Iraq's war. *Atmospheric Environment* **38**(14), 2091-2109

ter Schure AFH, Larsson P, Merilä J, Jönsson KI, 2002. Latitudinal fractionation of polybrominated diphenyl ethers and polychlorinated biphenyls in frogs (*Rana temporaria*). *Environmental Science & Technology* **36**(23), 5057-5061

Thompson AM, 2004. Intercontinental transport of ozone from tropical biomass burning. In: *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, Volume 4, Part G (*Intercontinental Transport of Air Pollution*), 225-253. Ed. A. Stohl. Springer-Verlag

Thompson TM, Butler JH, Daube BC, Dutton GS, Elkins JW, Hall BD, Hurst DF, King DB, Kline ES, Lafleur BG, Lind J, Lovitz S, Mondeel DJ, Montzka SA, Moore FL, Nance JD, Neu JL, Romashkin PA, Scheffer A, Snible WJ, 2004. Halocarbons and other atmospheric trace species. In: *Climate Monitoring and Diagnostics Laboratory, Summary Report No. 27, 2002-2003*, 115-135. Ed. R.C. Schnell. U.S. Department of Commerce (http://www.cmdl.noaa.gov/publications/annrpt27/hats5.pdf)

Tondel M, Hjalmarson P, Hardell L, Carlsson G, Axelson O, 2004. Increase of regional total cancer incidence in north Sweden due to the Chernobyl accident? *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* **58**(12), 1011-1016

Toose L, Woodfine DG, MacLeod M, Mackay D, Gouin J, 2004. BETR-World: a geographically explicit model of chemical fate: application to transport of α -HCH to the Arctic. *Environmental Pollution* **128**(1-2), 223-240

Trickl T, Cooper OR, Eisele H, James P, Mücke R, Stohl A, 2003. Intercontinental transport and its influence on the ozone concentrations over central Europe: Three case studies. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **108**(D12), 8530, doi:10.1029/2002JD002735

Tsapakis M, Stephanou EG, Karakassis I, 2003. Evaluation of atmospheric transport as a nonpoint source of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in marine sediments of the Eastern Mediterranean. *Marine Chemistry* **80**(4), 283-298

Tseng R-S, Viechnicki JT, Skop RA, Brown JW, 1992. Sea-to-air transfer of surface-active organic compounds by bursting bubbles. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **97**(C4), 5201-5206

Tu FH, Thornton DC, Bandy AR, Carmichael GR, Tang Y, Thornhill KL, Sachse GW, Blake DR, 2004. Long-range transport of sulfur dioxide in the central Pacific. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **109**, D15S08, doi:10.1029/2003JD004309

Ullrich SM, Tanton TW, Abdrashitova SA, 2001. Mercury in the aquatic environment: A review of factors affecting methylation. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* **31**(3), 241-293

UNECE, 2003. Hemispheric air pollution: Trends and intercontinental transport of photo-oxidants, particles and their precursors across the Northern Hemisphere. United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, Executive Body for the Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution. Report EB.AIR/GE.1/2003/7 (http://www.unece.org/env/documents/2003/eb/ge1/eb.air.ge.1.2003.7.e.pdf and http://www.physchem.uni-wuppertal.de/PC-WWW site/Bad breisig/breisig WS1.html)

UNEP, 2002a. Global Environmental Outlook (GEO) 3. Past, present and future perspectives. Chapter 2 – Atmosphere (<u>http://www.unep.org/GEO/geo3/english/pdfs/chapter2-7_atmosphere.pdf</u>)

UNEP, 2002b. Global mercury assessment. United Nations Environment Programme (Chemicals), Geneva, Switzerland (http://www.chem.unep.ch/mercury/Report/Final%20report/final-assessment-report-25nov02.pdf)

UNEP, 2003. Environmental effects of ozone depletion and its interaction with climate change: 2002 assessment. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya (<u>http://www.unep.org/ozone/pdf/eeap-report2002.pdf</u>)

UNEP-C⁴, 2002. The Asian Brown Cloud: Climate and other environmental impacts. United Nations Environment Programme and Center for Clouds, Chemistry and Climate. UNEP Regional Resource Centre for Asia and the Pacific, Pathumthani, Thailand (<u>http://www.rrcap.unep.org/issues/air/impactstudy/index.cfm</u>)

USEPA, 2004. The ozone report – Measuring progress through 2003. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Report EPA 454/K-04-001 (<u>http://www.epa.gov/air/airtrends/pdfs/2003ozonereport.pdf</u>)

Vallelonga P, Van de Velde K, Candelone J-P, Morgan VI, Boutron CF, Rosman KJR, 2002. The lead pollution history of Law Dome, Antarctica, from isotopic measurements on ice cores: 1500 AD to 1989 AD. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* **204**(1-2), 291-306

van de Meent D, 1993. SimpleBox: a generic fate evaluation model. RIVM Report No. 672720001. RIVM-National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands

van de Meent D, McKone TE, Parkerton T, Matthies M, Scheringer M, Wania F, Purdy R, Bennett DH, 2000. Persistence and transport potential of chemicals in a multimedia environment. In: *Evaluation of Persistence and Long-Range Transport of Chemicals in the Environment*, 169-204. Eds. G. Klečka *et al.* SETAC Press, Pensacola, FL, USA

van de Velde K, Vallelonga P, Candelone J-P, Rosman KJR, Gaspari V, Cozzi G, Barbante C, Udisti R, Cescon P, Boutron CF, 2005. Pb isotope record over one century in snow from Victoria Land, Antarctica. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* **232**(1-2), 95-108

van Jaarsveld JA, van Pul WAJ, de Leeuw FAAM, 1997. Modelling transport and deposition of persistent organic pollutants in the European region. *Atmospheric Environment* **31**(7), 1011-1024

van Pul WAJ, de Leeuw FAAM, van Jaarsveld JA, van der Gaag MA, Sliggers CJ, 1998. The potential for longrange transboundary atmospheric transport. *Chemosphere* **37**(1), 113-141

Vermeire TG, Jager DT, Bussian B, Devillers J, den Haan K, Hansen B, Lundberg I, Niessen H, Robertson S, Tyle H, van der Zandt PTJ, 1997. European Union System for the Evaluation of Substances (EUSES). Principles and structure. *Chemosphere* **37**(8), 1823-1836

Wang Y, Jacob DJ, 1998. Anthropogenic forcing on tropospheric ozone and OH since preindustrial times. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **103**(D23), 31123-31135

Wanger A, Peleg M, Sharf G, Mahrer Y, Dayan U, Kallos G, Kotroni V, Lagouvardos K, Varinou M, Papadopoulos A, Luria M, 2000. Some observational and modeling evidence of long-range transport of air pollutants from Europe toward the Israeli coast. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **105**(D6), 7177-7186
Wania F, 1998. The significance of long range transport of persistent organic pollutants by migratory animals. WECC Report 3/98 (http://www.scar.utoronto.ca/~wania/reports/WECC3-1998.pdf)

Wania F, 1999. On the origin of elevated levels of persistent chemicals in the environment. *Environmental Science* & *Pollution Research* **6**(1), 11-19

Wania F, 2003. Assessing the potential of persistent organic chemicals for long-range transport and accumulation in polar regions. *Environmental Science & Technology* **37**(7), 1344-1351

Wania F, Dugani C, 2003. Assessing the long-range transport potential of polybrominated diphenyl ethers: A comparison of four multimedia models. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **22**(6), 1252-1261

Wania F, Mackay D, 1993a. Global fractionation and cold condensation of low volatile organochlorine compounds in polar regions. *Ambio* 22(1), 10-18

Wania F, Mackay D, 1993b. Modeling the global distribution of toxaphene: a discussion of feasibility and desirability. *Chemosphere* **27**(10), 2079-2094

Wania F, Mackay D, 1995. A global distribution model for persistent organic chemicals. *Science of the Total Environment* **160/161**, 211-232

Wania F, Mackay D, 1996. Tracking the distribution of persistent organic pollutants. *Environmental Science & Technology* **30**(9), 390A-396A

Wania F, Mackay D, 1999. Global chemical fate of α -hexachlorocyclohexane. 2. Use of a global distribution model for mass balancing, source apportionment, and trend prediction. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **18**(7), 1400-1407

Wania F, Mackay D, 2000a. The global distribution model. A non-steady state multi-compartmental mass balance model of the fate of persistent organic pollutants in the global environment. Technical Report, the Wania Group, University of Toronto, Canada (<u>http://www.scar.utoronto.ca/%7Ewania/reports/GloboPOP.pdf</u>)

Wania F, Mackay D, 2000b. A comparison of overall persistence values and atmospheric travel distances calculated by various multi-media fate models. WECC Report 2/2000, Toronto, Canada (http://www.scar.utoronto.ca/~wania/reports/WECC2-2000.pdf)

Wania F, Mackay D, Li Y-F, Bidleman TF, Strand A, 1999. Global chemical fate of α -hexachlorocyclo-hexane. 1. Evaluation of a global distribution model. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **18**(7), 1390-1399

Wania F, Persson J, Di Guardo A, McLachlan MS, 2000. CoZMo-POP: A fugacity-based multi-compartmental mass balance model of the fate of persistent organic pollutants in the coastal zone. WECC Report 1/2000, Toronto, Canada (http://www.scar.utoronto.ca/%7Ewania/reports/WECC1-2000.pdf)

Wania F, McLachlan M, Czub G, Breivik K, Pacyna JM, 2004. Evaluating multi-media fate and transport models on a regional and global scale. Final Report for CEFIC Long-Range Research Initiative Project (<u>http://www.cefic-</u> <u>Iri.org/files/Downloads/Final%20Report%20ECO3a.pdf</u>)</u>

Warner S, Platt N, Heagy JF, 2004. Application of user-oriented measure of effectiveness to transport and dispersion model predictions of the European tracer experiment. *Atmospheric Environment* **38**(39), 6789-6801

Warner S, Platt N, Heagy JF, 2005. Comparisons of transport and dispersion model predictions of the European Tracer Experiment; area- and population-based user-oriented measures of effectiveness. *Atmospheric Environment* **39**(25), 4425-4437

Webster E, Mackay D, Wania F, 1998. Evaluating environmental persistence. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **17**(11), 2148-2158

Weiss D, Shotyk W, Cheburkin AK, Gloor M, Reese S, 1997. Atmospheric lead deposition from 12,400 to ca. 2,000 yrs BP in a peat bog profile, Jura mountains, Switzerland. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* **100**(3-4), 311-324

Welch HE, Muir DCG, Billeck BN, Lockhart WL, Brunskill GJ, Kling HJ, Olson MP, Lemoine RM, 1991. Brown snow: A long-range transport event in the Canadian Arctic. *Environmental Science & Technology* **25**(2), 280-286

Wenig M, Spichtinger N, Stohl A, Held G, Beirle S, Wagner T, Jähne B, Platt U, 2003. Intercontinental transport of nitrogen oxide pollution plumes. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 3(2), 387-393

WHO, 2000. World Health Organization. Air Quality Guidelines for Europe. Second edition. Geneva (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/document/e71922.pdf</u>)

Wild O, Akimoto H, 2001. Intercontinental transport of ozone and its precursors in a three-dimensional global CTM. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **106**(D21), 27729-27744

Wilkening KE, 2001. Trans-Pacific air pollution: Scientific evidence and political implications. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* **130**(1-4), 1825-1830

Wilkening KE, Barrie LA, Engle M, 2000. Trans-Pacific air pollution. Science 290, 65 and 67

WMO, 2002. World Meteorological Organization. Scientific assessment of ozone depletion: 2002. Global Ozone Research and Monitoring Project. Report No. 47 (<u>http://www.earthprint.com/show.htm</u>)

Woodfine DG, MacLeod M, Mackay D, Brimacombe JR, 2001. Development of continental scale multimedia contaminant fate models: Integrating GIS. *Environmental Science & Pollution Research* **8**(3), 164-172

Wooster MJ, Strub N, 2002. Study of the 1997 Borneo fires: Quantitative analysis using global area coverage (GAC) satellite data. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **16**(1), 1009, doi:101029/2000GB001357

Wörman A, 1998. Analytical solution and timescale for transport of reacting solutes in rivers and streams. *Water Resources Research* **34**(10), 2703-2716

Wotawa G, Trainer M, 2000. The influence of Canadian forest fires on pollutant concentrations in the United States. *Science* **288**, 324-328

Wotawa G, Novelli PC, Trainer M, Granier C, 2001. Inter-annual variability of summertime CO concentrations in the Northern Hemisphere explained by boreal forest fires in North America and Russia. *Geophysical Research Letters* **28**(24), 4575-4578

Wright RF, Larsen T, Camerero L, Cosby BJ, Ferrier RC, Helliwell R, Forsius M, Jenkins A, Kopácek J, Majer V, Moldan F, Posch M, Rogora M, Schöpp W, 2005. Recovery of acidified European surface waters. *Environmental Science & Technology* **39**(3), 64A-72A

Yienger JJ, Galanter M, Holloway TA, Phadnis MJ, Guttikunda SK, Carmichael GR, Moxim WJ, Levy (II) H, 2000. The episodic nature of air pollution transport from Asia to North America. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **105**(D22), 26931-26946, doi:10.1029/2000JD900309

Zabik JM, Seiber JN, 1993. Atmospheric transport of organophosphate pesticides from California's Central Valley to the Sierra Nevada Mountains. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **22**, 80-90

Zhang X, Naidu AS, Kelley JJ, Jewett SC, Dasher D, Duffy LK, 2001. Baseline concentrations of total mercury and methylmercury in salmon returning via the Bering Sea (1999-2000). *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **42**(10), 993-997

Zhou Y, Varner RK, Russo R, Wingenter OW, Haase KB, Talbot R, Sive BC, 2005. Coastal water source of shortlived halocarbons in New England. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **110**, D21302, doi:10.1029/2004JD005603

Euro Chlor

The voice of the European chlorine industry, Euro Chlor plays a key communication and representation role on behalf of its members, listening and responding to society's concerns about the sustainability of chlorine chemistry.

Euro Chlor helps members improve safety standards whilst conducting science, advocacy and communications programmes. The Brussels-based federation was founded in its current form in 1989 and speaks on behalf of 97% of chlorine production in the EU-25 plus Norway and Switzerland.

Euro Chlor • Avenue E. Van Nieuwenhuyse 4, box 2 • B-1160 Brussels, Belgium Tel: +32 2 676 72 11 | Fax: +32 2 676 72 41 Email: eurochlor@cefic.be | www.eurochlor.org